Southampton

University of Southampton Research Repository

Copyright © and Moral Rights for this thesis and, where applicable, any accompanying data are retained by the author and/or other copyright owners. A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge. This thesis and the accompanying data cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the copyright holder/s. The content of the thesis and accompanying research data (where applicable) must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holder/s.

When referring to this thesis and any accompanying data, full bibliographic details must be given, e.g.

Thesis: Author (Year of Submission) "Full thesis title", University of Southampton, name of the University Faculty or School or Department, PhD Thesis, pagination. Data: Author (Year) Title. URI [dataset]

University of Southampton

Faculty of Natural and Environmental Sciences

School of Ocean and Earth Sciences

Understanding the direct and indirect effects of algal toxins on marine copepods

by

Ali Hassan Abdulhussain

Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

September 2021

University of Southampton

ABSTRACT

Faculty of Natural and Environmental Sciences

School of Ocean and Earth Sciences

Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Understanding the direct and indirect effects of algal toxins on marine copepods

by Ali Hassan Abdulhussain

Copepods form an important link between phytoplankton and higher trophic levels. Several species of phytoplankton, including dinoflagellates of the genus Alexandrium, produce neurotoxins commonly known as paralytic shellfish toxins (PSTs). The toxins from harmful algae (HA) may impact copepod survival, feeding, and fitness by acting as a feeding deterrent and/or by causing physical incapacitation. However, copepods may be able to overcome these toxic effects and/or become tolerant to toxicity by partial metabolism. Published information on how HA affect survival, feeding and other physiological processes in copepods are difficult to compare due to the different concentrations of HA used as food, the level of toxins in the food, and the various responses measured on different copepod species from different locations. Very few experiments have examined how HA toxins influence the survival, feeding and fecundity of copepods within UK waters. This thesis aims to address this knowledge gap whilst also choosing organisms of wider geographical relevance. This study examined the effects of a toxin-producing dinoflagellate, Alexandrium catenella, on two physiologically different copepods: Acartia tonsa, a pelagic coastal copepod that is found in the UK and other coastal waters including Northern & Southern America and Australia, and Calanus helgolandicus, which is spread across the North East Atlantic with high numbers on the European shelf and in oceanic waters. In Chapter 3, shortterm (24 h) survival and feeding experiments revealed that adult female A. tonsa can survive exposure to field-recorded bloom concentrations of toxic A. catenella. Survival only decreased when exposure levels exceed reported environmental concentrations by two orders of magnitude. The lethal median concentration (LC₅₀) was 12.45 ng STX eq L^{-1} . Ingestion rates were higher when offered A. catenella in the absence of alternative prev, potentially suggesting compensatory feeding. A. tonsa actively selected non-toxic Rhodomonas sp. over toxic A. catenella when offered a mixed diet. Chapter 4 demonstrated that the survival of female A. tonsa is not affected by prolonged (10 days) exposure to toxic A. catenella. However, additional feeding and egg production experiments suggested that whilst A. tonsa can obtain enough energy from ingesting toxic A. catenella to survive, it suffers reproductive impairment when feeding on this prey alone. In Chapter 5, C. helgolandicus showed a decrease in feeding rate when feeding on toxic A. catenella compared to when feeding on the non-toxic congener, Alexandrium tamarense. On the other hand, the egg production and hatching success rates were not affected by the relative abundance of toxic A. catenella and non-toxic A. tamarense in diet, suggesting they may have used biomass reserves to sustain egg production. Body toxin analysis of C. helgolandicus showed they may bioaccumulate toxins in their bodies; however, the retention efficiency was very low. Full toxin profiles for A. catenella, including 8 to 12 PSTs, are presented in all experiments. This study furthers our understanding of PST-producing HAcopepod interactions, and how they may be affected by the increased frequency and magnitude of HA blooms.

Table of Contents

Table of Tables	viii
Table of Figures	ix
Research Thesis: Declaration of Authorship	xiii
Definitions and Abbreviations	xiv
Acknowledgement	xv

1. Intro	oduction	1
1.1	Harmful algal blooms	2
1.2	Harmful algal toxins	4
1.3	Marine zooplankton (copepods)	8
1.3	3.1 General characteristics of copepods	8
1.3	3.2 Model copepods for experiments	9
1.4	Impact of harmful algae on copepods	12
1.4	4.1 Impact of HA on copepods survival	12
1.4	Impact of HA on copepods feeding	13
1.4	4.3 Copepods tolerance to HA	14
1.4	Impact of HA on copepods fitness	16
	Usere ful also a such fish asian in 110 watere	10
1.5	Harmful algae and fisheries in UK waters	10

2.	Experi	mental and analytical methods	21
	2.1	Phytoplankton culture	22
	2.2	Copepod culture	24
	2.3	Elemental analysis	24
	2.3.1	Calibration and running	25
	2.4	Detection of toxins and toxicity levels using LC-MS/MS	26

3. 1	The in	fluence of the toxin producing dinoflagellate, Alexandrium catenella (111	9/27),
on	the fe	eding and survival of the marine copepod, Acartia tonsa	29
3	3.1	Abstract	29
2	2 7	Introduction	30
	0.2		
Э	3.3	Methods	32
	3.3.1	Culture conditions	32
	3.3.2	Influence of <i>A. catenella</i> concentration on the feeding and survival of <i>A. tonsa</i>	33
	3.3.3	Ingestion and selection for/against A. catenella in the presence of nontoxic cells	34
	3.3.4	Toxin analysis	34
	3.3.5	Data analyses	35
3	3.4	Results	36
	3.4.1	Influence of A. catenella concentrations on the feeding and survival of A. tonsa	37
	3.4.2	Ingestion and selection for/against A. catenella in the presence of nontoxic cells	41
3	3.5	Discussion	43
	3.5.1	Survival of <i>A. tonsa</i> feeding on <i>A. catenella</i>	43
	3.5.2	Ingestion and prey selection	44
	3.5.3	Future-work	45
3	3.6	Conclusion	46
4.1	[he in	fluence of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate <i>Alexandrium catenella</i> (111	9/27)
on	the si	urvival and reproduction of the marine copepod. Acartia tonsa. during	-/-//
nro		nd evnosure	/18
pro	longe		
4	1.1	Abstract	48
4	1.2	Introduction	49
4	1.3	Materials and methods	52
	4.3.1	Culture condition	52
	4.3.2	Influence of toxic A. catenella, starvation, and non-toxic prev alternatives on the survi	val of
	A. to	nsa 52	
	4.3.3	Influence of toxic A. catenella, starvation, and non-toxic prey alternatives on the egg-	
	prod	uction and hatching success of A. tonsa	53
	4.3.4	Influence of toxic <i>A. catenella</i> , starvation, and mixed diet prey alternatives on the egg	;-
	prod	uction and hatching success of <i>A. tonsa</i> at high and low concentrations	54
	4.3.5	Toxin analysis	54
	4.3.6	Data analyses	54
4	1.4	Results	55

Table of contents

	4.4.1	Influence of Toxic A. catenella, starvation, and non-toxic prey alternatives on the surviva	l of
	A. to	nsa 57	
	4.4.2	Influence of toxic A. catenella, Starvation, and non-toxic prey alternatives on the egg	
	produ	uction and hatching success of A. tonsa	58
	4.4.3	Influence of toxic A. catenella, starvation, and a mixed diet on the egg production and	
	hatch	ing success of <i>A. tonsa</i> at high and low food concentrations	59
4	l.5	Discussion	60
	4.5.1	A. catenella toxin composition and concentrations	60
	4.5.2	Survival of A. tonsa exposed to toxic A. catenella	60
	4.5.3	Egg production and hatching success of A. tonsa exposed to toxic A. catenella	61
4	1.6	Summary	64
5. 1	he inf	luence of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, Alexandrium catenella (1119/	28)
on	the fe	eding and reproduction of <i>Calanus helgolandicus</i>	. 66
5	5.1	Abstract	66
5	5.2	Introduction	66
5	5.3	Materials and methods	69
	5.3.1	Collection and culture conditions	69
	5.3.2	Collection and culture of organisms	69
	5.3.3	Examining how the relative abundances of toxic and non-toxic Alexandrium spp. affect	
	feedi	ng, egg production and egg viability in <i>C. helgolandicus</i>	69
	5.3.4	Analytical methods	70
	5.3.5	Data analyses	71
5	5.4	Results	72
	5.4.1	A. catenella toxin analyses and body toxin concentrations of C. helgolandicus	72
	5.4.2	Feeding of <i>C. helgolandicus</i> in the presence of toxic and non-toxic <i>Alexandrium</i> spp	75
	5.4.3	Egg-production and viability of C. helgolandicus in the presence of toxic and non-toxic	
	Alexa	ndrium spp	76
5	5.5	Discussion	77
	5.5.1	Feeding of <i>C. helgolandicus</i> in the presence of toxic and non-toxic <i>Alexandrium</i> spp	77
	5.5.2	Egg-production and viability of <i>C. helgolandicus</i> in the presence of toxic and non-toxic	
	Alexa	ndrium spp	78
	5.5.3	Body toxin concentrations of <i>C. helgolandicus</i>	80
5	5.6	Conclusion	82

6. Discussion
6.1 Impact of harmful algae on copepods84
6.1.1 Impact of harmful algae on copepod feeding (mono-specific diet experiments)
6.1.2 Impact of harmful algae on copepod feeding (mixed-diet experiments)85
6.1.3 Impact of harmful algae on egg production and hatching success
6.1.4 Toxin accumulation in copepods after a fixed period of exposure
6.1.5 Impact of harmful algae during prolonged exposure87
6.1.6 Methodological protocols
6.1.7 Changes in experimental toxin concentrations
6.1.8 Toxicity vs. nutritional insufficiency
6.2 Prognosis for the future
6.2.1 Climate change, copepod, and harmful algae90
6.2.1.1 Impact of ocean warming on HA91
6.2.1.2 Impact of ocean warming on copepods92
6.2.1.3 Impact of ocean acidification on copepods93
6.2.1.4 Combined environmental stressors93
6.2.1.5 Plankton phenology94
6.2.1.6 Future physiological experiments95
6.2.2 Cyclopoid copepods95
6.3 Conclusions
Appendix A: table: review of published effects of copepods feeding upon toxic
dinoflagellates
Appendix B : Egg production of <i>Acartia tonsa</i> on day 1 and day 2 (Chapter 4)103
Appendix C: table: results of experiments in this thesis examining the effects of
copepods feeding upon toxic dinoflagellates
Appendix D: representative of multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) for PST analogues
following analysis of Alexandrium catenella (1119/27) extract107
List of References 108

Table of tables

Table of Tables

Table 1. Summary of survival experiments. 12
Table 2. The nominal and actual concentrations of Alexandrium catenella offered in the
different experiments, along with the cellular carbon & nitrogen quotas
Table 3. Alexandrium catenella (1119/27-Ainort) toxin profile concentrations (fg Cell ⁻¹ &
fg STX eq. cell ⁻¹⁾ cultured in L1 media and analysed using HILIC-MS/MS (Liquid
Chromatography Mass Spectrometry) at CEFAS
Table 4 The concentrations of earbox (C) and nitrogen (N) (ng coll ⁻¹) + Standard error

Table 4. The concentrations of carbon (C) and introgen (N) (pg cent) \pm Standard error	
(SE) in the different prey cells offered to Acartia tonsa in the three experiments (Exp.). N	NA
= not applicable. ESD: mean equivalent spherical diameter (μ m). See Methods text for	
further details	55

Table 6. Paralytic Shellfish Toxins content of the Alexandrium catenella (Acat) and	
Alexandrium tamarense (Atam) cultures used during the feeding and egg production	
experiment	73

Table of Figures

Figure 1. Schematic representation of the copepod life cycle. The eggs hatch and develop
through 6 naupliar stages (N1-N6) and then 5 copepodite stages (C1-C5) before becoming
adults (C6). (Credit: Ali H. Abdulhussain)9
Figure 2. Marine Zooplankton Copepod. A: Acartia tonsa female (Credit: Ali H.
Abdulhussain). B: Calanus helgolandicus female (Credit:Kathryn B. Cook)
Figure 3. Distribution map of Acartia tonsa (A), and Calanus helgolandicus (B) (Ocean
biodiversity information system. Intergovernmental oceanographic commission of
UNESCO , 2021); open access agreement11
Figure 4. Example growth curves of <i>Rhodomonas</i> sp. (A), and toxic Alexandrium catenella
(1119/27) (B) cultured in the laboratory and measured using Beckman Multisizer 3
Coulter Counter22
Figure 5. Carboys in a controlled temperature room with aeration to culture Rhodomonas
sp23
Figure 6. Survival and feeding of Acartia tonsa fed toxic algae (Alexandrium catenella) at 4
different concentrations. The bars show the mean value \pm standard deviation (SD). A:
survival (%). B: clearance rates (mL Copd-1 day-1). C: Ingestion rate (µg C Copd ⁻¹ day ⁻¹). D:
Carbon Specific Ingestion (CSI: % C day ⁻¹). Different letters denote significant differences

Figure 7. Survival of *Acartia tonsa* females across 7 different concentrations of *Alexandrium catenella*. The bars show the mean \pm SD. A: survival. Different letters denote significant differences (Tukey's test, p < 0.05). B: The log10 curve of *A. catenella* concentration with normalized % of survival to determine the LC₅₀ of the survival experiment. The LC₅₀ was calculated as 12452 µg STX eq L⁻¹ (7707 µg C L⁻¹; 4561 cell mL⁻¹), with a 95 % confidence interval between 10313-13997 µg STX eq L⁻¹......40

Table of figures

Figure 12. Egg production and hatching success of *Acartia tonsa* fed on RHO (*Rhodomonas* sp.; brown inverted triangles and blue circles, 100 & 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹, respectively), TAC (toxic *Alexandrium catenella* 1119/27; black circles and green triangles, 100 & 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹, respectively), and MIX (50:50 mixture of both cell types; orange circles and red squares, 100 & 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹, respectively) at two concentrations: 100 & 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹ or when starved (purple diamond). The dots are replicates, and bars show the mean ± standard error (SE). **A**: Eggs produced (24-48 h) after acclimation period. **B**: Nauplii hatched (48-96 h). The a and b

letters above bars show the post-hoc comparisons between the treatments with shared	
letters denoting no significant difference.	59

Research Thesis: Declaration of Authorship

Print name: Ali H Abdulhussain

Title of thesis: Understanding the direct and indirect effects of algal toxins on marine copepods

I declare that this thesis and the work presented in it are my own and has been generated by me as the result of my own original research.

I confirm that:

- 1. This work was done wholly or mainly while in candidature for a research degree at this University;
- 2. Where any part of this thesis has previously been submitted for a degree or any other qualification at this University or any other institution, this has been clearly stated;
- 3. Where I have consulted the published work of others, this is always clearly attributed;
- 4. Where I have quoted from the work of others, the source is always given. With the exception of such quotations, this thesis is entirely my own work;
- 5. I have acknowledged all main sources of help;
- 6. Where the thesis is based on work done by myself jointly with others, I have made clear exactly what was done by others and what I have contributed myself;
- 7. Parts of this work have been published as:
- Abdulhussain, A.H., Cook, K.B., Turner, A.D., Lewis, A.M., Elsafi, M.A., Mayor, D.J. (2020). The influence of the toxin producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27), on the feeding and survival of the marine copepod, *Acartia tonsa. Harmful Algae* 98, 101890. doi: 10.1016/j.hal.2020.101890
- Abdulhussain, A.H., Cook, K.B., Turner, A.D., Lewis, A.M., Bibby, T.S. Mayor, D.J. (2021) The Influence of the Toxin-Producing Dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27), on the Survival and reproduction of the marine copepod, *Acartia tonsa*, during prolonged exposure. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 8, 652225. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2021.652225
- Abdulhussain, A.H., Cook, K.B., Bresnan, E., Lacaze, J.P., Mayor, D.J. (Submitted). The influence of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/28) on the feeding and reproduction of *Calanus helgolandicus*. J. Plankton Res.

Signature: Date: 27/9/2021

#Important note:

The completed signed and dated copy of this form should be included in your print thesis. A completed and dated but unsigned copy should be included in your e-thesis#

Definitions and Abbreviations

Abbreviations	Definitions/ Description of the term
НА	Harmful Algae
PSP	Paralytic Shellfish Poisoning
PST	Paralytic Shellfish Toxins
ASP	Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning
DA	Domoic Acid
NSP	Neurotoxic shellfish poisoning
PbTxs	Brevetoxins
DSP	Diarrhetic Shellfish Poisoning
OA	Okadaic Acid
Acat	Alexandrium catenella (toxic)
Atam	Alexandrium tamarense (non-toxic)
TAC	Toxic Alexandrium catenella
NAC	Non-toxic <i>Alexandrium catenella</i> (This name was only used in Chapter 4 published paper: taxonomic revision of <i>A</i> . <i>catenella</i> designated the non-toxic 'strain' as a different species (<i>A. tamarense</i>).
LC ₅₀	Lethal Concentration 50 %: the concentration that causes 50 % mortality within a population
ASW	Artificial Seawater
SFSW	0.2 µm sterile filtered seawater

Acknowledgement

I would first and foremost like to thank my supervisors for their guidance and support over the four years. Specifically, I would like to thank Dan Mayor for helping me to keep this PhD on track by always making the time to discuss ideas, read over text, or help out with problems no matter how big or small; Kathryn Cook, for helping in read over text and the lab during stressful times and asking the tough questions which drove me to become a better researcher, and for always bringing a fresh perspective to meetings and discussions. I also thank my university supervisor Tom Bibby for sorting all my Univrtsity work.

I thank Angus Atkinson in Plymouth Marine Laboratory for arranging more than 150 L of seawater for my experiments. I thank CEFAS; Andrew Turner and Adam Lewis for their time and help with toxin analyses, and providing toxic algae.

I am also indebted to all those people who helped out with various technical aspects throughout the PhD; John Gittins, who first helped me with the culturing of *Rhodomonas* sp, Matt O'Shaughnessy, Robbie Robinson, George Clarke, and Nic Pratt, for helping me get hold of various lab equipment and materials.

I would like to thank my office mates, lab mates, and all my friends from NOC, past and present. Thank you also to my friends, from outside NOC for reminding me that there are more important things in life than copepods.

I thank my brothers and sisters (Raheeq, Huda, Eman, Maryam, Hussain, Mohemmed) for all the support, prayers, gifts, love, and virtual birthdays; nephews and nieces: talking to you and hearing your laughs made me happy. I also would like to thank my lovely wife Hawraa, whose love and encouragement has helped the last 6 months of my PhD run so smoothly. Finally, I especially thank my parents for their endless support throughout my studies from pre-school to finishing my PhD: I love you and without you, I would not be the man I am today.

Introduction

1.1 Harmful algal blooms

Phytoplankton are single-celled algae that form the base of the marine food web. There are around 5000 different species of marine phytoplankton (Hallegraeff, 1993; Hallegraeff et al., 2021), and approximately 300 of these can occur in high numbers and sometimes discolor the sea (Anderson et al., 2012). The proliferation of phytoplankton (algal bloom) can be beneficial for wild fisheries and aquaculture, where they act as important food for zooplankton and other filter feeding species (Hallegraeff, 1993; Anderson et al., 2012; Hallegraeff et al., 2021). However, algal blooms can also have a deleterious effect on marine animals, including fish and mammals, through direct contact with anoxia or hypoxia (oxygen depletion in a water body that may follow an algal bloom due to the decomposition of algae), and toxins produced by certain species of algae (Hallegraeff, 1993; Cook et al., 2010; Turner, 2010; Anderson et al., 2012; Dam, 2013; Turner, 2014; Jensen et al., 2015; Fire et al., 2021; Hallegraeff et al., 2021; Kershaw et al., 2021).

There are approximately 40 species of phytoplankton that have the capacity to produce potent neurotoxins, such as saxitoxins, brevetoxins, okadaic acid, and domoic acid (Hallegraeff, 1993; Cook et al., 2010; Anderson et al., 2012; Turner, 2014; Bresnan et al., 2021). These toxins are secondary metabolites which are produced naturally but are not required for physiological processes, such as feeding, growth, and reproduction (Landsberg 2002). There are two main hypotheses for why harmful algae (HA; hereafter) produce toxins: to avoid grazing of predators by causing physiological incapacitation of grazers or by acting as feeding deterrents, and to reduce competition for resources with other algae by affecting their growth (Legrand et al., 2003; Ianora et al., 2006; Pohnert et al., 2007).

The frequency of HA have changed in the past few decades both spatially and temporally (Hallegraeff, 1993; Anderon et al., 2012; Edwards et al., 2006; Nohe et al., 2020; Bresnan et al., 2021; Hallegraeff et al., 2021; Marampouti et al., 2021; Zingone et al., 2021). In the 1970s, the problem was sporadic and scattered, but nowadays, almost every coastal country is impacted by HA. The number of toxic blooms, the number of toxins and toxic species reported, the economic losses, and affected resources have all increased over the past 50 years (Anderson et al., 2012; Bresnan et al., 2021; Hallegraeff et al., 2021; Karlson et al., 2021).

There has been much disagreement in the literature over the causes of the expansion in HA blooms. Studies have suggested that humans have induced the expansion of HA by transporting toxic species in ship ballast tanks or by shellfish seeding (Hallegraeff 1993; Anderson et al., 2012; Marampouti et al., 2021), increased aquaculture activity (Bresnan et al., 2021; Hallegraeff et al., 2021), and also global climate change (Edwards et al., 2006; Hallegraeff et al., 2021; Nohe et al., 2020; Marampouti et al., 2021). However, these events might also easily be attributed to natural dispersal via currents, rather than human impacts (Anderson et al., 2012). HA may always have been there, but we are only now seeing them because of new procedures that look for them routinely (Anderson et al., 2012; Bresnan et al., 2021; Hallegraeff et al., 2021). Another possibility is that watersheds used for agriculture, housing, recreation, and industry have increased nutrient loadings and, therefore, increased the frequency of HA (Anderson et al., 2012). For example, in the Inland Sea of Japan, red tides (a form of HA bloom) have increased from 44 per year in 1965 to > 300 per year a decade later. This increase correlates with the increase in nutrient enrichment from pollution (Okaichi, 2002; Imai et al., 2006). The control of pollution in Japan in the mid-1970's resulted in a 70 % reduction in the number of red tides up to the mid-1990's (Okaichi, 2002; Imai et al., 2006); this is evidence to suggest that nutrient loading is in someway responsible.

HA blooms are routinely recorded along the Atlantic margin of Europe, and impacts from toxin-producing HA have been recorded in this region over the last 50 years (Bresnan et al., 2021). A long-term increase in the occurrences of the HA blooms including both diatoms and dinoflagellates has been found in the North Sea (Nohe et al., 2020). Similar to the North Atlantic, it has been observed that at least 14 toxic dinoflagellate species are widely distributed in the Arctic, and this is likely to increase due to climate change (Okolodkov et al., 2005; Arrigo et al., 2011; Søgaard et al., 2021). HA bloom events (i.e. non-toxic) have also increased in the Mediterranean with no clear trend in toxic HA events (Garcés et al., 2000; Zingone et al., 2021), although 20 invasive non-native HA species are linked to toxic HA blooms (Marampouti et al., 2021). It is now widely acknowledged that there was a period of hydroclimatic change during the twentieth century, manifested in significantly higher sea surface temperatures, which dramatically altered planktonic ecosystems in the Northeast Atlantic (Beaugrand, 2004; Edwards et al., 2006; Philippart et al., 2011; Nohe et al., 2020). This warming of the oceans has continued, and in only 40 years, there has been a significant shift in plankton and fish communities (Beaugrand et al., 2002, 2009; Choquet et al., 2017; Nohe et al., 2020). By the end of the twenty-first century, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) climate projections indicate a mean increase in the sea surface temperature of between 0.73 °C to 2.58 °C (IPCC, 2019). Global warming is thought to have expanded the niche of HA blooms and warming is predicted to

further increase the impact of HA blooms in the future (Berdalet et al., 2016; Dees et al., 2017; Hallegraeff et al., 2021).

In summary, HA blooms are a natural phenomenon; however, the frequency of these events may be increased by anthropogenic pollution, and aquaculture activities which may pose a significant threat to marine organisms (Hallegraeff 1993; Bresnan et al., 2021; Hallegraeff et al., 2021; Karlson et al., 2021; Marampouti et al., 2021). Global warming may also stimulate the frequency with which HA events occur in space and time (Edwards et al., 2006; Dees et al., 2017; Nohe et al., 2020; Hallegraeff et al., 2021).

1.2 Harmful algal toxins

Toxins produced by phytoplankton are variable in their solubility, mode of action and toxicity (Landsberg, 2002; Cembella, 2003). Multiple factors determine the ability of species to produce toxins, including genetic strain, nutritional status, age, environmental parameters such as temperature and salinity, (Legrand et al., 2003) as well as the species of grazer they encounter (Bergkvist et al., 2008; Selander, 2008; Wolhrab et al., 2010; Griffin et al., 2019; Selander et al., 2019). For example, copepodamides (also known as taurinecontaining lipids; Mayor et al., 2015), which are exuded by calanoid copepods, have been reported to increase toxin production in dinoflagellates and diatoms (Selander et al., 2019).

Toxic diatoms (*Pseudo-nitzschia* spp.) that produce the water-soluble amino acid domoic acid (DA) can cause Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning (ASP). DA acts as a substitute for the excitatory neurotransmitter L-glutamic acid (Turner, 2014). When an organism is unable to regulate this substitute transmitter, it results in large neuronal depolarization, especially in species that contains abundant glutamate receptors, such as the vertebrate hippocampus. DA can, therefore, result in brain damage in humans, seabirds, and marine mammals due to the degeneration of the hippocampus (Turner, 2014, Luckas et al., 2015). *Pseudo-nitzschia* blooms can be found in most coastlines around the world including Europe, North America, Southern America, Africa and Australia (Trainer et al., 2012). *Pseudo-nitzschia* is known to form dense blooms with between 1,000,000 - 100,000,000 cells L⁻¹, accounting for 99 % of the phytoplankton assemblages, and last up to two months (Bates et al., 1989; Martin et al., 1990; Fryxell et al., 1997; Gallacher et al., 2001). The impact of DA can be detected in the open ocean as well as in upwelling systems (Trainer et al., 2012). DA has been detected in many European shellfish and poses a threat in many European countries including France, UK and Ireland (EFSA, 2009). Bresnan (2003) reported high densities of *Pseudo-nitzschia*

spp. in 2002 at Loch Striven and Loch Rog of 191,904 cells L⁻¹ and 280,685 cells L⁻¹, respectively. Gallacher et al. (2001) found that *Pseudo-nitzschia* cell counts in the waters of the west coast of Scotland rarely exceeded 500,000 cells L⁻¹, with highest levels at most sites reaching around 100,000 cells L⁻¹. However, concentrations of these diatoms in the west coast of Scotland did not correlate with DA toxicity in mussels. Blooms of *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. have also been recorded in the Great Bay in the northwestern Sea of Japan, with abundances exceeding 1,000,000 cells L⁻¹ and accounting for 75–98 % of the total density of the phytoplankton assemblage (Stonik et al., 2011). According to García-Mendoza et al. (2009) a *Pseudo-nitzschia australis* bloom detected in Todos Santos Bay of the Pacific coast during April 2007 reached a concentration of 300,000 cells L⁻¹ and was associated with a DA concentration of 0.86 ug DA L⁻¹ in particulate matter.

Dinoflagellates are capable of producing paralytic shellfish toxins (PSTs) (e.g. *Alexandrium catenella, Alexandrium minutum, Alexandrium fundyense, Pyrodinium bahamense,* and *Gymnodinium catenatum*), brevetoxins (e.g. *Karenia brevis*), and okadaic acid (e.g. *Dinophysis acuminata* and *Prorocentrum minimum*). Dinoflagellates are responsible for the majority of toxic HA blooms (Sopanen et al., 2011) and are often associated with major environmental and economic issues (Hallegraeff, 1993; Anderson et al., 2012; Hallegraeff et al., 2021) and causing disease and death in a variety of marine animals, including fish, seabirds, and mammals (Wang, 2008; Jensen et al., 2015; Kershaw et al., 2021).

Brevetoxins (PbTxs) are cyclic polyether neurotoxins. They activate lipid-soluble sodium channels and eventually deplete acetylcholine at synapses (Yasumoto & Murata 1993). This causes repetitive firing of nervous impulses and can kill fish by paralyzing the gill muscles (Kirkpatrick et al., 2004). Shellfish appear unaffected by brevetoxins, but can accumulate these toxins, and ingestion of these or contaminated fish can result in neurotoxic shellfish poisoning (NSP) in humans. *K. brevis* occur naturally in the Gulf of Mexico and reach a concentration of ~1000 cells L⁻¹ and can form blooms with a concentration of >100,000 cells L⁻¹ that result in NSP which impacts fish, marine mammals and marine life (Tester & Steidinger 1997; Landsberg, 2002; Flewelling et al., 2005). Brand and Compton (2007) studied the long-term abundance of *K. brevis* along Southwest Florida coast between 1954 and 2002, and showed that the concentration categories above 1000 cells L⁻¹ have increased over time. These incidents may allow for the accumulation of the brevetoxin in the tissues of organisms (Fire et al., 2021).

Okadaic acid and other lipid-soluble toxins act as inhibitors to the enzyme phosphatase and impact regulatory processes, including feeding, membrane transport, secretion, and cell division (Yasumoto & Murata 1993). Accumulation in shellfish and their subsequent consumption by humans results in Diarrhetic Shellfish Poisoning (DSP). *Dinophysis* spp. reported in August 2002 at Stonehaven in Scottish waters reached maximum concentration of 1740 cells L⁻¹ and 3020 cells L⁻¹ at offshore sites (Bresnan, 2003). *Dinophysis* spp. blooms found in Penobscot and Frenchman Bay off the central coast of the Gulf of Maine, USA have been reported at concentrations of 2000 cells L⁻¹, with a maximum concentration observed of 54,300 cells L⁻¹ in July 2016 (Deeds et al., 2020).

The derivatives of PSTs are categorized into three main groups: carbamate, N-sulphocarbamoyl, and decarbamoyl toxins. Saxitoxin (STX) and neosaxitoxin (NEO) (carbamate toxins) are considered to be the most potent compared to other HA toxins. Other highly potent carbamate toxins include gonyautoxins 1 to 4 (GTX1, GTX2, GTX3, GTX4). N-sulphocarbomoyl, (C) toxins, and decarbomoyl (dc) toxins are considered less potent. Saxitoxins inhibit nerve transmission by blocking water-soluble sodium channels (Luckas et al., 2015). This affects muscle functioning and causes paralysis and respiratory failure in humans, seabirds, fish, and marine mammals, and are collectively termed PSTs.

Different blooms of the same HA species can be different with respect to the strains present, their toxin potency, and cell/ toxin concentration (Turner, 1998; Bresnan et al., 2005; Collins et al., 2009; Brown et al., 2010). According to Bresnan et al., (2005) low cell densities of A. catenella cells (1000 - 2000 cells L⁻¹) can result in levels of PSTs in shellfish flesh exceeding the EU regulatory limit of 800 ug STX eq./KG a situation that may persist for several weeks. High Alexandrium spp. cell densities were recorded in the Western Isles, UK during June 2003 (5000 cells L⁻¹), and Shetland, UK in July 2003 (18,000 cells L⁻¹) (Bresnan et al., 2008). Joyce et al., (2004) studied Alexandrium tamarense in Orkney, UK, between May 1998 and May 1999, and reported that A. tamarense is always present in water with a typical value of 200 - 400 cells L⁻¹ and a maximum of up to 1600 cell L⁻¹. Samples collected by CEFAS (Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science) during May 2010, showed that the maximum density of Alexandrium sp. found in Loch Creran was as high as ~3000 cells L^{-1} , with the second maximum in Loch Beag at 800 cells L^{-1} (Swan and Davidson, 2012). Alexandrium sp. blooms are not only found in the northern UK, but also in other seas. Strong interannual variation in Alexandrium sp. densities in Golgo Nuevo Patagonia (Argentina) between September 1995 and December 1998 were accompanied by a bloom in September 1995 that reached 15,000 cells L⁻¹, with a second peak that reached 5000 cells L⁻¹ in October-November 1998 (Gayoso, 2002). Fauchot et al., (2005) reported that during a bloom in St. Lawrence, Canada, *A. tamarense* reached a maximum density of 2,300,000 cells L⁻¹ in brackish surface waters during July 1998.

The dinoflagellate, A. catenella, (formerly A. tamarense, North American strain (Scholin et al., 1994) Group I, (Lilly et al., 2007) reassigned taxonomically by John et al., 2014 & Fraga et al., 2015, acknowledged in Prud'homme van Reine, 2017) is widely distributed in Northern Europe (Bresnan et al., 2021, Karlson et al., 2021). In Northern Europe: Scotland, Iceland, Faroe Islands, and Norway, A. catenella is the species responsible for causing paralytic shellfish toxin (PST) events while in Ireland, SW England, France, Spain and Portugal the species of Alexandrium responsible for PST events is A. minutum (Bresnan et al., 2021, Karlson et al., 2021). Some species historically thought to be the same species e.g. A. tamarense Western European Strain (Scholin et al., 2014), Grp III (Lilly et al., 2007) and now named A. tamarense (John et al., 2014; Fraga et al., 2015) are non-toxic (e.g. 1119/19 & 1119/33), whereas others (e.g. A. catenella 1119/27 &1119/28) produce PSTs and have been linked to closures of shellfish harvesting areas in Northern Europe (Bresnan et al., 2005, 2008; Brown et al., 2010). A. catenella has been found to vary in toxicity between 3103 and 10469 fg STX eq cell⁻¹ (Collins et al., 2009; Brown et al., 2010). The STX equivalent is toxin equivalent factor (TEF) provided from European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) recommendations (EFSA, 2009). The variability in toxin concentration can occur between different strains of the same HA under similar growth conditions (Loret et al., 2002; Etheridge et al., 2005). Some of the factors that can change the toxin levels within a HA bloom include: turbulence (Juhl et al., 2001), salinity (Grzebyk et al., 2003), and nutrient conditions (Turner, 1998; John & Flynn 2002; Leong et al., 2004).

HA toxins will not necessarily have a significant impact on invertebrates, including crustaceans and bivalves, but they may accumulate within their tissues and transmit toxins to vertebrates higher up the food chain. However, HA can strongly impact vertebrates, such as fish, birds, marine mammals and humans (Robineau et al., 1991; Durbin et al., 2002; Doucette et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2008; Fire et al., 2021; Kershaw et al., 2021; Marampouti et al., 2021). The decentralization of the invertebrate nervous system compared to vertebrates is one of the possible reasons that result in this difference (Turner, 2014). In summary, it is apparent from the existing literature that toxin-producing HA have varying levels of toxins that can occur in a wide range of different waters and with varying levels of toxicity.

1.3 Marine zooplankton (copepods)

Marine zooplankton play a pivotal role in marine ecosystems. The dominant component of zooplankton are copepods which provide an important link between phytoplankton and upper trophic levels (Runge, 1988; Mann, 1993). Copepods are the most diversified group of metazoans on earth (Humes, 1994). They also play a vital role in regulating phytoplankton blooms, including HA blooms, through grazing or the absence of grazing (Irigoien, 2005). Copepods are important in the biogeochemical cycles of the oceans where they represent a high proportion of ocean metazoan biomass (Steinberg & Landry, 2017). They play a vital role in carbon export where copepods contribute to the transfer of carbon from the atmosphere to the bottom of seas/oceans. They contribute to the biological carbon pump through different mechanisms such as mucous feeding webs, fecal pellets, molts (crustacean exoskeletons), carcasses and vertical migration. Diel vertical migration of planktonic copepods between surface waters where they feed at night, and the deeper waters (e.g. mesopelagic zone) where they reside and excrete during the day (Steinberg & Landry, 2017), actively transports carbon to the deep ocean. Seasonal vertical migration of copepods to deep waters also transports carbon into deeper waters: carbon is released at depth through respiration, defecation, and mortality (Dam et al., 1995; Steinberg et al., 2002; Jónasdóttir et al., 2015). Also, they can passively transfer carbon by producing sinking fecal pellets when feeding near the sea surface (Dam et al., 1995; Steinberg et al., 2002; Giering et al., 2014; Jónasdóttir et al., 2015). The contribution of these mechanisms towards carbon export are highly variable and dependent on the plankton community structure of each region. Due to the short generation times of marine copepods, they are used widely as model organisms to understand response to global change (Dam, 2013). The huge diversity of forms, short life span and high sensitivity as well as their link to upper trophic levels makes them a good model organism which can be used to understand the impact of toxic algae on marine pelagic food webs.

1.3.1 General characteristics of copepods

The name copepod generated from the Greek words, kope and podos, which means the oar foot, referring to the pairs of swimming legs that are moved together (Mauchline, 1998). Copepods are a subclass of small crustaceans that contain ten orders: Calanoida, Cyclopoida, Gelyelloida, Harpacticoida, Misophrioida, Monstrilloida, Mormonilloida, Platycopioida, Canuelloida, Siphonostomatoida. The life cycle and morphological structure of copepods varies greatly, but there are some universal characteristics. Each copepod starts as an egg which, after fertilization, hatches as a nauplius larva (stage N1, Fig. 1). The nauplius moults five times (from stage N1 to N6) and after the sixth moult changes its morphology completely. The nauplius is now called a copepodite juvenile (stage C1). The copepodite also moults five times and transforms into an adult copepod (stages C1 to C6) (Boehler & Krieger, 2012). For some copepod species, such as *Calanus finmarchicus*, stage 5 copepodites may enter a diapause state in which they remain for \geq 6 months before awakening and developing into adults (Mauchline, 1998). Other species can diapause as resting eggs (Dahms, 1995).



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the copepod life cycle. The eggs hatch and develop through 6 naupliar stages (N1-N6) and then 5 copepodite stages (C1-C5) before becoming adults (C6). (Credit: Ali H. Abdulhussain)

1.3.2 Model copepods for experiments

In this study, I have conducted experiments on two widely distributed calanoid copepods: *Acartia tonsa* (Chapters 2 & 3) and *Calanus helgolandicus* (Chapter 4) (Fig. 2 & 3). *A. tonsa* is a pelagic calanoid copepod that has been widely used as a test organism (Cook et al., 2010; Turner, 2014; Appendix A). It can live in various environmental conditions,

and has been shown to be susceptible to different harmful algae (Appendix A). They are euryhaline: 1–72 salinity (Cervetto et al., 1999), eurythermal: 5 - 34 °C (Holste and Peck, 2006), and inhabit a wide range of environments (Fig. 3A). The starvation tolerance for *A. tonsa* is 6-10 days at 15 °C (Dagg, 1977). Adults can reach a length of 1.5 mm, and N1 nauplii can reach a length of 70 µm. The eggs are spherical and 70-80 µm in diameter, and can be subitaneous (i.e. hatch immediately) or resting eggs (Drillet et al., 2011). Because the eggs have a slightly higher density than seawater, they sink when released. Females and males are distinguished by the composition of their antennae, urosome, and swimming legs.

C. helgolandicus is widely spread across the North East Atlantic with high numbers on the European shelf and in oceanic waters (Barnard et al., 2004; Bonnett et al., 2005: Fig. 3B) and can contribute 6-93 % of the mesozooplankton biomass in those regions (Bonnet et al., 2005). They are a warm, temperate species that prefer temperatures ranging from 9 to 20 °C. (Bonnet et al., 2005). They can live in various environmental conditions where they accumulate lipids, particularly wax esters, that enable them to survive periods of reduced food or starvation (Gatten et al., 1979). Biomass reserves are also used as a source of energy when diapausing in cold, deep water (Hirche, 1983, 1984; Williams & Conway, 1988; Stöhr et al., 1996). Although there is limited information on C. helgolandicus resting copepodites at deep waters during winter diapause, the diapause-stage of C. finmarchicus could be applied to C. helgolandicus (Bonnett et al., 2005). Temperature has been linked to the abundance and geographical distribution of Calanus spp in the North Atlantic (Barnard et al., 2004; Bonnett et al., 2005; Choquet et al., 2017). Thus, as regions warm or cool, we can expect dramatic changes in the abundance and dominance of different copepod species (Beaugrand et al., 2002, 2009; Richardson & Schoeman 2004; Choquet et al., 2017; Grieve et al., 2017).



Figure 2. Marine Zooplankton Copepod. A: *Acartia tonsa* female - scale bar is ~ 1 mm (Credit: Ali H. Abdulhussain). B: *Calanus helgolandicus* female - scale bar is ~ 2.5 mm (Credit: Kathryn B. Cook).



Figure 3. Distribution map of *Acartia tonsa* (A), and *Calanus helgolandicus* (B) (Ocean biodiversity information system. Intergovernmental oceanographic commission of UNESCO, 2021); open access agreement.

1.4 Impact of harmful algae on copepods

HA can be highly toxic to copepods (Anderson, 2012; Dam, 2013; Turner, 2014). Studies have shown that HA may impact their survival, grazing rates, swimming behaviour, and reproduction (Appendix A). Toxins mainly affect neurotransmission or inhibit enzyme functions in copepods (Baden et al., 1993; Turner & Tester 1997; Turner et al., 1998). Toxins may accumulate and be transported to higher trophic levels through feeding interactions (Maneiro et al., 2005; Tammilehto et al., 2012) which, through the process of bioaccumulation, will potentially impact the plankton community structure and ecosystem productivity by killing fish and marine mammals (Doucette et al., 2006; Turner, 2014; Fire et al., 2021; Kershaw et al., 2021).

1.4.1 Impact of HA on copepods survival

Due to the difference in HA mode of action and toxicity, survival experiments typically use monospecific cultures of toxin-producing species at different densities to understand the effects of HA on marine copepods. Short-term exposure to toxic algae might not result in significant mortality compared to non-toxic algae. However, extended periods of exposure to toxic algae may cause substantial mortality within a grazers' population (Table 1).

Copepod	Toxic Algae	Concentration	Mortality rate	Reference
Acartia tonsa	Cochlodinium polykrikoides	3300 and 4700 $\mu gC L^{-1} =$	100 % in 1.5 days	Jiang et al., 2009
		1800 and 2600 cells mL^{-1}		
Acartia tonsa	Cochlodinium polykrikoides	$\begin{array}{l} 1500 \text{ and } 2200 \\ \mu g \ C \ L^{-1} = \\ \sim 800 \text{and} 1200 \\ \text{cells } \text{mL}^{-1} \end{array}$	100 % in 3.5 days	Jiang et al., 2009
Acartia tonsa	Karenia brevis	$1.8 \ 10^4 - 2.1 \ 10^4$ cells mL ⁻¹	80 % in 5 days	Prince et al., 2006
Acartia clausi	Alexandrium minutum	650 cells mL ⁻¹	50 % in 7 days	Barreiro et al., 2007
Calanus	Alexandrium	358 μ gC L ⁻¹ =	17 %, and 0 % in 7-	Roncalli et al.,
finmarchicus	fundyense	200 cells mL ⁻¹	day, for June and	2016
			July Experiments,	
			respectively.	
Calanus	A. catenella	234 μ gC L ⁻¹ =	~ 50 % in 20 days	Gill & Harris 1987
helgolandicus	(Reported:	93 cells mL ⁻¹		
	Gonyaulax			
	tamarensis)			

Table 1. Summary of survival experiments.

There are several survivorship studies that have been conducted previously, yet they are difficult to directly compare to each other due to the large variation in methodological approaches (Table 1). For example, different species or even populations of copepods from different geographical regions have had different historical exposure to different concentrations of HA cells, which could contain different levels of toxins. Furthermore, many studies fail to quantify the toxin content of the algae. There is a distinct lack of studies to form a comprehensive understanding of how the survivorship of copepods changes when fed HA across a wide range of concentrations encountered under field conditions.

1.4.2 Impact of HA on copepods feeding

Grazing is the process through which copepods obtain both energy and materials for growth. HA can change copepod feeding behaviour by several mechanisms, including acting as a feeding deterrent resulting in reduced grazing rates (Teegarden, 1999; Costa & Fernández, 2002; Costa et al., 2005; Costa, 2012), physical incapacitation due to toxicity, or nutritional insufficiency (Brier & Buskey 2007; Cohen et al., 2007; Waggett et al., 2012; Lasley-Rasher et al., 2016). Feeding deterrents cause the copepod to behaviorally cease feeding or select against the toxic algae. For example, ingestion rates of A. tonsa fed on the toxic dinoflagellate Cochlodinium polykrikoides were 25 to 60 % lower than when feeding on non-toxic *Rhodomon*as sp. (Jiang et al., 2009). Another study measured the feeding rates of the copepods *Euterpina acutifrons* and *Acartia grani* every 6 h over a 24 h period to determine the effects of different concentrations of the toxic dinoflagellate Gymnodinium catenatum (Costa et al., 2012). They found that ingestion rates of toxic algae in both copepods decreased with increasing exposure time to the dinoflagellate and these results were attributed to the anti-grazing effects of the PSTs. Thus, toxic algae may act as a deterrent to feeding, with a time-dependent negative effect on the ingestion rates of copepods.

HA have also been reported to cause acute physiological incapacitation, such as suppressed swimming activity and erratic photosensitivity. For example, a behavioral study conducted on *A. tonsa*, *Temora turbinata* and *Centropages typicus* showed that swimming and their behavioral responses to light were affected in *T. turbinata* and *C. typicus* when fed *K. brevis* cells or exposed to dissolved brevetoxin with minimal sublethal behavioral effects on *A. tonsa* (Cohen et al., 2007). A toxic effect occurs after ingestion if the toxin interferes with a physiological function in the copepod that cannot be overcome by supplemental feeding on alternate prey (Walker et al., 2001).

Copepods have the ability to actively select or reject food to maximise their nutritional benefit (Turner & Tester, 1997). According to Colin and Dam (2002), the presence of *Tetraselmis* sp. in a mixed diet with HA, even at a low percentage, stimulated ingestion by *A. tonsa*. Feeding deterrents can reduce ingestion rates when fed monoalgal culture, but not necessarily when offered in a mixed diet (Koski 1999, Teegarden 1999; Colin & Dam 2002). For example, *A. tonsa* fed a diet of 100 % *K. brevis* had significantly lower ingestion rates than *A. tonsa* fed mixed diets with *K. brevis* (Brier & Buskey, 2007). Therefore, the mixed diet approach may change the pattern of copepod feeding, and help discern whether the suspected prey is beneficial, nutritionally inadequate, or toxic to copepods (Jónasdóttir et al., 1998; Colin & Dam, 2002).

Nutritional insufficiency occurs when the algae lacks an essential element for growth and reproduction in the copepod, which might result in increased feeding to compensate for the essential element. For example, K. brevis is unable to produce sterols, which are essential for copepod growth and reproduction (Ederington et al., 1995); thus, it is considered to be a nutritionally inadequate food source for some copepod species (Brier & Buskey, 2007). Studies of A. tonsa fed on toxic K. brevis found an impact on egg production and hatching similar to starvation (Collumb & Buskey, 2004; Prince et al., 2006). The dominant sterol found in copepods' tissues is cholesterol, which makes up 89 - 99 % of the total sterol composition of A. tonsa populations in wild and lab-reared environments (Ederington et al., 1995). Thus, low egg production rates of A. tonsa may result from a lack of dietary sterols. K. brevis also lack some chemical components such as fatty acids that are responsible for stimulating grazing by A. tonsa; thus, negative effects of HA may not always be due to toxicity (Breier & Buskey, 2007). Taken together, HA could influence fitness of copepods through toxicity or nutritional deficiency. Also, dinoflagellates that are not known to produce neurotoxins may also adversely affect copepod fitness (Ianora et al., 2004). Therefore, more studies are needed to estimate how the amount of HA in food influences copepod grazing rates by controlling and measuring the concentration of algae and their toxin concentration in diet.

1.4.3 Copepods tolerance to HA

Although some copepod species/populations have shown a decrease in survival/feeding, other species/populations have been shown to be tolerant to HA. In fact, several studies have shown that copepods with a history of co-occurrence with HA have higher survival and ingestion rates when exposed to a HA bloom compared to species with no history of co-occurrence (Turner et al., 2000; Turner et al., 2005; Maneiro et al., 2005; Doucette et al., 2006; Deeds et al., 2007; Appendix A). They may have evolved tolerance to the HA species that co-occur in the same region. The adaptation of Acartia spp. (Colin & Dam 2002, 2005, 2007; Jiang et al. 2011; Zheng et al. 2011) and *Calanus* spp. (Turner & Borkman, 2005) to HA have been previously reported. For example, feeding experiments of five copepod species (A. tonsa, Paracalanus quasimodo, Labidocera aestiva, Oncaea venusta, and C. typicus), during the expatriate K. brevis bloom that was carried to North Carolina from the Gulf of Mexico in 1987, showed that the four species that grazed upon the toxic algae co-exist with K. brevis (Turner & Tester, 1989). On the other hand, C. typicus, which does not routinely co-occur in the same region as the HA, did not graze upon K. brevis. This may be due to a lack of co-evolutionary experience between the HA and the copepod. Moreover, Acartia hudsonica populations sampled from two regions, one of which co-occurs with HA, were fed the toxic dinoflagellate A. fundyense which showed that animals that were historically exposed to toxic A. fundyense ingested significantly more toxic dinoflagellates and had higher egg production rates than those without previous exposure to A. catenella (Colin & Dam, 2002).

Copepods that co-exist with HA may have developed a series of cellular mechanisms to avoid the effects of toxins. Toxins may be reduced by increasing the activity of detoxification enzymes in copepods (Dutz, 1998; Costa et al., 2008; Kozlowsky-Suzuki et al., 2009). However, a recent gene expression investigation in the marine copepod, C. *finmarchicus*, found that detoxification is not the main response to the toxic dinoflagellate A. fundyense (Roncalli et al., 2016). Rather, the genes that responded were those associated with digestion, implying that toxins might reduce food absorption and thus reproductive production without affecting survival. In addition, some copepods have a distinct toxinresistant phenotype, implying that a simple genetic mechanism has evolved to adapt and withstand toxins during HA blooms (Avery & Dam, 2007; Lauritano et al. 2012, 2013; Wang et al., 2021). For example, after feeding on A. fundyense for four generations, the fitness of A. hudsonica increased, which indicates that adaptation occurred (Finiguerra et al., 2014). Although sodium channel mutations have been proposed as a possible mechanism (Avery & Dam, 2007; Chen et al., 2015), A. hudsonica exposure to A. fundyense did not result in an increased proportion of mutant isoforms (Finiguerra et al., 2014), suggesting that sodium channel mutations are unlikely to be responsible for A. hudsonica adaptations to toxigenic HA. It is widely acknowledged that there is no clear link between phytoplankton neurotoxicity and impacts on plankton grazers, and that trials with sympatric grazers and

prey species are required to understand fully trophic interactions in the plankton (Smayda, 1997; Turner & Tester, 1997).

1.4.4 Impact of HA on copepods fitness

Increased tolerance, survival and grazing rate of copepods exposed to HA might not be the only factors that are indicative of a copepod fitness. It might be expected that there would be no effect on copepod survival rate as well as ingestion rate if copepods have the ability to detoxify. However, detoxification mechanisms may cost energy by causing other sub-lethal effects. Thus, even if copepod survival remains high, responses in some parameters, particularly egg production and hatching success, typically decline over time if female copepods continue to consume teratogenic compounds that interfere with reproduction, such as dinoflagellate toxins (Turner, 2014). The calanoid copepod, Temora longicornis, was exposed to the HA A. fundyense to examine their survival, ingestion, egg production, and swimming behaviour (Lasley-Rasher et. al 2016). T. longicornis fed 320 cells mL⁻¹ of A. fundyense + 1200 cells mL⁻¹ of Rhodomonas lens in the same bottle ingested the A. fundyense with no significant change in their survival, ingestion, and egg production compared to the control. However, an alteration in copepod swimming behaviour was reported in that copepods swimming speed increased, and they no longer swam in a straight path after they were removed from the A. fundyense treatment. In addition, despite the fact that A. clausi females could consume toxic Alexandrium lusitanicum at high rates without impact on feeding, egg production was limited to intermediate levels even at high food concentrations (Dutz, 1998).

It is important to note that the majority of HA-copepod studies have been conducted over approximately one day (24 h). This is sufficient time to quantify grazing and discern patterns of selectivity. However, it may be insufficient time to determine any deleterious effects of HA on grazers such as egg production and hatching success since there is a considerable delay in the effect of grazers' response to the same concentrations of food suspensions, as well as acclimatisation of grazers to HA (Ianora & Miralto, 2010; Turner et al., 2012).

1.5 Harmful algae and fisheries in UK waters

There are four types of toxic *Alexandrium* species found in Northern UK waters, and the most abundant toxic species is *A. catenella* (reported as *A. tamarense*) (Bresnan et al., 2005). *A. catenella*, which is responsible for causing PSTs is found in Northern Europe:

Scotland, Iceland, Faroe Islands, Norway (Bresnan et al., 2021, Karlson et al., 2021). There is a long history of PST occurrence in Scotland, which is occasionally of high intensity (The Scottish Government, 2017). The first recorded PST outbreak occurred in 1827 and was associated with toxins in mussels. In 1968, an A. catenella bloom was associated with 78 clinical cases for people that consumed mussels from Budle Bay (Ayres & Collum, 1978; Smayda, 2006). After the 1968 incident, a weekly monitoring program (from March to August) began to measure PSTs in mussels collected at approximately 20 different sites along the east coast of Scotland. From 1968-1990, the quarantine level was exceeded 17 times (Smayda, 2006). The distribution of HA toxins can be widespread; they have been detected in the tissues of mussels, scallops, crabs, lobster, prawns, fish, seabirds, and marine mammals (Mortensen, 1985; Jensen et al., 2015; Kershaw et al., 2021) and there was an incident with 77 % mortality of the farmed Salmon in the Faroe Islands in 1985 (Mortensen, 1985). Since the 1990s, the presence of PSTs in mussels and the presence of toxic Alexandrium species in Scottish waters are reported on an annual basis (Bresnan et al., 2008). Recent testing of 40 different species of fish for toxin accumulation in Scottish waters showed that there was DA in 92.3 % of the samples, and PST in 96.2 % of the samples. Since there were no HA recorded during the months when the fish were sampled, the concentrations reported in the study are unlikely to represent the acutely high doses ingested by fish during HA events (Kershaw et al., 2021). Jensen et al., (2015) reported a decrease in the abundance of Scottish harbour seal (*Phoca vitulina*) populations that is linked to consuming contaminated fish with both DA and PST.

HA may impact marine ecosystems by impacting copepod survival, which will result in less food for higher trophic levels, and by toxin accumulation, so that copepods serve as a vector for toxin transfer to higher trophic levels. Therefore, understanding HA-copepod interactions is key to understanding the link between HA and fisheries. The role of copepods in passing the energy up the food chain is an important factor in determining the size of fisheries. Scotland is one of the largest sea fishing nations in Europe; in 2017 Scottish registered vessels landed 464,000 tonnes of fish, worth £559 million (The Scottish Government. 2017). Therefore, HA impacts on copepods and the wider ecosystem may have economic consequences. However, relatively few studies have examined the response of common North East Atlantic copepods to toxic strains of algae (Arendt et al., 2005; Jansen et al. 2006; Peters et al., 2007; Koski et al., 2008). The concern is that the present global expansion of toxic blooms may indirectly threaten the survival and recruitment of larval fish by reducing the survival and abundance of copepods in UK waters. The role of environmental managers to regulate any increase in the HA densities and their impact on

17

fisheries requires information on the lethal and sub-lethal effects of naturally occurring HA and the population-scale implications.

1.6 Aims of my thesis

Observations of how HA affect copepod grazers in UK waters remain scarce, and it is difficult to predict their effects on the basis of information reported in studies conducted elsewhere due to differences in the concentrations of HA used as food, the level of toxins in the food, the length of exposure and the various responses by different species of copepod from various locations. The aim of this study was to investigate the effects of PST-producing HA on the survival, feeding and fitness of important species of marine copepods found in UK waters. In order to address some of the knowledge gaps in previous work, a range of important advances were made:

- 1. The level of toxins in the experimental diets were quantified.
- 2. Experiments were conducted using conditions that are representative of UK HA bloom conditions, including realistic concentrations of toxin-producing cells.
- 3. Lethal and sub-lethal effects were quantified.
- 4. Short- (24 h) and long-term (10 days) exposures were examined.
- 5. Different species of copepods were examined to compare and constrast their responses.

Two physiologically different copepods (*A. tonsa* and *C. helgolandicus*) were cultured and also grew and maintained live cultures of toxic *A. catenella*, non-toxic *Rhodomonas* sp. and *A. tamarense* for several months. I also used a combination of analytical approaches, including liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LCMS/MS), coulter counter, carbon and nitrogen analyses, microscopic counting, and statistical modelling.

Chapter 2 provides an overview of the methods that I used throughout the thesis.

Chapter 3 quantifies how the presence of toxic *A. catenella* and non-toxic *Rhodomonas* sp. affect survival (LC₅₀) and feeding in *A. tonsa*. This Chapter presents a detailed toxin profile of *A. catenella* and tests the hypothesis that exposure to toxic *A. catenella* negatively impacts the survival and feeding of *A. tonsa*. My results show that *A. tonsa* survival and feeding was not affected by toxic *A. catenella*.
Chapter 4 quantifies how the presence of toxic *A. catenella* and non-toxic *A. tamarense* affect long-term survival (10 days) and egg production and hatching success in *A. tonsa*. This Chapter also describes a detailed toxin profile of *A. catenella* and specifically tested the hypothesis that *A. tonsa* survival was influenced by the type of food available, and egg production and hatching success was influenced by the type of food available and its concentration. My results show that *A. tonsa* egg production and hatching success are influenced by the type of food and its concentration. However, survival was not affected by either toxic or non-toxic *Alexandrium*.

Chapter 5 examined how mono-specific and mixed-diets of toxic *A. catenella* and non-toxic *A. tamarense* affect ingestion, egg production and egg viability in *C. helgolandicus*. It also presents a detailed toxin profile of *A. catenella* and body toxin analysis of *C. helgolandicus*. The Chapter tested the hypothesis that exposure to toxic *A. catenella* negatively impacts the feeding, and egg production and viability of *C. helgolandicus*. *C. helgolandicus* ingestion was negatively affected when fed toxic *A. catenella* comparing to the control non-toxic *A. catenella*. However, egg production and hatching success were not affected by either toxic or non-toxic *A. catenella*. Thus, results were the exact opposite to the results found for *A. tonsa*.

Chapter 6 discusses the results of Chapters 3, 4 and 5 in the context of how they update current knowledge of HA-copepods interactions and how they improve understanding of the impacts of PST-producing HA on coastal and oceanic marine copepods. I also identify futher knowledge gaps and discuss future research priorities.

Experimental and analytical methods

2.1 Phytoplankton culture

The original stock cultures of *Rhodomonas* sp. were obtained from the National Oceanography Centre (NOC) Aquarium culture collection. The toxic and non-toxic *Alexandrium* spp. cultures (toxic: 1119/27 and 1119/28; non-toxic: 1119/19 and 1119/33) were obtained from the Culture Collection of Algae and Protozoa (CCAP; https://www.ccap.ac.uk), Oban, UK. Phytoplankton were cultured at the NOC in seawater collected from the Western Channel Observatory monitoring site L4 off Plymouth, UK (https://www.westernchannelobservatory.org.uk/) for species in Chapters 3 and 4, and were cultured in Marine Scotland and the seawater collected from Stonehaven, UK for species in Chapter 5. The subculturing and counting (using the Coulter Counter) steps were similar for both toxic and non-toxic algae for species in Chapters 3 and 4, and cultures were counted under an inverted microscope (1 mL using Sedgewick-rafter cell) for species in Chapter 5.

Subculturing took place when the algal growth was exponential, based on the growth curve shown in Fig. 4. The working area and pipette were wiped with 70 % ethanol, and pipette tips were autoclaved. 100 μ L of the old culture and 150 μ L of F/2 medium were added to flasks containing 100 mL ASW (artificial sea water) for *Rhodomonas*, and 350 μ L of L1 medium in sterile filtered L4 seawater (0.2 μ m; SFSW hereafter) for *A. catenella*. The new sub-culture was grown in an incubator at 15 °C with a 16:8 h (Light: Dark) photoperiod under constant cool white fluorescent light with a light intensity of 15 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹.



Figure 4. Example growth curves of *Rhodomonas* sp. (A), and toxic *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27) (B) cultured in the laboratory and measured using Beckman Multisizer 3 Coulter Counter.

All phytoplankton samples were counted using a Beckman Multisizer 3 Coulter Counter equipped with a 70 μ m aperture. 1 mL of the algal culture was added to 9 mL diluent solution (3 % NaCl) and mixed well. Each sample was counted 3 times to obtain the mean value of cell counts. The specific cell size range of the algae was determined when calculating the cell counts (the size range for *Rhodomonas* was 6 - 8 μ m, and the size range for *A. catenella* was 15 - 42 μ m). The cell counts were multiplied by 10 to correct for the dilution factor and obtain the number of cells in 1 mL of sample.

Prior to experimentation, phytoplankton samples were subcultured in 4 - 6 different 100 mL flasks in case contamination occurred in any flask especially during regular counting of the growth phase. For feeding copepod cultures, *Rhodomonas* sp. was grown in 20 L carboys (Fig. 5). Subculturing took place every 7 - 10 days when the carboy was nearly empty or when the color of the *Rhodomonas* sp. culture was very dark. The carboy was washed with pre-filtered seawater from the University of Southampton aquarium and filled with 18 L of pre-filtered seawater. 25 mL of the algal nutrient stock solution (F/2 medium) and 50 mL of sodium hypochlorite solution (bleach) were added to sterilize the water and get rid of all microbial agents. After 5 h, a 25 mL pipette was sterilised with 100 % ethanol and 25 mL of sodium thiosulphate solution was added to the carboy and mixed well to neutralise (dechlorinate) the effect of sodium hypochlorite. About 2 L of the old culture was added to the carboys containing 18 L sterilized seawater.



Figure 5. Carboys in a controlled temperature room with aeration to culture *Rhodomonas* sp.

2.2 Copepod culture

A. tonsa was obtained from a culture held at Reefshotz plankton production in Cardiff, UK where it has been reared in the NOC for several generations. A. tonsa were cultured in 4 tanks: 3 L for nauplii, 7 L for adults, and two large tanks (50 L) for a mixture of nauplii and adults. All cultures were maintained at room temperature, with natural sun light, and ASW with a salinity 31 made using Tropic Marin Seasalt. They were fed *Rhodomonas* sp. three times a week at a final concentration of 10,000 cell mL⁻¹ for the nauplii tanks (3 L), and 60,000 cells mL⁻¹ for the other tanks. Copepods were cultured in 4 tanks in case any individual tank became contaminated. The water was changed weekly for the 7 L tank where a 120 μ m mesh was used to separate adults from nauplii, and a 53 μ m mesh was used to collect eggs and nauplii. The eggs and nauplii were transferred into a 3 L tank, and then transferred to the 50 L tank after one week when most of the nauplii had developed into copepodite stages. It took 2-3 weeks for the nauplii to become a mature adult. 10 L of the water in the 50 L tanks was changed 2-3 times a week, and the whole tank was replaced every 4-6 weeks, depending on the amount of detritus that was found when checked under microscope.

C. helgolandicus were collected from the Scottish Coastal Observatory site at Stonehaven in the North Western North Sea (56° 57.8N 02° 06.2W) using a 1 m ring net fitted with a 350 µm mesh net and a non-filtering cod-end. Upon collection, copepods were diluted with fresh seawater and transported to the laboratory in Marine Scotland within 4 h. The copepods were maintained in 10 L tanks at 13 °C with a 12 h photoperiod, and fed Phyto Feast® Live (a mix of *Tetraselmis, Isochrysis, Pavlova, Nannochloropsis, Thalassiosira, Amphora* and *Synechoccus*) and Roti-Feast® (*Brachionus plicatilis* animals and eggs) produced by Reed Mariculture.

2.3 Elemental analysis

The carbon and nitrogen content of phytoplankton and *A. tonsa* copepods were measured using a Carlo Ebra EA-1108 elemental analyser. The samples (phytoplankton or copepods) were filtered onto 13 mm filters and wrapped in a tin capsule to ensure complete combustion. To achieve this, 25 mm GFF filters were cut to 13 mm using a steel hole punch, wrapped in aluminium foil, and combusted overnight in an oven (500 °C). The smaller size filters resulted in less ash accumulating in the C/N analyser after each combustion, which helped to prevent blocking of the furnace. After adding the samples, the filters were dried

overnight at 40 °C before analysis. The dried filter was folded using clean tweezers and placed into standard weight tin capsules (8 5 mm) (<u>http://www.microanalysis.co.uk</u>). The capsules were closed from the top using tweezers and placed into a caspule press to crush them into appropriate sizes. The prepared samples were then stored in a desiccator until analysis.

2.3.1 Calibration and running

In order to use the elemental analyser, a simple calibration was required to measure the carbon and nitrogen contents. First, it was necessary to run two bypasses (runs without filters) to check that the combustion tube was clear from the previous analysis and to allow the correct flow of gases. Second, a tin capsule containing 5 mg of standard with known carbon and nitrogen was run as a 'bypass'. The carbon and nitrogen in this sample was detected and the retention times were calculated. The new values of column and retention times were then entered. Third, two blank samples (pre-combusted 13 mm GF/F filter wrapped in tin capsule) were analyzed to determine the amount of carbon and nitrogen found in the filters and tin discs, and then reduces detected values in filters (theoretically zero) when running samples. Fourth, blank samples containing 5 mg of standard (C = 6.1 % and N = 0.46 %) were combusted, allowing the machine to calculate the K-factor, which is the constant area that was calculated as:

$$K_{factor} = \frac{S_{\%}S_{w}}{S_{c}B_{c}}$$
 Equation 1

where S $_{\%}$ is the % of carbon (or nitrogen) in the standard (C = 6.1 % and N = 0.46 %), S_w is the weight of the added standard (5 mg), and S_c and B_c are the carbon (or nitrogen) areas of the standard and blank samples, respectively.

Once the K-factor was calculated, the machine was ready to run samples. To test the accuracy of the calibration, a blank sample containing a known amount of standard was run in the machine, and analysis was continued if the detection limits were <0.5 % of theoretical maximum, which is C = 6.1 % and N = 0.46 %.

The amount of carbon and nitrogen in the sample were expressed as the areas under the curve. The values were calculated using the following formula:

$$A = \frac{ScFc}{X}$$
 Equation 2

Where A is the adjusted sample area, Sc is the carbon (or Nitrogen as Sn and Fn) area of the standard closest to the theoretical maximum, Fc is the carbon area of the sample, and X is the average carbon (or nitrogen) area of the standard analysed before and after sample F. Using the adjusted area (A), absolute values of carbon and nitrogen can be calculated using the following formula:

$$M = \frac{WA}{Sc} \quad \text{Equation 3}$$

Where M is mg of carbon (or nitrogen), W is mg of C (or nitrogen) in the standard, A, and SC is similar to equation above.

2.4 Detection of toxins and toxicity levels using LC-MS/MS

For Chapters 3 and 4, toxin samples were analysed at CEFAS (Centre or Environment Fisheries & Aquaculture Science), Weymouth, UK. PSTs were determined using Multiple Reaction Monitoring (MRM) transitions and the instrument settings used with the 3200 Qtrap mass spectrometer MS/MS triple quadrupole. Toxin quantitation was measured against calibrations made with approved reference standards received from the Institute of Biotoxin Metrology of the National Research Council of Canada (NRC). Certified reference calibration solutions for PSTs contained gonyautoxins (GTX1, GTX2, GTX3, GTX4, GTX5, GTX6), decarbamoyl-gonyautoxins (dcGTX 1, dcGTX2, dcGTX3, dcGTX4), saxitoxin (STX), neosaxitoxin (NEO), decarbamoyl- STX (dcSTX), decarbamoyl-NEO (dcNEO), (doSTX) deoxydecarbamoyl-saxitoxin, (N-sulfocarbamoyl toxins (C1, C2, C3, C4).

On the day of the experiments, triplicate 50 mL samples of HA were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 20 min. The supernatant was removed and the pellets were transferred to 2 mL tubes and stored in the -80 °C freezer until analysis. On the day of analysis, the sample was taken to the CEFAS laboratory. The pellet was mixed with 5 mL of 1% Acetic acid before being mixed using a vortex-mixer for 90 s at 2500 rpm. A Gilson (Middleton, WI) Aspec XL-4 SPE (solid phase extraction) liquid handler was used for automated SPE clean-up processes during all HILIC-MS/MS validation. The sample injection volume was 2 μ L. Mobile phase A1 consisted of water + 0.015 % formic acid + 0.06 % of 25 % ammonia. Mobile phase B1 comprised 70 % MeCN + 0.01 % formic acid. The column used in the

MS/MS was ZIC-HILIC analytical column. The results quantified by the quadrupole mass spectrometer (MS/MS) are presented in Chapters 3 and 4. The STX equivalent was calculated by multiplying the toxins by toxin equivalent factor (TEF) provided from European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) recommendations (EFSA, 2009).

For Chapter 5, the samples of both *Alexandrium* spp. and *C. helgolandicus* were analysed in Marine Scotland for PSTs using the PCOX method (Van de Riet et al., 2011). The survived animals (or 250,000 cells of *Alexandrium*) were centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 20 minutes (multiple stages) in 2 mL Eppendorf tubes. The supernatants were removed using a pipette and the pellets were then stored at -20 °C until extraction. Glass beads (180 μ m, 100 \pm 20 mg) were acid-washed and added to the Eppendorf tubes. The extraction solvent (0.5 M acetic acid, 100 μ L) was then added with a calibrated pipette. The cells were extracted for two minutes at 25 Hz using a TissueLyser 2. Following microscopic confirmation that the cells had ruptured, they were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatants were transferred to 0.2 μ m Ultrafree-MC centrifugal filters using a pipette fitted with a long tip and this was followed by centrifugation for five minutes at 10,000 rpm. All extracted filtrates were transferred to pre-insert amber vials and were immediately analysed by HPLC following the PCOX method (Van de Riet et al., 2011).

The influence of the toxin producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27), on the feeding and survival of the marine copepod, *Acartia tonsa*

This paper has been published in Harmful Algae

Abdulhussain, A.H., Cook, K.B., Turner, A.D., Lewis, A.M., Elsafi, M.A., Mayor, D.J. (2020). The influence of the toxin producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27), on the feeding and survival of the marine copepod, *Acartia tonsa*. *Harmful Algae* 98, 101890.

AA designed and conducted the experiments. ME assisted with culturing. Toxin extraction and analyses were conducted by AA at CEFAS with assistance from AT and AL. AA analysed the data, created the figures and wrote the manuscript. Comments were provided by AL, AT, KC, ME and DM.

Chapter 3 The influence of the toxin producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27), on the feeding and survival of the marine copepod, *Acartia tonsa*

Ali H. Abdulhussain ^{1,2}, Kathryn B. Cook³, Andrew D. Turner⁴, Adam M. Lewis⁴, Mohamed A. Elsafi⁵, Daniel J. Mayor³

¹ Ocean and Earth Science, University of Southampton, National Oceanography Centre, Southampton, United Kingdom.

² Department of Marine Sciences, Kuwait University, Fintas, Kuwait.

³National Oceanography Centre, Southampton, SO14 3ZH, United Kingdom.

⁴Centre for Environment, Fisheries, and Aquaculture Science (Cefas), Barrack Rd, Weymouth, Dorset, DT4 8UB, United Kingdom.

⁵Oceanography Department, Faculty of Science, Alexandria University, Egypt.

Keywords: Phytoplankton, Harmful algal bloom, Copepod survival, Paralytic shellfish poisoning, Mass spectrometry, Saxitoxin.

3.1 Abstract

Blooms of harmful algae are increasing globally, yet their impacts on copepods, an important link between primary producers and higher trophic levels, remain largely unknown. Algal toxins may have direct, negative effects on the survival of copepods. They may also indirectly affect copepod survival by deterring feeding and thus decreasing the availability of energy and nutritional resources. Here we present a series of short-term (24) h) experiments in which the cosmopolitan marine copepod, Acartia tonsa, was exposed to a range of concentrations of the toxic dinoflagellate, Alexandrium catenella (strain 1119/27, formerly Alexandrium tamarense), with and without the presence of alternative, non-toxic prey (*Rhodomonas* sp). We also present the toxin profile concentrations for A. catenella. The survival and feeding of A. tonsa was not affected across the range of concentrations recorded for A. catenella in the field; increased mortality of A. tonsa was only discernible when A. catenella was present at concentrations that exceed their reported environmental concentrations by two orders of magnitude. The observed lethal median concentration (LC_{50}) for A. tonsa exposed to A. catenella was 12.45 ng STX eq L^{-1} . We demonstrate that A. tonsa is capable of simultaneously ingesting both toxic and non-toxic algae, but increases clearance rates towards non-toxic prey as the proportional abundance of toxic A. catenella increases. The ability to actively select non-toxic algae whilst also ingesting toxic algae suggests that consumption of the latter does not cause physical incapacitation and thus does not affect ingestion in *A. tonsa*. This work shows that short-term exposure to toxic *A. catenella* is unlikely to elicit major effects on the grazing or survival of *A. tonsa*. However, more work is needed to understand the longer-term and sub-lethal effects of toxic algae on marine copepods.

3.2 Introduction

Blooms of harmful algae (HA) refer to the high biomass accumulation of toxic or noxious species (Anderson, Cembella, and Hallegraeff, 2012) and can be caused by microalgae such as phytoplankton and cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) or macroalgae (seaweeds). HA blooms can be toxigenic and produce blooms that cause illness and death in a variety of marine organisms, including fish, seabirds, and mammals. The frequency of HA blooms has increased over the past five decades (Anderson et al., 2012; Hallegraeff, 1993) as has the number of toxic blooms, the number of toxins and toxic species reported, and the associated economic losses (Anderson et al., 2012).

Zooplankton grazing plays a vital role in regulating phytoplankton blooms, including those of toxic species (Irigoien, 2005). Toxin-induced mortality may directly affect zooplankton populations (Jiang, Tang, Lonsdale, and Gobler, 2009; Prince, Lettieri, McCurdy, and Kubanek, 2006) and hence their ability to control blooms of HA. The unpalatability of HA (Costa and Fernandez, 2002; Costa, Franco, Cacho, and Fernandez, 2005; Teegarden, 1999; Costa 2012) and physical incapacitation induced by toxicity (Sopanen et al., 2011) can also affect the ability of grazers to control HA blooms. Blooms lacking specific elements or nutrient compounds may further affect zooplankton populations (Breier and Buskey, 2007; Cohen, Tester, and Forward, 2007; Waggett, Hardison, and Tester, 2012). All of these mechanisms ultimately result in reduced rates of zooplankton growth and reproduction (Dam, 2013; Turner, 2014).

The effects of HA on copepods appear to be species- and/or population- specific. Some copepod species/populations have shown a decrease in feeding and/or survival when exposed to HA (Barreiro et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2009), whereas others appear to be tolerant to HA (Colin and Dam, 2002, 2005, 2007). Several studies have shown that copepods with a history of co-occurrence with HA have higher survival and ingestion rates when exposed to a HA bloom compared to species with no history of co-occurrence (Doucette et al., 2006; Maneiro et al., 2005; Turner et al., 2000; Turner, Doucette, Keafer, and Anderson, 2005;

Deeds et al., 2014), potentially suggesting an evolved tolerance to HA species that co-occur in the same region (Colin and Dam, 2002, 2005, 2007). Some copepods have a discrete toxin-resistant phenotype which suggests evolution of a simple genetic mechanism to adapt and tolerate PSP toxins during bloom conditions (Avery and Dam, 2007). For example, the fitness of *Acartia hudsonica* increased after feeding on *Alexandrium fundyense* for over four generations, which shows that adaptation occurred (Finiguerra, Avery, and Dam, 2014). Sodium channel mutations have been suggested as a possible mechanism (Avery and Dam, 2007; Chen et al., 2015); however, *A. hudsonica* exposure to HA did not induce an increased proportion of mutant isoforms (Finiguerra et al., 2014) which suggests that the mutant isoforms are unlikely to be responsible for adaptations of *A. hudsonica* to toxigenic HA.

Differences between studies may also arise from experimental differences, e.g. concentrations of HA used as food, the level of toxins within the food, and different species of copepod examined (Turner, 2014). It is therefore currently difficult to make generic predictions about how copepods will respond to future blooms of HA. In UK waters, the dinoflagellate, A. catenella (previously recorded in this region as A. tamarense Group I, reassigned taxonomically by John et al., 2014 & Fraga, Sampedro, Larsen, Moestrup, and Calado, 2015, accepted in Prud'homme van Reine, 2017), is capable of producing Paralytic Shellfish Poisoning (PSP) toxins and is frequently associated with shellfish toxicity (Bresnan, Fryer, Hart, and Percy, 2005; 2008). Densities of A. catenella between 1000 and 2000 cells L^{-1} typically result in shellfish flesh exceeding the regulatory limit for PSP toxins, and blooms usually last for a few days (Bresnan et al., 2005; Turner et al., 2014). Maximum reported densities of this species around the UK are 5000 and 18,000 cells L^{-1} in the waters around the Western Isles and Shetland, respectively (Bresnan, Turrell, and Fraser, 2008). These 'blooms' do not necessarily result in A. catenella becoming dominant within the phytoplankton community but can nevertheless result in an environmental problem, depending on the specific levels of toxins present.

The derivatives of PSP toxins are categorized into three main groups: carbamate-, N-sulphocarbamoyl-, and decarbamoyl- toxins. The carbamate toxins saxitoxin (STX) and neosaxitoxin (NEO) are considered to be the most potent compared to other PSP toxins. Other highly potent analogues include gonyautoxins 1 to 4 (GTX1, GTX2, GTX3, GTX4). N-sulphocarbomoyl (C) toxins and some of the decarbomoyl (dc) congeners are considered less potent (Cook, Bresnan, and Turrell, 2010). Saxitoxins inhibit nerve transmission by blocking watersoluble sodium channels (Luckas, Erler, and Krock, 2015). The consumption

of shellfish contaminated with PSP toxins can cause difficulty in breathing, gastrointestinal problems, and a sense of dissociation followed by complete paralysis in humans and other vertebrates (Wang, 2008); however, how PSP toxin exposure/consumption affects invertebrate fitness remains unclear.

The composition and concentrations of toxins within any species of HA, including *A. catenella*, can be variable, even when grown under similar conditions (Loret et al., 2002; Turner et al., 1998; Etheridge et al., 2005; Brown et al., 2010; Waggett 2012). Some of the factors that can change the toxin levels within a HA bloom include turbulence (Juhl, Trainer, and Latz, 2001), salinity (Grzebyk et al., 2003), and nutrient conditions (John and Flynn, 2002; Leong, Murata, Nagashima, and Taguchi, 2004; Turner et al., 1998). HA can also significantly increase the production of PSP toxins in response to nutrient stress and chemical cues from copepods (Griffin, Park, and Dam, 2019; Wohlrab, Iversen, and John, 2010). A group of predator cues named copepodamides, which are exuded by three calanoid copepod species (*Centropages typicus, Pseudocalanus* sp, and *Calanus* sp), were found to trigger increased PSP toxins in diatoms (Selander et al., 2015). However, toxin profile concentrations are rarely reported, particularly in the context of copepod grazing studies. This makes it difficult to robustly explain the observed results and hinders comparisons between different studies.

We studied the survivorship and grazing of a globally distributed marine copepod, *Acartia tonsa*, feeding on a toxic strain of *A. catenella* across the range of concentrations above and below those that are typically encountered in UK waters. Additional experiments examined how ingestion rates and prey selection in *A. tonsa* were influenced by the relative abundance of *A. catenella* in the prey field. We present our results alongside a full toxin profile for the *A. catenella* used in our experiments, which allows us to calculate the lethal median concentration (LC₅₀).

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Culture conditions

A toxic strain of *Alexandrium catenella* (Strain 1119/27; CCAP, Loch Ainort, Scotland) and the non-toxic cryptomonad, *Rhodomonas* sp, were both grown in a culture

cabinet at 15 °C with a 16:8 h (Light:Dark) photoperiod. *A. catenella* was cultured in seawater collected from the Western Channel Observatory monitoring site L4 off Plymouth, UK (https://www.westernchannelobservatory.org.uk/) amended with L1 medium (3.5 mL of L1 medium for every 1 Litre). *Rhodomonas* sp was cultured using artificial seawater (Tropic Marin seasalt, 31) and F/2 medium (1.5 mL of F/2 medium for every 1 Litre). *Acartia tonsa* (Reefshotz, Cardiff, UK, where they have been cultured for > 10 years) were cultured in artificial seawater (Tropic Marin Seasalt; 31) for 5 months prior to experimentation and fed *Rhodomonas* sp three times a week at a concentration of 60,000 cells mL⁻¹. All cell counts were undertaken using a Beckman Multisizer 3 Coulter Counter equipped with a 70 μ m aperture. The carbon and nitrogen content of phytoplankton and copepods were determined for each experiment using a Carlo Erba EA-1108 elemental analyser.

3.3.2 Influence of A. catenella concentration on the feeding and survival of A. tonsa

Experiment 1 simultaneously examined how the ingestion rate and survival of A. tonsa changed across a plausible environmental range of A. catenella concentrations. A total of 150 adult female A. tonsa were carefully transferred via pipette into 500 mL of 0.2 µm sterile filtered L4 seawater (SFSW hereafter) and incubated for 24 h to clear their guts. The carbon and nitrogen content of A. catenella and toxin concentration profiles were determined from the stock culture of A. catenella prior to their exposure to copepod grazing. Triplicate 5 mL samples from the A. catenella stock culture were collected onto glass fibre filters (Whatmann GF/F) and dried at 40 °C for subsequent elemental analysis (Carlo Ebra EA-1108 elemental analyser). Triplicate 50 mL samples of the A. catenella stock culture were also centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 20 mins and the resulting pellets were transferred into 2 mL Eppendorf tubes and stored frozen at -80 °C until toxin analysis. Survival and grazing experiments were conducted in 215 mL clear bottles containing A. catenella at nominal concentrations of 20, 100, 200 and 1000 μ g C L⁻¹. These concentrations were achieved by determining the concentration of the A. catenella stock culture and subsequently diluting this with an appropriate volume of SFSW. Nine bottles at each of the required concentrations were prepared. Three initial bottles at each concentration were immediately preserved with acidified Lugol's iodine to enumerate the number of cells at the start of the experiment. Ten female A. tonsa were added to each of three grazing bottles at each concentration and incubated alongside triplicate control bottles at each concentration on a plankton wheel (2 rpm) for 24 h at 19 °C with a 12:12 h (L:D) photoperiod. At the end of the experiment, the grazing and control bottles were preserved with acidified Lugol's iodine after removing

copepods from the grazing bottles using a 200 μ m mesh and transferred into SFSW. The number of motile copepods observed after mechanical stimulus was recorded. Surviving animals were transferred onto glass fibre filters (Whatmann GF/F) and dried at 40 °C for subsequent elemental analysis (Carlo Erba EA-1108 elemental analyser).

Experiment 2 was conceptually similar to experiment 1, but examined a broader concentration range of *A. catenella* and made no attempt to quantify ingestion rates. A total of 210 adult female *A. tonsa* were incubated in SFSW for 24 h prior to experimentation. Triplicate groups of 10 animals were subsequently incubated for 24 h with *A. catenella* at nominal concentrations of 100, 1000, 3000, 5000, 7500, and 10,000 μ g C L⁻¹, where *A. catenella* from the stock culture was diluted with SFSW. Samples to determine the elemental content of *A. catenella* and *A. tonsa* were collected at the beginning and end of the experiment, respectively. The number of animals responding to mechanical stimulus was recorded at the end of the experiment.

3.3.3 Ingestion and selection for/against *A. catenella* in the presence of nontoxic cells

Experiment 3 examined how, for a given total quantity of food, ingestion rates and food selection in *A. tonsa* changed in response to proportional changes in the availability of toxic and non-toxic food. Experimental females were incubated in SFSW for 24 h prior to experimentation. Experiments were conducted in 215 mL culture bottles, each containing a total of 1250 μ g C L⁻¹ of algae. The four treatment levels contained 0 %, 25 % 50 %, and 75 % of *A. catenella*-derived carbon, with the remainder being provided via *Rhodomonas* sp. Nine bottles at each level were initially set up, with three being sampled to determine cell numbers and their elemental content at the outset of the experiment. Ten female *A. tonsa* were added to each of three grazing bottles and incubated alongside triplicate control bottles on a plankton wheel for 24 h. At the end of the experiment, samples were collected to determine the elemental content of the copepods and the amount of food ingested (as above).

3.3.4 Toxin analysis

The frozen pellets of *A. catenella* from each experiment were mixed with 1.5 mL of 1 % acetic acid before being vortex-mixed for 90 s at 2500 rpm. Solutions were subjected to probe sonication (Sonic Dismembrator, Fisher Scientific) set to 30 % power for 1.5 mins per

sample. After sonication was complete, vials were re-mixed, and 400 μ L taken for desalting clean-up using carbon solid phase extraction (SPE) as described by Turner, McNabb, Harwood, Selwood, and Boundy, 2015. A Gilson (Middleton, WI) Aspec XL-4 SPE liquid handler was used for automated SPE clean-up processing prior to a 4:1 dilution in acetonitrile and HILIC-MS/MS analysis. Quantification of individual PSP toxin concentrations was conducted, enabling the assessment of toxin profiles of A. catenella for each experiment. An Agilent (Manchester, UK) Infinity II 1290 Ultra-high Performance Liquid Chromatograph (UHPLC) coupled to a 6495B tandem mass spectrometer (MS/MS) was used for acquiring two Multiple Reaction Monitoring (MRM) transitions for each toxin analogue. Certified reference calibration solutions for PSP toxins to allow identification and quantification were sourced from the Institute of Biotoxin Metrology, National Research Council, Canada. These were used to prepare working calibration solutions, which were utilized as external standards for quantification of individual analogues. PSP toxins incorporated into the method included the gonyautoxins (GTX1, GTX2, GTX3, GTX4, GTX5, GTX6), decarbamoyl-gonyautoxins (dcGTX1, dcGTX2, dcGTX3, dcGTX4), saxitoxin (STX), neosaxitoxin (NEO), decarbamoyl- STX (dcSTX), decarbamoyl-NEO (dcNEO), (doSTX) deoxydecarbamoylsaxitoxin and the N-sulfocarbamoyl C toxins (C1, C2, C3, C4). HILIC chromatography and MS/MS detector conditions were those described by Turner et al., 2015 and Turner et al., 2019 respectively. Mobile phase A1 consisted of water + 0.015 % formic acid + 0.06 % of 25 % ammonia. Mobile phase B1 comprised 70 % MeCN + 0.01 % formic acid. For chromatographic separation of PSP toxins, a Waters (Manchester, UK) BEH Amide HILIC column $(2.1 \times 150 \text{ mm}; 1.7 \mu\text{m})$ together with an equivalent 5 mm guard cartridge was used. The column was held at 60 °C and sample injection volumes were 2 µL.

3.3.5 Data analyses

Copepod daily ingestion rates were calculated using established equations (Frost, 1972) and expressed relative to the carbon content of the females, giving carbon-specific ingestion rates (CSI, % C day⁻¹). The number of copepods surviving each experiment was expressed as a percentage of the ten that were initially added to each grazing bottle. The influence of increasing concentrations of *A. catenella* on the survival and ingestion of *A. tonsa* were examined using separate one-way ANOVAs in which the concentration of *A. catenella* was treated as a categorical variable. Post-hoc comparisons were conducted using Tukey's test with alpha = 0.05. Feeding selectivity of *A. tonsa* for or against *A. catenella* and *Rhodomonas* sp. was examined by plotting the proportion of these cells in the available food

against their proportion in the ingested diet. Values above and below a 1:1 line indicate positive and negative selection, respectively.

The concentration of PSP toxins, expressed in STX equivalence, of *A. catenella* in each experiment was calculated using a six-point calibration curve drawn from the included toxin standards and then converting molar concentrations of each toxin to STX equivalence using the toxin equivalent factors (TEF) for each PSP toxin analogue detected and quantified (EFSA 2009). These same conversion factors are used to standardize data generated in the UK regulatory monitoring programmes (Turner et al., 2014). The lethal median concentration that killed 50 % of the population (LC₅₀), expressed in STX equivalents, was determined by applying a non-linear regression using a dose-response model. All statistical analyses were performed using Prism Graphpad software (v.7.0).

3.4 Results

The average carbon content of the *A. tonsa* used in the experiments was 2.6 μ g C Copepod⁻¹ (± 0.53, SD). Table 2 presents the nominal and actual concentrations of *A. catenella* offered in the different experiments, along with the cellular carbon quotas. The cell toxicity analysis detected 12 different toxins out of the 19 included in the calibration standard mix, these different congeners showed variability in their concentrations and STX equivalence leading to an average total cellular toxin quota of 2.7 pg STX eq cell⁻¹. (Table 3).

Experiment	Rhodomonas sp Carbon content (Nitrogen Content) ng cell ⁻¹	Alexandrium catenella Carbon content (Nitrogen Content) ng cell ⁻¹	Nominal Concentration (Actual concentraton) µg C L ⁻¹	
1	-	1.62 - 1.75 (0.48-0.52)	20 (22) 100 (112), 200 (224), 1000 (1120)	
2	-	2 (0.4)	100 (150) 1000 (1150), 3000 (3450), 5000 (5750), 7500 (8625), 10000 (11500)	
3	0.053-0.054 (0.010)	1.96-2.11 (0.05)	A. catenella: 25% (30%) 50% (55%) 75% (79%)	

Table 2. The nominal and actual concentrations of *Alexandrium catenella* offered in the different experiments, along with the cellular carbon & nitrogen quotas

Table 3. *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27-Ainort) toxin profile concentrations (fg Cell⁻¹ & fg STX eq. cell⁻¹⁾ cultured in L1 media and analysed using HILIC-MS/MS (Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry) at CEFAS.

Toxin Concentration fg cell ⁻¹ (fg STX eq cell ⁻¹)										
C1	C2	C3	C4	dcGTX 2	dcGTX 3	dcGTX 1	dcGTX 4	GTX6	dcNEO	
18.8	1130.8		44 3							
(0.2)	(113.1)	nd	(4.43)	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	
									STX	
GTX2	GTX3	GTX1	GTX4	GTX5	doSTX	dcSTX	STX	NEO	eq cell ⁻¹	
88.9	307.3	88.8	450.5	42.9	40.2	6.5	1089.7	888.3		
(35.6)	(184.4)	(88.8)	(315.4)	(42.9)	(2.0)	(6.5)	(1089.7)	(888.3)	2732.5	

3.4.1 Influence of *A. catenella* concentrations on the feeding and survival of *A. tonsa*

Survival, and daily rates of clearance, total ingestion and carbon specific ingestion (CSI) for *A. tonsa* offered *A. catenella* at nominal concentrations between 20 and 1000 µg C L⁻¹ (experiment 1) and between 100 and 10,000 µg C L⁻¹ (experiment 2) are presented in Figs. 6 and 7, respectively. The survival of *A. tonsa* was not affected by the increase in concentration of *A. catenella* between 20 and 1000 µg C L⁻¹ (ANOVA, df = 14, p = 0.310; Fig. 6A). Survival was only significantly reduced when offered *A. catenella* at the highest concentration treatment (Experiment 2: Fig. 7A) (ANOVA, df = 20, p = 0.001).

The calculated LC₅₀ was 12.45 ng STX eq L⁻¹ (Fig 7B), with a 95 % confidence interval between 10.31–14.0 ng STX eq (Fig. 7B). This corresponds to an *A. catenella* concentration of 7707 µg C L⁻¹, or ~4561,000 cell L⁻¹.

Clearance rates were variable, ranging between 5.1 and 13.5 mL copepod⁻¹ day⁻¹ and were not significantly affected by prey availability (ANOVA, df = 11, p = 0.52; Fig. 6B). Total ingestion rates ranged between 0.87 and 6.17 µg C copepod⁻¹ day⁻¹, and, by contrast, changed significantly as a function of prey concentration (ANOVA, df = 11, p = 0.0009; Fig. 6C). Post-hoc comparisons revealed that the ingestion rate observed when *A. catenella* was offered at a concentration of 1000 µg C L⁻¹ was significantly higher than the ingestion rates in all other treatments. Daily CSI rates ranged between 0.27 to 2.27 and also increased significantly as a function of the concentration of *A. catenella* (ANOVA, df = 11, p = 0.0003; Fig. 6D); the CSI rate in the treatment offering *A. catenella* at 1000 µg C L⁻¹ was significantly higher than in all of the other treatments.



A. catenella Concentration [mgC L⁻¹]

Figure 6. Survival and feeding of *Acartia tonsa* fed toxic algae (*Alexandrium catenella*) at 4 different concentrations. The bars show the mean value \pm standard deviation (SD). A: survival (%). B: clearance rates (mL Copd⁻¹ day⁻¹). C: Ingestion rate (µg C Copd⁻¹day⁻¹). D: Carbon Specific Ingestion (CSI: % C day⁻¹). Different letters denote significant differences (Tukey's test, p < 0.05).

39



LogLC₅₀= 4.095 μg STX eq. L⁻¹

LC₅₀= 12452 μg STX eq. L⁻¹

95% CI LogLC₅₀= 4.013 - 4.146 μ g STX eq. L⁻¹

95% CI LC₅₀ =10313 - 13997 μg STX eq. L⁻¹



Figure 7. Survival of Acartia tonsa females across 7 different concentrations of Alexandrium *catenella*. The bars show the mean \pm SD. A: survival. Different letters denote significant differences (Tukey's test, p < 0.05). B: The log10 curve of A. catenella concentration with normalized % of survival to determine the LC₅₀ of the survival experiment. The LC₅₀ was calculated as 12452 μ g STX eq L⁻¹ (7707 μ g C L⁻¹; 4561 cell mL⁻¹), with a 95 % confidence interval between 10313-13997 μ g STX eq L⁻¹.

3.4.2 Ingestion and selection for/against *A. catenella* in the presence of nontoxic cells

Clearance rates of *A. tonsa* were consistently lower $(0.0-1.9 \text{ mL copepod}^{-1} \text{ day}^{-1})$ when fed *A. catenella* than *Rhodomonas* sp. $(2.0-11.2 \text{ mL copepod}^{-1} \text{ day}^{-1})$ (Fig. 8A). The total CSI rate of *A. tonsa* (*Rhodomonas* sp. & *A. catenella*) was not affected by the proportion of *A. catenella* in the available prey field (ANOVA, df=10, p = 0.780). The majority of ingested carbon was always derived from *Rhodomonas* sp. (Fig. 8B & C), but the difference in the amounts ingested of *Rhodomonas* sp. and *A. catenella* was only statistically discernible at toxic algae (Tukey's test, df=11, p> 0.329 in both cases). Fig. 9 shows that the percentage of *Rhodomonas* sp. in the diet was consistently higher than that of the available food, whereas the percentage of *A. catenella* in the diet was consistently lower than available in the prey field.



% of toxic algae (A. catenella) in 1250 mg C/L

Figure 8. Mean (\pm SD) clearance and ingestion rates of *Acartia tonsa* fed a mixed diet of *Alexandrium catenella* (grey bars) and *Rhodomonas* sp. (black bars), where the total concentration of carbon in all treatments remained constant (1250 µg C L⁻¹). A: Clearance rates (mL Copd⁻¹ day⁻¹). B: Ingestion rate (µg C Copd⁻¹ day⁻¹). C: Carbon Specific Ingestion (CSI: % C day⁻¹). Survival was 100 % in all the of treatment levels. Different letters denote significant differences (Tukey's test, p < 0.05).



Figure 9. Prey selection of *Acartia tonsa* fed a mixed diet of *Alexandrium catenella* and *Rhodomonas* sp., where the total concentration of carbon in all treatments remained constant (1250 μ g C L⁻¹). Percent (%) Carbon *Rhodomonas* sp./*Alexandrium catenella* ingested (based on CSI: % C day⁻¹) versus % carbon of *Rhodomonas* sp./*Alexandrium catenella* in the prey field.

3.5 Discussion

This study examined how the feeding and survival of *A. tonsa* were influenced by the concentration of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, *A. catenella*. It also examined how the presence of alternative, non-toxic prey influenced food ingestion and patterns of prey selection.

3.5.1 Survival of *A. tonsa* feeding on *A. catenella*

Our study failed to discern any negative effects of a toxic strain of *A. catenella* on the survival of *A. tonsa* across a range of plausible environmental concentrations. Maximum reported densities of *A. catenella* in UK waters range between 5000 and 18,000 cells L⁻¹ (Bresnan et al., 2008), which equate to between 10 and 36 μ g C L⁻¹ (assuming *A. catenella* contains 2.0 ng C cell⁻¹; Table 2). Significant mortality was only observed at a concentration of 10,000 μ g C L⁻¹, equivalent to ~5919,000 cells L⁻¹. These data suggest that *A. tonsa* survival is unlikely to be affected during natural blooms of toxic strains of *A. catenella*. Our experimental animals had been maintained in culture for > 10 years without exposure to HA. We therefore suggest that it is unlikely that they possessed genetic resistance to the toxins of *A. catenella*. Indeed, the observed lethal median concentration (LC₅₀) of 12.45 ng STX eq L⁻¹ is equivalent to 7707 μ g C L⁻¹ or ~4561,000 cells L⁻¹. Our lethal median concentration

 (LC_{50}) was estimated using the toxin concentration profile of A. catenella that was determined prior to their exposure to copepod grazing. We cannot exclude the possibility that A. catenella increased toxin production during our grazing experiments (Griffin et al., 2019; Selander et al., 2015; Wohlrab et al., 2010) and therefore consider our LC₅₀ estimate to be conservative. Nevertheless, this concentration is two orders of magnitude higher than any of the maximum densities of A. catenella recorded in natural systems (Bresnan et al., 2008; Fauchot, Levasseur, Roy, Gagnon, and Weise, 2005). Our experiments were not designed to determine which of the toxins present (Table 3) were responsible for the observed effects. We therefore present toxicity as a saxitoxin equivalent (EFSA 2009). Through use of an ultra-sensitive detection method, we have the first reported evidence for the presence of certain PST analogues. For example, A. catenella is well known to contain C1&2, STX, NEO and GTX1–4 – but here we also demonstrate the presence of C4, GTX5, dcSTX and doSTX (Table 3). Our findings support the understanding that Acartia spp. are able to ingest toxic Alexandrium spp. without negative impacts on their survival (Colin and Dam, 2002; Dutz, 1998; Teegarden and Cembella, 1996). Nevertheless, it is probable that the effects of A. catenella are strain-specific; the toxicity of six different strains of A. *catenella* found in Scottish waters ranged between 2.8 - 10.5 pg STX eq cell⁻¹ (Brown et al., 2010).

3.5.2 Ingestion and prey selection

The ingestion rates observed in this study (μ g C Copd⁻¹ day⁻¹) agree well with those previously reported for the genus *Acartia* (Colin and Dam, 2002; Jiang et al., 2009; Zheng, Dam, and Avery, 2011), and demonstrate that *A. tonsa* can readily achieve CSI rates of >1 % day⁻¹ feeding on a toxin-producing species. Indeed, our results suggest that CSI rates observed when feeding on *A. catenella* alone may exceed those when feeding on nontoxic *Rhodomonas* at a similar concentration (compare Figs. 6C and 8C). This result is consistent with the observation that *Acartia grani* ingested more of the toxic dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium minutum*, than the non-toxic *Rhodomonas* controls (Costa, Pereira, and Fernandez, 2008). It has been suggested that copepods increase ingestion in order to compensate for the increased energy required for detoxification (Costa et al., 2008; Dutz, 1998). Compensatory feeding may also be required if the nutritional value of *A. catenella* is lower than the control diet of *Rhodomonas* sp. This has been shown to occur when *A. tonsa* was fed the nutritionally insufficient species of toxic algae, *Karenia brevis*, which lacks various fatty acids and other nutritional components, and affected egg production and hatching success in a manner similar to starvation (Collumb and Buskey, 2004; Prince et al., 2006). Unfortunately it is not possible to robustly distinguish between these two nonmutually exclusive mechanisms from the data presented herein. This study demonstrated that, in the absence of alternative prey, A. tonsa achieves similar daily CSI rates when fed either A. catenella (Fig. 6) or Rhodomonas sp (Fig. 8). However, when offered both species together, A. tonsa consistently selected for Rhodomonas and against A. catenella, even as the proportional abundance of the latter was increased (Figs. 8 & 9). This agrees with the understanding that A. tonsa can discriminate between different species of Alexandrium with different toxin contents, showing preference for the least toxic species (Colin and Dam, 2003; Selander, Thor, Toth, and Pavia, 2006; Teegarden, 1999; Turner and Tester, 1989). Similar results have been reported for A. tonsa fed on toxic K. brevis (Turner and Tester, 1989). Exactly how copepods achieve this food selection remains unclear; they may be able to physically distinguish different prey items prior to ingestion, or alternatively, their selection mechanisms may be based on a cell's palatability/toxicity or nutritional content. Physical incapacitation caused by toxicity would have resulted in decreased ingestion rates of the non-toxic algae (Colin and Dam, 2003), but the total CSI of A. tonsa (Rhodomonas sp. & A. catenella) was not statistically different between copepods fed a mixed diet and the control (0 % toxic algae) (Fig. 8C). It is possible that the apparent selection was size-related, as the equivalent spherical diameters (ESD) of A. catenella (25 µm) and Rhodomonas sp. (7 μm) were different. However, we suggest that this is unlikely as previous work has shown that female A. tonsa have an optimal prey size of 14.8 µm ESD, but are able to achieve approximately equal clearance rates when fed *Rhodomonas baltica* (ESD = $7 \mu m$) and the dinoflagellate Scripsiella faroense (ESD= 19 µm) (Berggreen, Hansen, and Kiørboe, 1988). Further work is required to determine if the apparent rejection of A. catenella is because of its palatability or its nutritional content.

3.5.3 Future-work

The presented 24 h experiments are an important first step towards understanding how marine copepods respond to toxin-producing algae. However, HA blooms in natural ecosystems last from a few days up to few months (Bresnan et al., 2008) and extended periods of exposure to toxic algae may cause substantial mortality within a population of copepods (Barreiro et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2009; Prince et al., 2006; Turner et al., 2014). Previous work has shown a time-dependant decrease in the feeding rates of the copepods *Euterpina acutifrons* and *A. grani* when exposed to the toxic dinoflagellate *Gymnodinium catenatum* (Costa, Pereira, and Ferrn.ndez, 2012). The presence of toxin-producing algae

can also lead to reduced rates of growth, respiration and egg production in copepods (Colin and Dam, 2007; Dutz, 1998). However, it is not yet known if these effects arise because of direct toxicity, the costs of detoxification, unpalatability of toxin producing cells, or the absence of particular elemental and biochemical components in the HA that are essential for healthy functioning of copepods. Indeed, it is possible for all four of these mechanisms to operate simultaneously, and determining the relative importance of each remains a challenge. We suggest that additional, longer-term experiments are required to better appreciate the population-scale effects of interactions between HA and copepods. Furthermore, a more detailed understanding of the energetic and nutritional requirements of copepods such as *A. tonsa* is required for us to determine if HA are in some way nutritionally inferior to other, non-toxin producing algae.

3.6 Conclusion

Our short-term experiments demonstrate that the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium catenella* does not have a direct impact on *Acartia tonsa* at concentrations typically encountered in natural systems. Decreased survival of *A. tonsa* was only apparent when offered *A. catenella* at a concentration two orders of magnitude higher than previously reported maximum densities. Ingestion rates of *A. tonsa* were not reduced when offered *A. catenella*, suggesting that the concentrations of toxins present in our experiments did not incapacitate *A. tonsa*. However, active selection towards non-toxic cells when presented simultaneously with *A. catenella* suggests that the toxins do act as a feeding deterrent. Further studies are required to understand the longer-term, sub-lethal effects of *A. catenella* on *A. tonsa*.

The influence of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, Alexandrium catenella (1119/27), on the survival and reproduction of the marine copepod, Acartia tonsa, during prolonged exposure

This Chapter has been published in Frontiers in Marine Science

Abdulhussain, A.H., Cook, K.B., Turner, A.D., Lewis, A.M., Bibby, T.S., Mayor, D.J. (2021) The influence of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27), on the survival and reproduction of the marine copepod, *Acartia tonsa*, during prolonged exposure. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 8, 652225. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2021.652225

AA designed and conducted the experiments, performed the statistical analyses, and wrote the manuscript. Toxin extraction and analyses were conducted by AA at CEFAS with assistance from AT and AL. Comments were provided by AL, AT, KC, TB and DM.

Note: non-toxic *Alexandrium catenella* (NAC): this name was used in this published paper, and taxonomic revision of *A. catenella* designated the non-toxic 'strain' as a different species (*A. tamarense*).

Chapter 4 The influence of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27), on the survival and reproduction of the marine copepod, *Acartia tonsa*, during prolonged exposure

Ali H. Abdulhussain^{1,2,3}*, Kathryn B. Cook¹, Andrew D. Turner⁴, Adam M. Lewis⁴, Thomas S. Bibby² and Daniel J. Mayor¹

¹ National Oceanography Centre, Southampton, United Kingdom,

- ² Ocean and Earth Science, National Oceanography Centre, University of Southampton, Southampton, United Kingdom
- ³ Department of Marine Science, College of Science, Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait
- ⁴ Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science (Cefas), Weymouth, United Kingdom

Keywords: Phytoplankton, Harmful algal bloom, Egg production, Paralytic shellfish poisoning, Saxitoxin, Copepod Survival

4.1 Abstract

Copepods can feed on, and may regulate, the blooms of harmful algae (HA), and may also facilitate dinoflagellate blooms by inducing toxin production and through selective grazing. However, exposure to HA may also cause mortality and reproductive impairment in copepods, with detrimental effects at the population-scale. Here we present the toxin profile of the dinoflagellate, Alexandrium catenella (formerly Alexandrium tamarense), and examine how it affects the survival and reproduction of the cosmopolitan marine copepod, Acartia tonsa. Healthy adult copepods were exposed to mono-specific diets of toxic and nontoxic strains of A. catenella (1119/27 and 1119/19, respectively) and non-toxic Rhodomonas sp. for 10 days alongside unfed controls to examine how their survival was influenced by likely HA bloom conditions. Additional 2-day experiments examined how their egg production rate and hatching success were affected by food deprivation, toxic A. catenella, a non-toxic alternative and a mixture of toxic and non-toxic prey, at high and low concentrations. Survival of A. tonsa declined over the 10-day experiment in all treatments but was not significantly lower in the toxic A. catenella treatment; mortality was only significantly enhanced in the unfed animals, which showed 100 % mortality after 9 days. Egg production rates and hatching success from females in the unfed and toxic A. catenella treatments were all significantly lower than values observed in females fed Rhodomonas sp. or nontoxic A. catenella. Animals offered 1,000 µg C L⁻¹ of Rhodomonas sp. and a 50:50

mixture of toxic *A. catenella* and *Rhodomonas* sp. produced significantly more eggs than animals fed toxic *A. catenella* alone. These results were not apparent at prey concentrations of 100 μ g C L⁻¹. The percentages of eggs to successfully hatch from females offered mono specific diets of toxic *A. catenella* were always close to zero. Collectively, our results indicate that adult female *A. tonsa* can acquire sufficient energy from toxic *A. catenella* to survive, but suffer reproductive impairment when feeding on this prey alone.

4.2 Introduction

In the past five decades, harmful algal (HA) blooms, which are caused by toxic or noxious species, have increased in frequency, duration, and distribution, resulting in major environmental and economic impacts (Hallegraeff, 1993; Anderson et al., 2012). Regardless of whether or not these increases are due to changing observational frequencies, HA blooms can be toxigenic, creating blooms that cause disease and death in a number of marine species including fish, seabirds, and mammals (Hallegraeff, 1993; Anderson et al., 2012). The impacts of HA on marine life and humans due to consuming intoxicated shellfish might result in illness or mortality (Wang, 2008). However, the interactions between toxic algae and potential grazer species are complex, inconsistent, and difficult to compare between studies due to different concentrations of HA used as food, the level of toxins in the food and the various responses of the species examined.

The dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* [formerly reported in this area as *Alexandrium tamarense* Group I, reassigned taxonomically by John et al. (2014) and Fraga et al. (2015), acknowledged in Prud'homme van Reine, 2017] can be found in the United Kingdom waters and some strains (such as 1119/27) are associated with shellfish toxicity and produce paralytic shellfish poisoning toxins (PSP), while others can be found naturally non-toxic (such as 1119/19). PSP toxin derivatives are divided into three main groups: carbamate-, N- sulfocarbamoyl-, and decarbamoyl- toxins. Compared to other PSP toxins, the carbamate toxins saxitoxin (STX) and neosaxitoxin (NEO) are considered as the most potent. Gonyautoxins 1 to 4 (GTX1, GTX2, GTX3, and GTX4) are other highly potent analogs, whereas N-sulfocarbamoyl (C) toxins and some of the decarbamoyl (dc) are considered less potent (Cook et al., 2010). Saxitoxins have mainly neurological effects through the blockage of sodium channels (Luckas et al., 2015). Consumption of shellfish contaminated with PSP toxins can cause breathing difficulties, gastrointestinal problems, and a sense of dissociation followed by complete paralysis in humans and other vertebrates

(Wang, 2008). However, it remains unclear how exposure to and/or consumption of PSP toxins affect invertebrate fitness.

Zooplankton, and particularly copepods, are major grazers of phytoplankton and can influence phytoplankton dynamics (Runge, 1988; Mann, 1993; Mitra and Flynn, 2006). Copepods dominate the zooplankton communities in most marine water bodies worldwide, and play an important role in the transfer of carbon from phytoplankton to higher trophic levels such as fish and marine mammals (Mann, 1993; Dam, 2013). Toxic algae may affect the survival, feeding and fitness of copepods, and lead to lower growth and reproduction rates in their populations (Barreiro et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2009; Waggett et al., 2012). These impacts would ultimately result in less food available to higher trophic levels, and may therefore have negative ecological effects (Dam, 2013; Turner, 2014).

In some cases, copepods are reported to show negative effects when feeding on neurotoxic dinoflagellates, with symptoms consistent with toxicity (Dutz, 1998; Xu and Kiørboe, 2018; Xu et al., 2018; Prevett et al., 2019) and decreased fitness (Cohen et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2009). In other cases, neurotoxic dinoflagellates were consumed by copepods without obvious adverse effects (Teegarden and Cembella, 1996; Abdulhussain et al., 2020). Dinoflagellates that are not known to produce neurotoxins may also adversely affect copepod fitness, e.g., by reducing egg production and hatching success (Ianora et al., 2004). Copepods may produce detoxification enzymes to reduce the impact of toxins (Dutz, 1998; Costa et al., 2008). However, a recent gene expression study that examined the impact of the toxic dinoflagellate, A. catenella (reported as Alexandrium fundyense), on the marine copepod, Calanus finmarchicus, showed that detoxification is not the main component of the response (Roncalli et al., 2016). Rather, the main genes that responded were related to digestion, suggesting that toxins may reduce the absorption of food and therefore the reproductive output without an impact on survival. It is generally recognized that there is no single obvious relationship between phytoplankton neurotoxicity and effects on plankton grazers, and that experiments involving sympatric grazers and prey species are necessary to understand trophic interactions in the plankton (Smayda, 1997; Turner and Tester, 1997).

The resistance of marine copepods to HA has been well documented (Colin and Dam, 2002, 2005, 2007; Jiang et al., 2011; Zheng et al., 2011). Copepods with a history of cooccurrence with HA were found to have higher survival and ingestion rates when exposed to HA blooms (Turner et al., 2000, 2005; Maneiro et al., 2005; Doucette et al., 2006). They may have evolved tolerance to HA species that co-occur in the same region. Some copepods have a discrete toxin-resistant phenotype that suggests a simple genetic mechanism evolving to adapt and tolerate Paralytic Shellfish Poisoning (PSP) toxins during HA blooms (Avery and Dam, 2007). For example, the fitness of *Acartia hudsonica* increased for several generations after feeding on *A. catenella* (reported as *A. fundyense*), which indicates that adaptation occurred (Finiguerra et al., 2014). Mutations of the sodium channels have been suggested as a possible mechanism (Avery and Dam, 2007; Chen et al., 2015). However, exposure of *A. hudsonica* to HA did not induce an increased proportion of mutant isoforms (Finiguerra et al., 2014), which suggests that mutation in the sodium channel was not responsible.

The majority of studies examining how copepods respond to HA exposure have been conducted over approximately 1 day (Turner, 2014). This duration is sufficient to quantify grazing and discern patterns of feeding selectivity, but may be insufficient to determine any deleterious effects of the HA on grazers since there is a considerable delay in the effect of grazers' response to toxins, and acclimatization may also take time to occur (Ianora and Miralto, 2010; Turner et al., 2012), e.g., due to the time required to produce detoxification enzymes (Kozlowsky-Suzuki et al., 2009). Short-term exposure to toxic algae might not result in significantly increased mortality compared to non-toxic algae. However, extended periods of exposure to toxic algae may cause substantial mortality within a grazers' population (Prince et al., 2006; Barreiro et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2009; Drillet et al., 2015). Results from short-term, e.g., 24 h, experiments may therefore hinder our ability to understand how copepods are affected by exposure to natural blooms of HA, which can last from a few days up to a few months (Bresnan et al., 2008).

Here we exposed adult female *A. tonsa* to mono-specific diets of toxic and non-toxic strains of *A. catenella* and nontoxic *Rhodomonas* sp. for 10 days alongside unfed controls to examine how their survival was impacted by probable conditions experienced during a HA bloom. In addition, 2-day experiments examined how their egg production rate and hatching success were influenced by the type of food available and its concentration. Our results are presented alongside a full toxin profile for *A. catenella* in each of the experiments conducted.

4.3 Materials and methods

4.3.1 Culture condition

All phytoplankton were grown in a culture cabinet at 15 °C with a 16:8 h (Light:Dark) photoperiod, using seawater collected from the Western Channel Observatory monitoring site L4 off Plymouth, United Kingdom (https://www.westernchannelobservatory.org.uk), amended with either F/2 (*Rhodomonas* sp.) or L1 (*A. catenella*) medium (Guillard and Ryther, 1962; Guillard and Hargraves, 1993). *Acartia tonsa* were purchased from Reefshotz, Cardiff, United Kingdom, where they have been cultured for >10 years, and were subsequently cultured in artificial seawater (Tropic Marin Sea salt, Classic Meersalz; salinity 31) at room temperature (21 ± 2 °C) for >15 months prior to experimentation. Details of the culturing conditions for all phytoplankton species and for *A. tonsa* can be found elsewhere (Abdulhussain et al., 2020). The toxic *A. catenella* was strain 1119/19 (CCAP Port Ellen, Islay, Scotland). *A. tonsa* cultures were fed *Rhodomonas* sp. (59.0±7.8 pg C cell⁻¹) before experiment 3 at a concentration of 60,000 cells mL⁻¹ (2,000 ± 1,000 µg C L⁻¹) three times a week.

4.3.2 Influence of toxic *A. catenella*, starvation, and non-toxic prey alternatives on the survival of *A. tonsa*

Experiment 1 examined how the survival of *A. tonsa* was affected by a 10-day exposure to either food deprivation (starved) or one of three different types of food: *Rhodomonas* sp. (RHO), toxic *A. catenella* (TAC) and non-toxic *A. catenella* (NAC). Prey cells were offered at a nominal concentration of 1,000 μ g carbon (C) L⁻¹ to ensure that feeding conditions were always saturating (Berggreen et al., 1988; Abdulhussain et al., 2020). Individual adult females were incubated in 15 mL glass dram vials with 10 mL of sterile filtered L4 seawater (0.2 mm; SFSW hereafter) for 10 days at 19 °C with a 12:12 h (L:D) photoperiod. Each of the four treatment levels was replicated fifteen times (total = 60 bottles). Nominal prey concentrations were achieved by determining the algal stock culture concentration using a Beckman Multisizer 3 Coulter Counter equipped with a 70 mm aperture and subsequently diluting it with an appropriate volume of SFSW. Each copepod was carefully transferred into a petri dish at the end of every 24 h incubation period and examined for survival, determined by movement after mechanical stimulus. Surviving copepods were subsequently pipetted into clean 15 mL vials of fresh SFSW containing the

same species and concentration of prey cells that they had previously been exposed to. Algal concentrations in the stock cultures were counted every other day using the Coulter Counter. Triplicate 5 mL samples from the stock cultures of each of the three prey types (RHO, TAC, and NAC) were collected onto pre-combusted 13 mm glass fiber filters (Whatman GF/F) on the start of days 1 and 9 of the experiment, dried overnight at 40 °C and stored in a desiccator prior to determining their carbon and nitrogen content (Carlo Erba EA-1108 elemental analyzer). Triplicate 30 mL samples of the TAC stock culture were collected at the outset of the experiment, centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 20 min, and the resulting pellets were transferred into 2 mL Eppendorf tubes and stored frozen at -80 °C until toxin profile analysis (see section "Toxin Analysis").

4.3.3 Influence of toxic *A. catenella*, starvation, and non-toxic prey alternatives on the egg-production and hatching success of *A. tonsa*

Experiment 2 examined how the egg production rate of A. tonsa was affected by different types of food: RHO, TAC, and NAC. Prey cells were offered at a nominal concentration of 1,000 µg C L⁻¹. Four adults (three females and one male) were incubated in 150 mL LPDE plastic bottles with an inner mesh compartment of 120 mm (to separate the adult from the eggs produced during the experiment) filled with 100 mL of SFSW for 2 days at 19 °C with a 12:12 h (L:D) photoperiod. Each of the four treatment levels (starved, RHO, TAC, NAC: 12 bottles) was replicated three times. The experiment was run over 2 days, with the first day being considered as an acclimation period (Breier and Buskey, 2007; Cohen et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2009; Waggett et al., 2012; Abdulhussain et al., 2020). Hatching success was therefore only calculated for eggs produced on day 2. After the first day, the mesh compartments containing copepods were transferred to another LPDE plastic bottle with fresh SFSW containing the same species and concentration of prey cells that they had previously been exposed to. The eggs left in the LPDE plastic bottles from day 1 were counted under a stereomicroscope (to observe the response of A. tonsa to TAC during the acclimation period: see Appendix B). At the end of day 2, copepods in each treatment were carefully transferred into a petri dish and examined for survival (see section "Influence of Toxic A. catenella, Starvation, and Non-toxic Prey Alternatives on the Survival of A. tonsa"). Eggs produced on day 2 were counted and then transferred into petri dishes for 48 h at 19 °C with a 12:12 h (L:D) photoperiod before counting the eggs hatched for each group, and calculating percentage hatching success (equation 1):

% hatching success = $\frac{\text{total number of eggs hatched from day 2}}{\text{total number of eggs produced on day 2}} \times 100$ Equation 1

Samples to determine the toxin- and elemental-content of the algal cultures were collected on the start of day 2 (see section "Influence of Toxic *A. catenella*, Starvation, and Non-toxic Prey Alternatives on the Survival of *A. tonsa*").

4.3.4 Influence of toxic *A. catenella*, starvation, and mixed diet prey alternatives on the egg-production and hatching success of *A. tonsa* at high and low concentrations

Experiment 3 was conceptually similar to experiment 2, but examined how the egg production rate and hatching success of A. tonsa was affected by low (100 mg C L⁻¹) and high (1,000 mg C L⁻¹) concentrations of: RHO, TAC, and a diet where the carbon content was derived from 50 % RHO to 50 % TAC (MIX hereafter). Each of the seven treatment levels (starved, low RHO, high RHO, low TAC, high TAC, low MIX, and high MIX) was replicated three times (two times for low MIX; total = 20 bottles). Samples to determine the toxin- and elemental-content of the algal cultures were collected at the start of the experiment (after the acclimation period) (see section "Influence of toxic *A. catenella*, starvation, and non-toxic prey alternatives on the survival of *A. tonsa*").

4.3.5 Toxin analysis

The frozen pellets of *A. catenella* from each experiment were mixed with 1.5 mL of 1 % acetic acid before being vortex-mixed for 90 s at 2500 rpm. Solutions were subjected to probe sonication (Sonic Dismembrator, Fisher Scientific) set to 30 % power for 1.5 min per sample. After sonication, vials were re-mixed, and 400 mL taken for desalting clean-up using carbon solid phase extraction (SPE). Details of the toxin extraction, column, mobile phases, chromatographic separation, and HILIC-MS/MS analysis conditions are described elsewhere (Turner et al., 2015, 2019; Abdulhussain et al., 2020).

4.3.6 Data analyses

The effects of 10 days of exposure to food deprivation, RHO, TAC, and NAC on the survival of *A. tonsa* were examined using Kaplan Meier survival analysis:

$$S_{t+1} = S_t \times \frac{N_{t+1} - D_{t+1}}{N_{t+1}}$$
 Equation 2
Where S is the Survival probability; t is time in days; N is the number of *A. tonsa* that survived; and D is the number of *A. tonsa* that died. Curve comparisons were achieved using the Log-rank test. Standard errors are presented to show the deviation from the population mean. The influence of feeding conditions (starved, RHO, TAC, and NAC) on the egg production of *A. tonsa* in experiment 2 was examined using 1-way ANOVA. Egg hatching success was examined using a 1-way ANOVA. The influence of food type (starved, TAC, MIX) and food concentration (100 or 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹) on the egg production of *A. tonsa* in experiment 3 were examined using 2-way ANOVA. Egg hatching success was examined using a 2-way ANOVA. All explanatory variables were treated as categories. Post hoc comparisons were conducted using Tukey's test with alpha = 0.05. Standard errors are presented for the egg production and hatching experiments to show the variation within each treatment. All statistical analyses were carried out using Prism Graphpad (v.8.4) software.

4.4 **Results**

The carbon and nitrogen contents of the prey cells offered in the different experiments are presented in Table 4. TAC toxin profile concentrations, and their saxitoxin (STX) equivalent, are presented in Table 5.

Table 4. The concentrations of carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) (pg cell⁻¹) \pm Standard error (SE) in the different prey cells offered to *Acartia tonsa* in the three experiments (Exp.). NA = not applicable. ESD: mean equivalent spherical diameter (μ m). See Methods text for further details.

Species	Exp.	Day	C ± SE (pg cell ⁻¹)	N ± SE (pg cell ⁻¹)	C:N	ESD (µm)
Rhodomonas sp.	1	1	57 ± 0.03	14 ± 0.43	4.1	6-8
	1	9	63 ± 0.21	8 ± 0.06	7.9	6-8
	2	NA	67 + 0.36	19 + 0.58	3.5	6-8
	3	NA	49 ± 0.97	9 ± 0.36	5.4	6-8
Non-toxic	1	1	3552 ± 57.3	732 ± 15.5	4.9	20-40
Alexandrium	1	9	2980 ± 524	609 ± 84	4.9	20-40
catenella- 1119/19	2	NA	1488 ± 9.0	400 ± 31.5	3.7	20-40
Alexandrium	1	1	4950 ± 30	1100 ± 53.3	4.5	20-40
catenella -	1	9	3336 ± 168	1042 ± 50.9	3.2	20-40
1119/27	2	NA	4640 ± 30	1070 ± 32.5	4.3	20-40
	3	NA	2103 ± 34.21	410 ± 19.53	5.1	20-40

Table 5. *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27-Loch Ainort) toxin profile concentrations (fmol cell⁻¹). Cell toxicity of saxitoxin equivalent concentrations are calculated in (fg STX eq. cell⁻¹). A: toxin profile concentrations for experiment 1 and 2. B: toxin profile concentrations for experiment 3. Saxitoxin (STX), neosaxitoxin (NEO), Gonyautoxins 1 to 4 (GTX1, GTX2, GTX3, GTX4), N-sulfocarbomoyl (C1, C2, C3, C4) toxins, decarbomoyl (dc) toxins.

A. Toxin Concentration, fmol cell ⁻¹													
C1	C2	C3	C4	dcGTX2	dcGTX3	dcGTX1	dcGTX4	GTX6	dcNEO				
0.35	1.08	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd				
									STX				
									eq cell ⁻¹				
									(fg STX eq				
GTX2	GTX3	GTX1	GTX4	GTX5	doSTX	dcSTX	STX	NEO	cell ⁻¹)				
0.76	0.55	nd	0.41	0.18	nd	nd	0.26	nd	501.1				

B. Toxin Concentration, fmol cell ⁻¹													
C1	C2	C3	GTX6	dcNEO									
0.27	3.06	nd	0.15	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd				
GTX2	GTX3	GTX1	GTX4	GTX5	doSTX	dcSTX	STX	NEO	STX eq cell ⁻¹ (fg STX eq cell ⁻¹)				
0.43	1.49	nd	2.06	0.15	nd	nd	3.74	3.36	3575.5				

4.4.1 Influence of Toxic *A. catenella*, starvation, and non-toxic prey alternatives on the survival of *A. tonsa*



Figure 10. *Acartia tonsa* survival when exposed to RHO (*Rhodomonas* sp.; blue circles), TAC (toxic *Alexandrium catenella* 1119/27; green triangles), and NAC (non-toxic *A. catenella* 1119/19; red squares) at a concentration of 1,000 µg C L⁻¹ or when starved (purple diamond). Dots (N=15) are mean value, and error bars show the standard error (SE).

The survival of female *A. tonsa* declined significantly across the 10-day duration of the experiment (Fig. 10; Log-rank test, Chi square = 29, df = 3, p < 0.001). However, survival was only significantly reduced in the starving group, where there was 100 % mortality by day 9 (Fig. 10; Log-rank test, Chi square = 29, df = 3, p < 0.001). Survival of the females offered RHO (73 %), TAC (80 %), and NAC (60 %) at nominal concentrations of 1,000 µg C L⁻¹ were statistically indistinguishable, with an average survival of 71 ± 10 % across these treatments (Fig. 10; Log-rank test, Chi square = 1, df = 2, p = 0.525).





Figure 11. Egg production and hatching success of *Acartia tonsa* fed on RHO (*Rhodomonas* sp.; blue circles), TAC (toxic *Alexandrium catenella* 1119/27; green triangles), and NAC (non-toxic *A. catenella* 1119/19; red squares) at a concentration of 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹ or when starved (purple diamond). The dots are replicates and bars show the mean ± standard error (SE). A: Eggs produced (24-48 h) after acclimation period. **B**: Nauplii hatched (48-96 h). The a and b letters above bars show the post-hoc comparisons between the treatments with shared letters denoting no significant difference.

The egg production rate of *A. tonsa* was affected by the type of food they received (Figure 11A: 1-way ANOVA, F (3,8) = 13.24, $p \le 0.0115$). The females offered RHO and NAC produced significantly more eggs (17.7 ± 4.9 and 14.1 ± 5.7 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹, respectively) than those offered TAC (2.4 ± 2.3 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹) and starved (1.0 ± 0.6 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹) (Figure 11A). The hatching success of eggs produced on day 2 was influenced by the maternal feeding conditions (1-way ANOVA, F (3,7) = 11.53, p = 0.0042). Hatching success of the eggs from females that had received RHO (60 ± 9.7 %) and NAC (56± 23.9 %) was higher than the eggs from females fed TAC (0 %) or starved (7 ±11.5 %) (Figure 11B).

4.4.3 Influence of toxic *A. catenella*, starvation, and a mixed diet on the egg production and hatching success of *A. tonsa* at high and low food concentrations



Figure 12. Egg production and hatching success of *Acartia tonsa* fed on RHO (*Rhodomonas* sp.; brown inverted triangles and blue circles, 100 & 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹, respectively), TAC (toxic *Alexandrium catenella* 1119/27; black circles and green triangles, 100 & 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹, respectively), and MIX (50:50 mixture of both cell types; orange circles and red squares, 100 & 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹, respectively) at two concentrations: 100 & 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹ or when starved (purple diamond). The dots are replicates, and bars show the mean ± standard error (SE). A: Eggs produced (24-48 h) after acclimation period. **B**: Nauplii hatched (48-96 h). The a and b letters above bars show the post-hoc comparisons between the treatments with shared letters denoting no significant difference.

The egg production rate of *A. tonsa* was affected by food type and food quantity (Fig. 12 A, 2-way ANOVA, food type: F (3,15) = 40.0; food quantity F (1,15) = 25.0, $p \le 0.002$ in both cases). Copepods that were fed on MIX at 1,000 µg C L⁻¹ produced significantly fewer eggs (4.7 ± 1.2 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹) than in the RHO treatment at the same concentration (9.0 ± 1.3 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹) but significantly more than the females that received TAC (0.3 ± 0.3 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹) (Fig. 12A). Egg production rates in the 100 µg C L⁻¹ treatments were all similarly low (Fig. 12A). The hatching success of the eggs produced was influenced by the food type and food quantity (Fig. 12B, 2-way ANOVA, F (3,15) = 15.39 and 6.32, respectively, $p \le 0.0238$ in both cases). The hatching success of eggs from females that were fed 1,000 µg C L⁻¹ of RHO (58 ±14 %) and MIX (56 ± 25 %) were both higher than TAC (0 %) and starved (0 %) (Fig. 12B), whereas the hatching success of eggs from females fed at 100 µg C L⁻¹ of RHO (67 ± 18 %), MIX (60 ± 28 %) and TAC (62 ± 28 %) were all similar.

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 A. catenella toxin composition and concentrations

The elemental content, and composition and concentrations of toxins, of A. catenella (1119/27) were all variable (Tables 4, 5), despite being grown under near identical conditions. For example, the total toxin concentration was 501.1 STX eq cell⁻¹ for experiments 1 and 2, and 3575.5 STX eq cell⁻¹ for experiment 3. Some of the factors that can change the toxin levels within a HA bloom are turbulence (Juhl et al., 2001), salinity (Grzebyk et al., 2003), and nutrient conditions (Turner et al., 1998; John and Flynn, 2002; Leong et al., 2004). Toxin levels can also vary with growth phase in cultured algae (Hamasaki et al., 2001; Cook et al., 2010). We suggest that the differences in toxicity in our laboratory-based study were caused by differences in the nutrient concentrations of the seawater that was used for culturing TAC: Experiment 1 and 2 were conducted during January 2020, and experiment 3 during July 2019, when surface nitrate and phosphate concentrations close their highest were to and lowest, respectively (https://www.westernchannelobservatory.org.uk/l4 nutrients.php). Moreover, in response to nutrient stress and chemical signals from copepods, HA can dramatically increase the development of PSP toxins (Wohlrab et al., 2010; Selander et al., 2015; Griffin et al., 2019). A group of predator cues called copepodamides (also known as taurine-containing lipids; Mayor et al., 2015), which are exuded by three species of calanoid copepods (Centropages typicus, Pseudocalanus sp., and Calanus sp.) have been found to trigger increased PSP toxins in dinoflagellates, as well as amnesic shellfish poisoning (ASP) toxins in diatoms (Selander et al., 2019). It is therefore possible that the toxin content of the prey cells increased during our incubations and the concentrations presented in Table 5 should be considered minimal. These differences highlight the importance of reporting toxin profile concentrations, particularly in the context of copepod survival, grazing, and egg production studies. This makes it easier to robustly compare between different studies.

4.5.2 Survival of *A. tonsa* exposed to toxic *A. catenella*

Exposure of *A. tonsa* to a toxic strain of TAC for 10 days did not significantly affect their survival relative to the NAC treatment. Rather, increased mortality was only observed in the starved treatment (Fig. 10). These findings suggest that *A. tonsa* is able to feed and survive on TAC over the likely duration of a typical bloom of TAC (Bresnan et al., 2008), regardless of their toxicity. Previous 24 h experiments showed that *A. tonsa* can feed upon

TAC and survive blooms two orders of magnitude higher than the maximum densities of A. catenella recorded in natural systems (Abdulhussain et al., 2020), possibly by producing detoxification enzymes (Dutz, 1998; Costa et al., 2008) or by reducing food absorption efficiency (Asselman et al., 2012; Roncalli et al., 2016). Bloom concentrations of TAC are generally low and typically last for only a few days (Bresnan et al., 2005), although more persistent blooms are reported (Bresnan et al., 2008). Our findings therefore support the understanding that *Acartia* sp. tolerate exposure to TAC for the typical duration of naturally occurring blooms without negative impacts on the survival of adults (Liu and Wang, 2002; Estrada et al., 2008). However, exposure to high densities of HA for an extended period may cause substantial mortality within Acartia spp. populations (Prince et al., 2006; Barreiro et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2009). Thus, the response of *Acartia* spp. appears to vary between different studies, possibly because of different toxin concentrations (section "A. catenella Toxin Composition and Concentrations"). Higher survival rates of A. tonsa in this study compared to other survival experiments could also be a result of reduced encounter rates between individuals as each experimental vial contained only one female per treatment replicate. However, in denser cultures, elevated encounter rates between individuals may increase levels of stress and cannibalism, potentially resulting in higher rates of mortality (Drillet et al., 2015).

4.5.3 Egg production and hatching success of *A. tonsa* exposed to toxic *A. catenella*

The average egg production rate of *A. tonsa* feeding on RHO in our 2-day exposure experiments, ~17 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹ (Fig. 11), agrees with values previously reported for the genus *Acartia* sp. (range = 9–76 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹; Prince et al., 2006; Barreiro et al., 2007; Breier and Buskey, 2007; Jiang et al., 2009; Waggett et al., 2012). Our results reveal that egg production and hatching success were affected by the types of food available and the concentration at which it was offered (Figs. 11, 12), with the observed values being significantly lower in the TAC treatments relative to those in the NAC and RHO treatments (Figure 11). Egg production rates by females fed RHO, NAC and MIX (50 % RHO, 50 % TAC) at 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹ were also significantly higher than those fed TAC alone. By contrast, the rates of females fed TAC were not statistically different to those of the starved animals (Figs. 11, 12). Furthermore, the percentages of eggs to successfully hatch from females offered mono-specific diets of toxic *A. catenella* at concentration of 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹ were always close to zero. These results are consistent with the observation that reproduction in

Acartia clausi is negatively affected when consuming toxic *Alexandrium minutum*, and that these effects can be alleviated by offering mixed diets (Barreiro et al., 2006, 2007).

Acartia tonsa can discriminate between different species of Alexandrium with different toxin contents, showing preference for the least toxic species (Xu et al., 2018; Abdulhussain et al., 2020). Copepods are thought to be capable of rejecting toxic prey cells (Cook et al., 2010; Abdulhussain et al., 2020) or consume them at lower rates than a similarly sized nontoxic cells (Xu and Kiørboe, 2018). It is therefore possible that the reduced egg production rate in the TAC treatment could be caused by starvation. However, we know that A. tonsa is capable of surviving and feeding on TAC when alternative prey are not available (Abdulhussain et al., 2020). This understanding is further supported by the current study, where survival of A. tonsa in TAC treatment was significantly higher than in the starved treatment (section "Survival of A. tonsa exposed to toxic A. catenella"). The significantly lower egg production rates observed in the TAC treatments of both experiments is therefore unlikely attributable to a starvation effect. The negative effects of TAC on the observed egg production rates and hatching success may have occurred because (a) the females were directly impeded by the toxins, (b) the females needed to produce detoxification enzymes, and therefore had to channel energy and other resources away from producing viable eggs, (c) the presence of toxins reduced the efficiency with which food is absorbed, and therefore reduced the amount of energy and other resources available for producing viable eggs, or (d) TAC were in some way nutritionally inferior to the other diets offered.

Nutritionally deficient food and the presence of toxins have both been suggested to cause reduced egg production in *Acartia* sp. (Dutz, 1998; Collumb and Buskey, 2004; Prince et al., 2006; Costa et al., 2008). The survival of females exposed to TAC was not significantly lower than females exposed to the non-toxic prey treatments, apparently suggesting that TAC toxins do not necessitate additional metabolic costs associated with the production of detoxification enzymes to the extent that they have a discernible, negative effect on the overall physiological performance of *A. tonsa*. However, copepods may increase their ingestion rates when feeding on toxic dinoflagellates in order to compensate for the increased energy required for detoxification (Dutz, 1998; Costa et al., 2008) or reduce the efficiency with which they absorb food (Asselman et al., 2012; Roncalli et al., 2016). For example, ingestion rates of *A. tonsa* were higher when fed on toxic *A. catenella* relative to animals fed on non-toxic *Rhodomonas* sp. at a food saturating concentration

of 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹ (Abdulhussain et al., 2020). Compensatory feeding may also be necessary if the nutritional value of HA is lower than other non-toxic food (Collumb and Buskey, 2004; Prince et al., 2006). Our survival experiments were conducted at a food saturating concentration of 1000 μ g C L⁻¹ (Berggreen et al., 1988; Abdulhussain et al., 2020) and we cannot therefore exclude the possibility that the females increased their ingestion rates to offset any additional metabolic costs. Nevertheless, even if compensatory feeding did occur, it was clearly insufficient to mitigate the negative effects on reproduction associated with ingesting TAC. Egg production rates of females fed NAC, which we assume to have a highly similar nutritional make up to TAC, were indistinguishable from those fed on RHO, a food source that is widely assumed to support optimal reproductive output in *Acartia* spp. (Støttrup et al., 1986; Berggreen et al., 1988). We therefore suggest that the reduced rates observed in the TAC treatment (Fig. 11) were not attributable to the absence of nutritive compounds; they occurred because of the presence of toxins, although the specific mechanism cannot be elucidated here.

The negative effects of consuming TAC were less apparent when prey cells were offered at 100 μ g C L⁻¹, where egg production rates were similarly low across all treatments (Fig. 12A). This agrees with the understanding that lower food concentrations limit growth, reproduction, and survival (Berggreen et al., 1988). Interestingly, the hatching success of the few eggs produced by females fed TAC at 100 μ g C L⁻¹was similarly high when compared to the values observed in the other, non-toxic treatments. This may suggest that there is a toxin-threshold level, beyond which eggs do not hatch.

Prey cell size can influence the outcome of copepod feeding experiments. However, in our study, differences between Rhodomonas (6–8 mm ESD) and I. galbana (4–6 mm ESD) were trivial, suggesting that these are unlikely to cause differences in the feeding rates of our experimental animals. Indeed, previous work has shown that female *A. tonsa* have an optimal prey size of 14.8 mm ESD, but are able to achieve high clearance rates when feeding on both *Rhodomonas* and on the dinoflagellate *A. catenella* (ESD = 20–40 mm) (Berggreen et al., 1988; Abdulhussain et al., 2020). Moreover, despite differences in the feeding histories of the animals in experiments 2 and 3, the outcomes of these two experiments were qualitatively and quantitatively the same: EPR and hatching success in the TAC and starved treatments in both experiments were similarly low (not different to zero); EPR and hatching success in the RHO treatments in both experiments were always higher than in the TAC and starved treatments (Figs. 11, 12); ERP in the RHO treatments were not statistically different between

the two experiments (Paired t-tests: t = 3.965, df = 2, p = 0.058). These results would not have occurred if any feeding history effects had not been accounted for within the 24 h acclimation period.

Finally, in the real environment, there are usually more than one species of algae available for copepods to feed on. The availability of alternative prey suggests that the impact of HA on copepod egg production may be very low due to availability of other algae. Nevertheless, it is clear that further work is required to understand the energetic and nutritional requirements of *A. tonsa* and their developing embryos, and how these are directly and indirectly affected when ingesting toxin-producing prey species.

4.6 Summary

The survival of *A. tonsa* exposed to monospecific diets of either toxic and non-toxic *A. catenella* or *Rhodomonas* sp. declined over a 10-day incubation experiment. However, mortality only increased significantly in unfed copepods, which showed 100 % mortality after 9 days. Egg production and hatching success rates of *A. tonsa* exposed to 1,000 g C L⁻¹ toxic *A. catenella* were not significantly different from starved animals, but were significantly lower than animals fed 1,000 μ g C L⁻¹ of non-toxic *A. catenella*, *Rhodomonas* sp., or a 50:50 mix of toxic *A. catenella* and *Rhodomonas* sp. Egg production and hatching success rates of eggs produced by females that were fed either *Rhodomonas* sp., toxic *A. catenella* or a 50:50 mix of toxic *A. catenella* and *Rhodomonas* sp. at 100 μ g C L⁻¹ were not significantly different. Further studies are required to understand the physiological basis of why female *A. tonsa* can feed and survive on toxic *A. catenella*, but display reproductive impairment as a result

The influence of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenell*a (1119/28) on the feeding and reproduction of *Calanus helgolandicus*

This Chapter submitted to Journal of Plankton Research

Abdulhussain, A.H., Cook, K.B., Bresnan, E., Lacaze, J.P., Mayor, D.J. (Submitted) The influence of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/28) on the feeding and reproduction of *Calanus helgolandicus*. J. Plankton Res.

The raw data underpinning this Chapter were generated by KC, EB & JL and provided to me to mitigate the effects of laboratory closure throughout 2020 due to periods of national lockdown during the global pandemic.

AA analysed the data, created the figures and wrote the manuscript. KC and EB designed and conducted the experiments. Toxin extraction and analyses were conducted by JL. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

Chapter 5 The influence of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/28) on the feeding and reproduction of *Calanus helgolandicus*

Ali H. Abdulhussain ^{1,2,3}, Kathryn B. Cook ¹, Eileen Bresnan ⁴, Jean-Pierre Lacaze ⁴, Daniel J. Mayor ¹

¹National Oceanography Centre, Southampton, United Kingdom

² Ocean and Earth Science, University of Southampton, National Oceanography Centre, Southampton, United Kingdom.

³ Department of Marine Science, College of Science, Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait.

⁴ Marine Scotland Science, Marine Laboratory, Aberdeen, United Kingdom

Keywords: Phytoplankton, Harmful algal bloom, Copepod feeding, Egg production, Paralytic shellfish poisoning, Saxitoxin.

5.1 Abstract

Copepods of the genus *Calanus* dominate the biomass of pelagic ecosystems from the Mediterranean Sea up into the Arctic Ocean and form an important link between phytoplankton and higher trophic levels. Impacts from toxin-producing harmful algae (HA) have been recorded throughout this region over the last 50 years, with potentially negative effects on *Calanus* spp. populations and the ecosystem functions and services they provide. Here we examine how ingestion, egg-production and egg-viability in *Calanus helgolandicus* are affected by the relative abundance of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella*, in their diet. Our four-day experiments demonstrate that the ingestion rate of *C. helgolandicus* declined significantly as the percentage of toxin-producing *A. catenella* within their diet increased, whereas egg production and egg viability were unaffected. Toxin profile concentrations for *A. catenella* are presented alongside body toxin-loads in *C. helgolandicus* as 3.6-356.6 pg STX eq. copepod⁻¹, approximately 0.02-3.3 % of the toxins ingested. Our work suggests that the effects of exposure to *A. catenella* may be negligible in the short-term but could manifest if bloom conditions persist for longer than our experimental duration.

5.2 Introduction

Copepods of the genus *Calanus* are one of the most common calanoid copepods in the North Atlantic, with populations ranging from the mid-Atlantic Shelf off the east coast of the United States, the Mediterranean Sea, and up into to the Barents Sea north of Norway (Conover, 1988, Planque et

al., 1997; Bonnet et al., 2005). *Calanus* is an important food source for many commercially important fish and also seabirds in the North Atlantic (Gaard & Reinert, 2002; Gislason & Astthorsson, 2002; Ringuette et al., 2002; Beaugrand et al., 2003; Steen et al., 2007; Wold et al., 2011). The warmerwater species, *Calanus helgolandicus*, is widely distributed throughout the Eastern North Atlantic, with particularly high abundances in the Western European Shelf region (Barnard et al., 2004; Bonnet et al., 2005; Choquet et al., 2017). The abundance and geographical distribution of *C. helgolandicus* in the Atlantic are positively related to temperature (Bonnet et al., 2005). Indeed, *C. helgolandicus* and other species associated with warmer water have shifted northwards by ten degrees of latitude over the last 7 decades with *C. helgolandicus* replacing the boreal species, *Calanus finmarchicus*, in regions of warming (Beaugrand et al., 2002; Choquet et al., 2017). Changing the geographical distribution and abundance may result in a possible mismatch between copepods and their phytoplankton prey, with wider consequences for ecosystem functioning (Edwards & Richardson, 2004). However, although there is a strong link between *C. helgolandicus* distribution and temperature, other factors relating to environmental change may also affect their ability to survive (e.g. Cook et al., 2007; Mayor et al., 2012).

Of the ~5000 species of extant marine phytoplankton, ~40 are able to produce potent toxins that can reach humans through fish and shellfish (Hallegraeff, 1993; Hallegraeff et al., 2021). Blooms of these harmful algae (HA) are a globally recurring issue, the distribution and frequency of which appear to have changed in recent years (Hallegraeff, 1993; Edwards et al., 2006; Anderson et al., 2012). The apparent increase in the impacts from HA blooms can be attributed to increasing monitoring programs (Bresnan et al., 2021; Hallegraeff et al., 2021), but global climate change and anthropogenic pollution may also be contributing to the observed changes (Edwards et al., 2006; Hallegraeff et al., 2021; Nohe et al., 2020; Marampouti et al., 2021; Søgaard et al., 2021). Dinoflagellates are responsible for the majority of HA blooms (Sopanen et al., 2011) and are often associated with major environmental and economic issues (Hallegraeff, 1993; Anderson et al., 2012; Hallegraeff et al., 2021), causing disease and death in a variety of marine animals, including fish, seabirds, and mammals (Wang, 2008; Jensen et al., 2015; Kershaw et al., 2021).

Toxic algae can affect copepod survival, feeding, and reproduction by decreasing ingestion, growth and egg production rates in their populations (Colin & Dam 2003; Barreiro et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2009; Abdulhussain et al., 2020, 2021). The presence of algal toxins may cause copepods to reject prey cells (Teegarden, 1999), or, once ingested, result in physical incapacitation that inhibits feeding (Sopanen et al., 2011). The paralytic shellfish toxin (PST)-producing dinoflagellate,

Alexandrium spp., has been observed to adversely affect the feeding (Turriff et al., 1995; Campbell et al., 2004) and fitness (Roncalli et al., 2016) of C. finmarchicus. However, other studies have shown that C. finmarchicus consumed neurotoxic dinoflagellates and diatoms without apparent negative effects (Turner & Borkman 2005; Leandro et al., 2010) and C. helgolandicus is also reported to feed on the okadaic acid-producing dinoflagellate, *Dinophysis* spp., with no apparent impact on their ingestion (Wexels Riser et al., 2003). Copepods may accumulate PSTs when feeding on Alexandrium spp. (Teegarden & Cembella, 1996; Teegarden et al., 2003; Campbell et al., 2004) and transfer these to higher trophic levels, including marine mammals (Durbin et al., 2002; Doucette et al., 2006). However, most observations show that the tissues of copepods retain only a small fraction of the ingested toxins after feeding. C. finmarchicus fed on Alexandrium spp. in the field and laboratory accumulated toxins at a rate of 0.41-0.89 ng STX eq. copepod day⁻¹ with a retention efficiency of 1 - 2 % of the total toxin ingested (Campbell et al., 2004). Acartia hudsonica fed Alexandrium fundvense at ~ 3000 cells mL⁻¹ accumulated toxins up to 54 μ g STX eq g⁻¹ of wet weight within only 6 h of exposure, equating to ~ 10 % of the total toxin ingested (White, 1981). In addition, the toxin retention efficiencies of two copepod species, Acartia tonsa and Eurytemora herdmani, were typically < 5 % of ingested Alexandrium spp. toxins (Teegarden and Cembella, 1996). These low retention efficiencies suggest that toxins are either transformed and excreted as other compounds and/or are directly eliminated in dissolved form, perhaps by regurgitation (Guisande et al., 2002; Teegarden et al., 2003) or excretion.

To date, the majority of studies examining how *Calanus* spp. respond to PST-producing HA have been conducted over ~ 24 h (Hassett, 2003, Teegarden et al., 2001, Turner, 2010, Turner & Borkman, 2005). This duration is sufficient to understand the immediate patterns of prey selectivity, but may not be sufficient to determine the effects of HA on reproduction as *Calanus* spp. may take > 24 h to convert ingested food into eggs (Hirche et al., 1997), and may also produce eggs from maternal biomass when feeding conditions are poor (e.g. Niehoff et al., 1999; Mayor et al., 2009). Here, we used 4-day incubation experiments to examine how feeding, egg production and egg viability in *C. helgolandicus* were affected by the relative abundances of the toxic dinoflagellate, *A. catenella* (1119/28), and the non-toxic species, *A. tamarense* (1119/33), in their diet. *A. catenella* [formerly *Alexandrium tamarense*, North American strain (Scholin et al., 1994) Group I (Lilly et al., (2007) reassigned taxonomically (John et al., 2014; Fraga et al., 2015), acknowledged in Prud'homme van Reine, (2017)] is widely distributed (Hallegraeff, 1993; Brown et al., 2010; Anderson et al., 2012) and reported as a nuisance species in Scotland, Iceland, the Faroe Islands and Norway. It can reach cell densities of between 1000 and 2000 cells L⁻¹ and result in levels of PSTs in shellfish flesh that

exceed the EU regulatory limit of 800 μ g STXeq/KG for several weeks resulting in closures of shellfish harvesting areas in Northern Europe (Bresnan et al., 2005; 2008; Brown et al., 2010). Our results are presented alongside a full toxin profile for *A. catenella*, as well as body toxin profiles for *C. helgolandicus* at the end of our experiments.

5.3 Materials and methods

5.3.1 Collection and culture conditions

Adult female *C. helgolandicus* were collected from the Scottish Coastal Observatory site at Stonehaven in the North West North Sea (56° 57.8N 02° 06.2W) using a 1m ring net fitted with a 350 µm mesh and a non-filtering cod-end. Upon collection, copepods were diluted with fresh seawater and transported to the laboratory within 4 h. The copepods were maintained in 10 L tanks with a 12 h photoperiod and fed Phyto Feast® Live (a mix of *Tetraselmis, Isochrysis, Pavlova, Nannochloropsis, Thalassiosira, Amphora* and *Synechoccus*) and Roti-Feast® (*Brachionus plicatilis* animals and eggs) produced by Reed Mariculture. All experimental work was conducted in a controlled temperature room at 13 °C.

5.3.2 Collection and culture of organisms

The dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella*, was isolated from Scapa, Orkney, UK, between 2007-2008. The two species examined were toxic *A. catenella* (Acat: W08/056/01; 1119/28) and non-toxic *A. tamarense* (Atam: W07/069/01; 1119/33). All phytoplankton were grown in a temperature-controlled room at 15 °C with 24 h photoperiod, using seawater from Stonehaven, UK which was filtered (4.7 mm Whatman GFF filters) and amended with L1 medium.

5.3.3 Examining how the relative abundances of toxic and non-toxic *Alexandrium* spp. affect feeding, egg production and egg viability in *C. helgolandicus*

Food removal experiments (Båmstedt et al., 2000) were used to examine how, for a given total quantity of food, ingestion rates for *C. helgolandicus* changed in response to changes in the relative abundances of Acat and Atam. Adult female *C. helgolandicus* were carefully transferred via pipette into a 10 L bucket of 0.2 μ m filtered seawater (FSW hereafter) and incubated for 24 h to clear their guts. Experiments were conducted in 100 mL beakers, each containing a total of 400 μ g C L⁻¹ of algae (see Section 2.4) to ensure that feeding conditions were always saturating. The five experimental treatment levels contained 0 %, 25 % 50 %, 75 % and 100 % of Acat-derived carbon, with the

remainder being provided via Atam. These concentrations were achieved by determining the cell concentrations of the A. catenella stock cultures, adding the required amounts of Acat and Atam to the incubation bottles, and subsequently topping them up with an appropriate volume of FSW. Nine bottles at each of the five treatments level were initially set up (total n = 45), with 50 mL samples from each of three bottles from each treatment level being immediately preserved with acidified Lugol's iodine to enumerate the number of cells at the start of the experiment. Three female C. helgolandicus were added to each of three grazing bottles at each treatment level and incubated alongside triplicate control bottles at each treatment level for four consecutive 24 h periods. At the end of each 24 h period, the copepods were removed from the grazing bottles using a 200 µm mesh and transferred into FSW. The number of motile copepods observed after mechanical stimulus was recorded before they were transferred into new beakers containing fresh medium at the experimental conditions they had previously experienced. The eggs left in the beakers were collected with a 63 µm mesh, washed with FSW and counted using a binocular microscope (Wild M3) before determining their viability (Section 2.4). Ingestion was determined at the end of days 1 and 3 by preserving 50 mL water samples from each of the grazing and control bottles with acidified Lugol's iodine. At the end of day 4, the experimental copepods from each treatment level were grouped together, transferred into single 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes and frozen at -80 °C for toxin content analysis (Section 2.4).

5.3.4 Analytical methods

The carbon contents and toxin concentration profiles were determined from the stock cultures of Acat and Atam prior to their exposure to copepod grazing. The density of cells in each culture was counted from a 1 mL subsample using a Sedgewick rafter cell and a ZEISS X200 inverted microscope. The average volume of a cell in each culture was calculated using the diameter of 30 cells, measured using a calibrated eyepiece graticule, and the equation for calculating the volume of a sphere. Carbon content of an average cell was calculated using the C:volume relationship for protist plankton excluding diatoms (Menden-deuer & Lessard, 2000; pgC cell⁻¹ = 0.216 x volume^{0.939}). Cells in experimental bottles with acidified Lugol's iodine were counted from a 50 mL subsample settled for 48 h in a Utermöhl chamber. The copepod daily clearance and ingestion rates were calculated using established equations (Frost, 1972) and expressed as mL copd⁻¹ day⁻¹ and μ g C copepod⁻¹ day⁻¹, respectively.

Egg viability was examined using SYTOX® Green (Buttino et al., 2004); live cells are impermeant to this stain, making it a useful indicator of dead cells and hence eggs that will not hatch.

In brief, the eggs were incubated for 50 minutes in chitinase solution (final concentration 1 mg mL⁻¹ in FSW) at room temperature and subsequently stained using SYTOX® Green nucleic acid stain (final concentration 20 μ M in DMSO) for 50 minutes in the dark at room temperature. The number of fluorescent eggs was counted using a Zeiss Axiovert 200 inverted fluorescence microscope and used to calculate the percentage of viable eggs likely to hatch.

The samples of *C. helgolandicus* and the Acat and Atam cultures that were collected during the feeding experiment were analysed for PSTs using the PCOX method (Van de Riet et al., 2011). The Acat and Atam culture samples (Table 6) were centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 20 minutes (multiple stages) to form pellets of 250,000 cells in 2 mL Eppendorf tubes. The supernatants were removed using a pipette and the pellets were then stored at -20 °C until extraction. Glass beads (180 µm, 100 \pm 20 mg) were acid-washed and added to the Eppendorf tubes. The extraction solvent (0.5 M acetic acid, 100 µL) was then added with a calibrated pipette. The cells were extracted for two minutes at 25 Hz using a TissueLyser 2. Following microscopic confirmation that the cells had ruptured, they were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatants were transferred to 0.2 µm Ultrafree-MC centrifugal filters using a pipette fitted with a long tip and this was followed by centrifugation for five minutes at 10,000 rpm. The *C. helgolandicus* samples (6 – 9 individuals per sample: Table 7) were extracted using the same techniques. All extracted filtrates were transferred to pre-insert amber vials and were immediately analysed by HPLC following the PCOX method (Van de Riet et al., 2011). This method provides a very low limit of detection for the N-sulphocarbomoyl I toxins, whereas the limits of detection for the other PSTs are ~ 10 – 80 fold higher.

5.3.5 Data analyses

The gross retention efficiency of toxins was calculated as:

Retention efficiency (%) = $\frac{\text{Body toxin concentration (pg STX diHCl eq.)}}{\text{Total toxicity ingested (pg STX diHCl eq.)}} * 100$ Equation 1

This assumes that the diet is proportionally consistent with the food available. The influence of the relative abundance of Acat and Atam and sampling day on rates of 1) clearance, 2) ingestion, 3) egg production and 4) egg viability in *C. helgolandicus* were all examined using analysis of variance (ANOVA) using backwards selection. The treatment levels '% Acat' and 'Day' were treated as continuous and categorical variables, respectively. All statistical analyses were carried out using the software Prism Graphpad (v.9.2).

5.4 Results

5.4.1 A. catenella toxin analyses and body toxin concentrations of C. helgolandicus

Toxin profile concentrations of Acat, Atam, and *C. helgolandicus* are presented in Tables 6 & 7, respectively. STX, NEO, GTX3 and C2 were the four main toxins present. No PSTs were detected in the Atam culture used in this experiment (Table 6). The total toxicity retained in *C. helgolandicus* ranged between 3.6-356.6 pg STX diHCl eq. copepod⁻¹. Only NEO (sample day 4: 25% Acat), C1 (samples day 4: 50 and 75 % Acat) and C2 (all 4 samples) toxins were detected in the copepods fed on mixtures of Acat and Atam, demonstrating that the copepods had ingested the toxic *Alexandrium* cells.

Table 6. Paralytic Shellfish Toxins content of the Alexandrium catenella (Acat) and Alexandrium tamarense (Atam) cultures used during the feeding and egg production experiment.

Sample type	Time of Analysis		PST (fg STX diHCl eq. cell ⁻¹)													
	(d)	GTX1	GTX2	GTX3	GTX4	GTX5	dcGTX 2	dcGTX 3	STX	NEO	dcSTX	C1	C2	Overall Toxicity		
Acat	0	0	36.9	615	0	28.4	0	15.8	1135	1236	0	5.7	846	3918.8		
(w08/056/0 1: 1119/28)	1	0	46.6	555	0	19.2	0	26.2	1049	928	0	4.6	381	3009.6		
	2	0	14	391	0	18.2	0	3.6	924	846	0	2.2	299	2498		
	3	0	27.3	525	0	20.9	0	17.6	1068	1024	0	3.5	408	3094.3		
Atam (W07/069/0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
1: 1119/33)	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		

Table 7. Toxin concentration profiles of experimental *Calanus helgolandicus* adult females. % *Alexandrium catenella* (Acat) toxin retained calculated as shown in equation 1.

No. animals analysed (survived after experiment)	Exposure time (day)	e % Acat in diet	PST (pg STX diHCl eq. copepod ⁻¹)													
			GTX 1	GTX 2	GTX 3	GTX 4	GTX 5	dcGTX 2	dcGTX 3	STX	NEO	dcSTX	C1	C2	Overall Toxicity	% Toxin Retained
9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-
9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-
9	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-
6	4	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	102	0	0	2.4	104.4	1.7 %
8	4	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8.6	348	356.6	3.3 %
9	4	75	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.2	51	52.2	2.9 %
9	4	100	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3.6	3.6	0.02 %



5.4.2 Feeding of *C. helgolandicus* in the presence of toxic and non-toxic *Alexandrium* spp.

% contribution of toxic Alexandrium catenella to the 400 mg C L⁻¹ offered as food

Figure 13. Clearance (A) and ingestion (B) rates of Calanus helgolandicus fed 400 μ g C L⁻¹ with a variable contribution of toxic *Alexandrium catenella* and non-toxic *Alexandrium tamarense* after day 1 (circles) and day 3 (*triangles*).

Clearance rates of *C. helgolandicus* ranged between 30 - 176 mL copepod⁻¹ day⁻¹. The observed rates decreased significantly as the percentage of Acat in the diet increased and also differed between the experimental days (Fig. 13A, % Acat: F = 12.25, p = 0.002; Day: F = 6.11, p = 0.02). Total ingestion rates ranged between 8.6 – 17.9 µg C copepod⁻¹ day⁻¹, and declined significantly as a function of the relative abundance of Acat in the available prey field but was not affected by the experimental day on which the observations were made (Fig. 13B, % Acat: F = 61.68, p < 0.001; Day: F = 1.82, p = 0.189).





% contribution of toxic Alexandrium catenella to the 400 mg C L⁻¹ offered as food

Figure 14. Daily (A, C) and total over the whole duration (B, D) egg production and viability of *Calanus helgolandicus* fed 400 μ g C L⁻¹ with a variable contribution of toxic *Alexandrium catenella* and non-toxic *Alexandrium tamarense* over four consecutive 24 h incubation periods. See inset legends for symbols used.

The daily egg production rate of *C. helgolandicus* across all treatments ranged between 0 - 11.7 eggs copepod⁻¹ day⁻¹ (Fig 14A). The observed rates were not significantly affected by the relative abundance of Acat in the available prey field (Fig. 14A, % Acat: F = 0.465, p = 0.498) but there was some evidence to indicate that they did decline as a function of time (Fig. 14B, Day: F = 4.416, p = 0.040). The viability of the eggs produced over the duration of the experiment ranged between 0 - 100 %, and was not significantly influenced by either of the treatments examined (Fig. 14C, % Acat: F = 0.049, p = 0.8266; Day: F = 0.956, p = 0.420).

The total numbers of eggs produced across the four days in the 100 % Atam and 100 % Acat treatments ranged between 1.7 - 15 eggs copepod⁻¹ day⁻¹ and 0.5 - 4 eggs copepod⁻¹, respectively, and reached a maximum of 20 eggs copepod⁻¹, occurred in the 50 % Acat treatment (Fig. 14C). Total egg production over the four-day experiment was not influenced by the relative abundance of Acat in the diet (Fig. 14D, % Acat: F = 0.306, p = 0.590).

5.5 Discussion

This study examined how the feeding, egg production and egg viability in *C*. *helgolandicus* were influenced by the relative abundance of toxic- and non-toxic dinoflagellates, *Alexandrium catenella* (Acat) and *Alexandrium tamarense* (Atam), respectively. It also presents a full toxin profile for Acat, as well as body toxin concentrations of *C. helgolandicus* after feeding on Acat for four days.

5.5.1 Feeding of *C. helgolandicus* in the presence of toxic and non-toxic *Alexandrium* spp.

C. helgolandicus appeared capable of consuming a typical food ration over the duration of our experiment, even when offered a diet consisting of 100 % Acat. The clearance and ingestion rates observed in this study agree with those previously reported for copepods of the genus Calanus when feeding upon natural microplankton assemblages (Irigoien et al., 2000; Wexels Riser et al., 2003; Mayor et al., 2006, 2009; Castellani et al., 2008) and toxic dinoflagellates (Turriff et al., 1995; Campbell et al., 2004; Teegarden et al., 2008; Roncalli et al., 2016). Nevertheless, both clearance- and ingestion rates decreased as the percentage of Acat increased in the prey field (Fig.13). C. finmarchicus is reported to be capable of distinguishing between toxic and non-toxic dinoflagellates (Campbell et al., 2004), and reduced food intake may have resulted because the animals were actively selecting against Acat. However, cells were clearly ingested in the 100 % Acat treatment and hence this explanation seems unlikely, particularly as the Acat and Atam in our experiments were physically identical. We therefore suggest that the negative effect of increasing the relative abundance of Acat in the food on clearance and ingestion rates did not result from C. helgolandicus selecting against Acat cells on the basis of their physical attributes. It was not possible to discern between Acat and Atam when counting the Lugol's samples from the grazing experiment, and thus we cannot investigate this suggestion further. However, other studies indicate that Calanus spp. consume both toxic and non-toxic prey with little or no selectivity (Turner & Borkman 2005; Teegarden et al., 2008; Roncalli et al., 2016), and this is consistent with the understanding that the diet of Calanus is often proportionally equivalent to that of the food environment (Mayor et al., 2006, 2009; Castellani et al., 2008; Teegarden et al., 2008; Djeghri et al., 2018). We therefore suggest that the negative relationship between % Acat and food intake was attributable to a noxious effect of the ingested toxins. This effect could have been exacerbated by the experimental animals exuding copepodamides (also known as taurine-containing lipids; Mayor et al., 2015), which are reported to significantly increase the production of PSTs in dinoflagellates and their

release into the water column (Wohlrab et al., 2010; Selander et al., 2015, 2019; Griffin et al., 2019).

Copepods are known to be able to feed on toxic algae with no ill-effects for several days (Roncalli et al., 2016), although ingestion rates have been shown to decrease over time (Guisande et al., 2002; Colin & Dam, 2003). We found that clearance rates were significantly higher during day 3, relative to those during day 1 of the experiment, although this result appears to be driven primarily by the 100 % Atam treatment and hence seems unlikely to be related to any toxin-related effect. Total ingestion rates remained unchanged across the two time points examined and our results therefore suggest that the negative impact of Acat on feeding began at the onset of exposure, and did not increase over the duration of the experiment.

Acat negatively affected ingestion, and could therefore impact upon the ability of *Calanus* spp. to successfully complete their lifecycle and contribute to vital ecosystem processes, including the transfer of biomass to higher trophic levels. However, realistically, in the natural environment there are multiple species of prey to feed upon, and given that HA cells typically form a relatively small proportion of the available prey biomass (e.g. Harris et al., 2000; Bresnan et al., 2008; Fehling et al., 2012), their impact on the feeding of *C. helgolandicus* and its congeners seems likely to be low (Turner & Borkman 2005; Leandro et al., 2010; this study). Overall, our results suggest that this might not be a significant threat at this stage, given that Acat forms only low biomass HA blooms in the North East Atlantic. However, there have been records of big *Alexandrium* blooms and resting cysts in the Chukchi and Beaufort Seas in the Pacific Ocean (Natsuike et al., 2013; Anderson, 2021), which could potentially impact any copepod there, especially during summer where there is a mass occurrence of copepods in the Southern Chukchi Sea (Kim et al., 2020).

5.5.2 Egg-production and viability of *C. helgolandicus* in the presence of toxic and non-toxic *Alexandrium* spp.

The egg production rates of *C. helgolandicus* feeding on Acat across the 4-day exposure experiments, 0 - 11.7 eggs copepod⁻¹ day⁻¹ (Fig. 14A), agree well with values previously reported for *Calanus* spp. feeding on natural microplankton (Pond et al., 1996; Jónasdóttir et al., 2005; Mayor et al., 2006, 2009; Castellani et al., 2008), and toxic *Alexandrium sp.* (Niehoff et al., 2000; Jansen et al., 2006; Madsen et al., 2008; Roncalli et al., 2016). The observed range of egg viability over the duration of the 4-day experiment, 0

- 100 % (Fig. 14C), did not differ significantly between the treatments, and agrees well with values previously reported for *C. helgolandicus* and *C. finmarchicus* (Jónasdóttir et al., 2005; Mayor et al., 2007).

Increasing the toxin concentration in the diet has previously been shown to negatively affect copepod egg production rates (Båmstedt et al., 1999; Roncalli et al., 2016; Abdulhussain et al., 2021), but our results suggest that egg production of *C. helgolandicus* was not affected by the consumption of Acat (Fig. 14A & D). Calanus spp. are known to accumulate significant biomass reserves, and may adopt a spectrum of reproductive strategies, from capital breeding (from internal reserves), to income breeding (from ingested food) (Mayor et al. 2009; Sainmont et al., 2014). The available evidence suggests that C. *helgolandicus* is typically an income breeder, with egg production being positively associated with various descriptors of food availability (e.g. Pond et al., 1996). However, we did not determine if/how the biomass of C. helgolandicus changed throughout our experiments, and therefore cannot exclude the possibility that they were able to offset the negative effects of toxin ingestion and/or reduced food intake by producing eggs from stored reserves. Future experiments that use longer incubation periods and/or monitor the biomass of females over time are required before any negative effects of Acat on egg production in C. helgolandicus can be dismissed. In addition, Acat blooms are common on the West Coast of UK (specifically: Stonehaven, UK) throughout the range of experimentally collected C. helgolandicus (Bonnet et al., 2005; Bresnan et al., 2008; Brown et al., 2010; Bresnan et al., 2021), and it has been suggested that copepods that co-exist with HA may develop tolerance to their toxins (Turner and Borkman 2005; Teegarden et al., 2008). Thus, our observed result may be because C. helgolandicus has evolved tolerance to the toxins of Acat.

The marginally significant decline in egg production rate as a function of time observed across all treatments (p = 0.04: Fig. 14B) is not uncommon for *Calanus* spp. when incubated over several days. This could have occurred because the animals were not consuming enough food to sustain normal egg production rate (Mayor et al., 2007), or because the available food was lacking essential dietary components (Pond et al., 1996). Alternatively, if the eggs were produced from previously ingested food and/or stored reserves, the decrease in egg production through time may indicate that these reserves were becoming depleted. Regardless, these effects were apparent across all treatments, and were therefore not a response to the presence of Acat. Similarly, although egg viability was highly variable, it was not influenced by the relative abundance of Acat over the 4-day experimental period. It has been shown that both toxic and non-toxic species of *Alexandrium* produce

extracellular allelochemicals, secondary metabolites that limit the growth of microalgae and heterotrophic protists (Tillmann & John, 2002; Tillmann et al., 2008), and these are also suggested to dramatically decrease egg production and hatching success in Temora stylifera and C. finmarchicus by interfering with fertilization or egg viability (Ianora et al., 2004, Roncalli et al., 2016). Thus, the variable egg viability observed in the Acat and Atam treatments is not surprising. However, there are other physiological reasons that might have resulted in egg viability being highly variable. For example, it could have resulted from the eggs being produced from nutritionally-deficient food ingested prior to experimentation (e.g. Pond et al., 1996; Jónasdóttir et al., 2002), or because the incubated females were at different phases of their spawning cycle. We made no attempt to assess if the females had previously mated, and hence some of the unhatched eggs could have also been attributable to individuals that had not previously mated. It is important to note that variability in egg viability in the real environment is often observed, e.g. Jónasdóttir et al. (2005) showed that the hatching success of C. helgolandicus in the North Sea varies greatly throughout the year at different sampling stations and egg viabilities < 50 % in this species are not uncommon. Similarly, Miralto et al. (2003) showed that during diatom blooms in the northern Adriatic Sea, copepod egg production rates were high, but only 10 % of the eggs produced by C. helgolandicus were viable. C. helgolandicus egg viability is positively related to the total and relative contribution of specific taxa to the diet due to seasonal variability (Harris et al., 2000; Irigoien et al., 2000).

5.5.3 Body toxin concentrations of *C. helgolandicus*

The toxin profile analysis showed that the bodies of *C. helgolandicus* retained 0.02 - 3.3 % of the ingested toxins after feeding on Acat for four days, assuming that the diet is proportionally consistent with the prey field (Table 7). Retention efficiencies for *A. tonsa, A. hudsonica, Centropages hamatus, C. finmarchicus, and Eurytmora herdmani* fed on *Alexandrium* spp. are also reported to vary between 0.2 - 10 % (White, 1981; Teegarden and Cembella, 1996; Teegarden et al., 2003; Campbell et al., 2004). These low retention efficiencies suggest that marine copepods are either able to metabolise toxins, or void them from their bodies via excretion, egestion or regurgitation (White 1981; Sykes & Huntley 1987; Guisande et al., 2002; Teegarden et al., 2003; Wexels Riser et al., 2003; Maneiro et al., 2002, 2005). Guisande et al. (2002) found low concentrations of PSTs in tissues and fecal pellets of *A. clausi* feeding on *Alexandrium minutum*, and suggested detoxification and excretion of dissolved toxins as the mechanisms of toxin loss. This interpretation would result in time-dependent increases in toxin degradation products within copepod tissues (e.g. metabolism of sulphocarbomoyl toxins to gonyautoxins and eventually to saxitoxins), as

well as increased overall levels of toxins within their tissues. However, Teegarden et al., (2003) questioned this 'metabolic detoxification' pathway as studies suggesting detoxification (e.g. Teegarden & Cembella 1996; Guisande et al., 2002) did not observe these effects. An alternative explanation for the lower impact of toxins is that copepods feeding on HA lower the efficiency with which they absorb materials from their food. Teegarden (1999) suggested that the absorption of both toxins and carbon may be lower for copepods feeding on toxic *Alexandrium* cells, relative to a non-toxic diet. For example, A. tonsa, C. hamatus, and E. herdmani fed non-toxic Atam over the course of 24 h showed an increase in total body carbon (14-28 %), whereas copepods fed toxic A. fundyense either had no significant gains in body carbon (C. hamatus) or lost a significant amount of body weight (A. tonsa, and E. herdmani), despite the fact that the total carbon 'ingested' (32-63 % body weight day⁻¹) was not significantly different between the two diets offered (Teegarden, 1999). These results suggest that not absorbing carbon from toxin-producing Alexandrium sp. may help lower the impact of toxins. Alternatively, Sykes & Huntley (1987) suggested that toxic dinoflagellates may cause acute physiological reactions when ingested, inducing regurgitation. This idea was also supported by Teegarden et al., (2003), who suggest that regurgitation or sloppy feeding could explain the observed low efficiencies with which toxins are retained.

Regardless of the low toxin retention efficiencies in copepods, species at higher trophic levels may still be at risk due to chronic exposure (Kershaw et al., 2021). Forty different species of fish tested for toxin accumulation in Scottish waters found PST in 96.2 % of the samples. Since there were no HA recorded during the months when the fish were sampled, the concentrations reported in the study are unlikely to represent the acute doses ingested by fish during HA events (Kershaw et al., 2021). Therefore, even low toxin retention efficiencies may still enable toxins to be passed up the food chain and accumulate in higher trophic levels at discernible levels. Most previous experiments examined toxin accumulation in copepods over 24 h, and little is known about how increasing the exposure time will affect rates of detoxification, acclimatization or toxin accumulation in copepods. This considerable knowledge gap hinders our ability to understand how the transfer of toxins to higher trophic levels will change as the frequency and magnitude of toxin-producing HA blooms change in the future.

5.6 Conclusion

Blooms of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, *A. catenella*, may have a direct or indirect impact on *C. helgolandicus*. Food ingestion by *C. helgolandicus* declined as the relative abundance of the *A. catenella* in the available food increased. This may decrease the transfer of biomass from *C. helgolandicus* to higher trophic levels. Egg production and egg viability in *C. helgolandicus* were not affected by increasing the relative abundance of *A. catenella* in the available food. This may indicate that *C. helgolandicus* is able to tolerate the toxins produced, but could also suggest that eggs released within the 4-day experiments were produced either from food ingested prior to experimentation, or from maternal reserves. The body toxin concentrations within *C. helgolandicus* after 4 days of feeding on *A. catenella* were low, indicating that toxin retention efficiencies were also low. These results suggest that the impact of *A. catenella* blooms on *C. helgolandicus* are likely to be minimal; however, even low toxin retention efficiency in copepods may still result in the transfer of toxins to higher trophic levels.

Discussion

6.1 Impact of harmful algae on copepods

If HA toxins are primarily used as grazing deterrents, copepods should avoid consuming algae that produce them. However, numerous copepod species have been found to ingest a variety of toxic HA species without negative influence. There were no obvious negative effects from grazing on toxic algae in several cases (Turner & Tester, 1989; Colin & Dam, 2002; Teegarden et al., 2001; Hassett, 2003; Turner & Borkman, 2005; Appendix A). However, there are number of cases where negative effects were reported, including reduced rates of feeding egg production, egg hatching success, survival, delayed development, and behavioral alterations (Turriff et al., 1995; Barreiro et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2009; Sopanen et al., 2011; Costa et al., 2012; Appendix A). Varied amounts of HA consumed as food, different levels of toxins in the ingested cells, and different tolerance to various toxins by different copepod species from different studies.

6.1.1 Impact of harmful algae on copepod feeding (mono-specific diet experiments)

In my studies, A. tonsa and C. helgolandicus showed different feeding behaviours when exposed to mono-specific diets of toxic cells. A. tonsa consumed more toxic A. catenella than the control algae Rhodomonas sp. (Chapter 3), suggesting that they feed to compensate for metabolic costs associated with detoxification or that A. catenella is somehow nutritionally insufficient as a food source. On the other hand, C. helgolandicus consumed less toxic A. catenella than the control, non-toxic A. tamarense (Chapter 5), suggesting that HA toxins may impair or suppress their ability to feed. Mono-specific feeding experiments are important for understanding how HA affect the feeding behaviour of copepods, but they are often not representative of the real environment. HA blooms do not happen in the absence of other phytoplankton species, and grazers do not just eat HA during their blooms. In order to observe negative HA impacts in the field, it is likely that there must be a high concentration of toxin-producing cells, few prey alternatives, and active feeding on the toxic cells (Pierson et al., 2005); therefore, the design of laboratory experiments should include mixed food choices to represent the real environment. In addition, it has been shown that the adverse effects of HA can be reduced by alternate food choices or by dilution (Lee et al., 1999; Turner et al. 2001; Colin & Dam, 2002; Frost, 2005; Leising et al., 2005; Li et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008; Poulet et al., 2006; Sommer, 2009).

6.1.2 Impact of harmful algae on copepod feeding (mixed-diet experiments)

When grazing on a mixed diet, A. tonsa was found to discriminate against toxic A. catenella and showed a preference for the non-toxic Rhodomonas sp. which is considered high quality food for A. tonsa (Chapter 3). Total ingestion in the mixed diet treatment was not influenced by changing the proportion of toxic cells in the prey field between 25, 50, and 75 % toxic cells. The ability of A. tonsa to discriminate between Alexandrium with different toxin contents is well known; preference for the least toxic species have been well documented (Turner & Tester, 1989; Teegarden, 1999; Colin & Dam, 2003; Selander et al., 2006). Thus, the influence of toxic A. catenella on A. tonsa feeding appears to be minimal when alternative food is available. By contrast, C. helgolandicus reduced their total ingestion rate in the mixed diet treatments, relative to the non-toxic control (Chapter 5). The decreased ingestion rates likely reflect physical incapacitation due to increased toxicity in the treatments (Colin & Dam, 2003; Sopanen et al., 2011). The apparently contradictory results for A. tonsa and C. helgolandicus are consistent with previous studies. Differences in the feeding behaviours of copepod have also been observed amongst other inshore species such as A. hudsonica, Centropages hamatus, and Eurytemora herdmani and offshore species such as *Calanus finmarchicus* (Teegarden et al., 2008). In some cases, copepods appear to graze non-selectively on toxic algae whereas other copepod species appear to select against the toxic algae during the same bloom (Turner & Tester, 1989; Teegarden et al., 2001; Teegarden et al., 2008). Non-selective grazing on toxic phytoplankton taxa has been found in previous studies of copepods grazing during natural HA blooms (Turner & Anderson, 1983; Turner & Tester, 1989; Teegarden et al., 2001; Teegarden et al., 2008). There have been reports of selective and non-selective feeding, physiological incapacitation, feeding deterrents, genomic toxin resistance, and HA-copepod co-occurrence tolerance (Teegarden et al., 2008; Cook et al., 2010; Turner, 2014; Appendix A). The cellular toxicity of the individual prey items, as well as their cell/toxin concentrations relative to other non-toxic prey, might be key factors determining the feeding response, and therefore generating the relatively wide variety of observed behaviours. The findings of the experiments presented herein (Chapters 3 & 5; Appendix C) support the idea that both factors have a role in the observed feeding response, or, more precisely, that neither component alone will result in a predicted feeding response from copepods.

6.1.3 Impact of harmful algae on egg production and hatching success

Tolerance to survival and grazing might not be the only factors that are indicative of a copepod's fitness. Contrasting responses in grazing (Chapters 3 & 5) and reproduction

were observed between *A. tonsa* and *C. helgolandicus* (Chapters 4 & 5, respectively). Diets of toxic *A. catenella* had no effect on *A. tonsa* survival and grazing activity, but did have a negative influence on their reproductive output (Chapter 4; Appendix C);overall their egg production and hatching success suggested that feeding on the toxic *A. catenella* impacted the reproductive success. That was not the case with *C. helgolandicus*. Diets of *A. catenella* had a negative influence on *C. helgolandicus* grazing activity, but there were no effects on *C. helgolandicus* egg production and egg viability (Chapter 5; Appendix C).

These contrasting results demonstrate that using A. tonsa as a model organism to study the effects of HA on copepods is not always appropriate. One of the main differences between coastal species like A. tonsa (Fig. 3A) and shelf/oceanic species like C. helgolandicus (Fig. 3B) is the carbon-rich biomass reserves that are found in Calanus but not Acartia. Calanus spp. females have been observed to utilise approximately 50 % of their maternal biomass before the release of eggs (Gatten et al., 1980). The quantity of these biomass reserves varies both geographically and seasonally, reflecting the feeding and physiological history (Marshall & Orr, 1955). In addition, similar to C. finmarchicus, C. helgolandicus may use the internal reserves in sustaining reproduction during periods of food scarcity (Mayor et al., 2006, 2009). As mentioned in Chapter 5, the available evidence suggests that C. helgolandicus is typically an income breeder (Pond et al., 1996). However, we cannot categorically say that they are not capable of capital breeding and therefore be able to offset the effect of toxins. Because I did not determine if/how the biomass of C. helgolandicus changed throughout our experiments, it is therefore not possible to assess whether or not the eggs were produced from stored reserves. In addition, C. helgolandicus had reduced feeding on toxic A. catenella compared to non-toxic A. tamarense, but they did feed within the range of other laboratory and field studies on toxic A. catenella. Thus, it is quite possible that the amount they fed on toxic cells for three days is enough to help them survive the HA bloom and produce eggs, and longer incubation periods are required before any negative effects of A. catenella on egg production in C. helgolandicus can be completely ruled out.

6.1.4 Toxin accumulation in copepods after a fixed period of exposure

During natural HA blooms, toxins may be ingested and concentrated within the tissues of grazers, which then serve as a vector for the transfer of toxins through pelagic food webs (Turner et al., 2000, 2005; Doucette et al., 2005; Deeds et al., 2014; Petitpas et al., 2014). However, only a small fraction of the ingested toxins are typically retained in the

tissues of zooplankton grazers (Guisande et al., 2002; Lehtiniemi et al., 2002; Hamasaki et al., 2003; Kozlowsky-Suzuki et al., 2003; Teegarden et al., 2003; Spyrakos et al., 2013). Indeed, Chapter 5 demonstrates that *C. helgolandicus* only retains between 0.02 - 3.3 % of the ingested toxins after feeding on toxic *A. catenella* for four days, assuming that the diet is proportionally consistent with the prey field. Other copepod species also show low toxin retention efficiencies (White, 1981; Teegarden & Cembella, 1996; Teegarden et al., 2003; Campbell et al., 2004). However, the accumulated toxins can still be consumed by small fish and passed up the food chain to higher trophic levels such as large fish, seabirds, and marine mammals (reviewed by Turner & Tester, 1997; Turner et al., 1998; Tester et al., 2000; Jensen et al., 2015; Kershaw et al., 2021). For example, the accumulated toxins in large copepods, e.g. *C. finmarchicus*, can still negatively affect North Atlantic right whales, *Eubalaena glacialis* (Doucette et al., 2006; Durbin et al., 2002). Even humpback whales, *Megaptera novaeangliae*, which had fed on *C. finmarchicus*, were killed by the intake of PSTs (Geraci et al., 1989).

6.1.5 Impact of harmful algae during prolonged exposure

It has been widely shown that extended periods of exposure to HA may cause substantial mortality of copepods (Table 1). However, the results presented herein show no differences between the results of short-term and prolonged experiments. Exposure to toxic A. catenella did not appear to impact the survival of A. tonsa (Chapters 3 & 4); the ingestion of C. helgolandicus offered toxic A. catenella showed no apparent change between days 1 and 3 (Chapter 5), suggesting that there was no impact over the period of the experiment (Chapter 5). The egg production of C. helgolandicus over 4 days showed significant differences between days 1 and 4. However, a progressive reduction in egg production over a five-day period has also been observed before, and suggested to be due to food limitation and food quality during the incubations (Mayor et al., 2007) rather than toxicity. It is possible, however, that significant changes in copepod survival, feeding and reproduction may not have been detectable during the experimental periods used herein for methodological reasons. For example, C. helgolandicus may use the internal biomass reserves to sustain themselves and their reproduction. However, to determine how long they can produce eggs from stored reseves may require experiments that last for several weeks or even months (Hirche, 1983, 1984; Hirche & Kwasniewski, 1997). Thus, it is still important to examine how prolonged exposure to HA affects copepods because blooms can last in the marine environment up to several weeks (Bresnan et al., 2005; 2008).

6.1.6 Methodological protocols

Several studies have examined the methods used to study the trophic interactions between copepod and HA toxins (Caldwell et al., 2004; Colin & Dam, 2002; Irigoien et al., 2002; Jónasdóttir et al., 1998; Paffenhöfer et al., 2005). One of the major critical points was that there is no standard published protocol, which means that it is difficult to compare studies (Caldwell et al., 2004; Paffenhöfer et al., 2005). Therefore, it is important to simultaneously measure the level of toxins in the experimental diet as well as the concentration fed to copepods, e.g. carbon and nitrogen contents, in order to produce data that can be compared across different studies.

Several experiments have tested the impact of toxic diatoms on copepod reproduction using extracts or commercially available toxins (Poulet et al., 1994; Ianora et al., 1995; Uye 1996). These studies have been debated for several reasons. For example, negative effects of diatom toxins on copepod reproduction may only occur where the exposure concentrations are an order of magnitude higher than those encountered in the field (Jónasdóttir et al., 1998). Also, female copepods may alter or mediate the toxic effect by not absorbing the toxins (Roncalli et al., 2016), and the commercially available toxins are very different to those encountered in the field by copepods. It has been suggested that the negative impacts in these experiments is due to anoxia from bacteria feeding on the extracts (Jónasdóttir et al., 1998) as the negative effects disappeared when the incubations included aeration (Jónasdóttir & Kiørboe, 1996). Another study found that without aeration, high concentrations of dinoflagellate extracts had no effect on copepod egg hatching success (Miralto et al., 1995). It is important to note these experiments could help in understanding the impact of toxins, yet they are not representative of the real environment, where copepods are exposed to far lower concentrations of toxins (Caldwell et al., 2004). Direct grazing experiments on HA cells are more ecologically relevant because they imitate conditions encountered by copepods in field. Finally, many of the negative effects observed on grazers feeding on cultures of toxic HA may be due to the experimental diets containing larger concentrations of HA cells than those found in natural blooms of the same species; HA species typically make up only a small part of the overall composition of phytoplankton communities in most natural situations, even during HA blooms.

6.1.7 Changes in experimental toxin concentrations

The composition, potency and concentrations of toxins can vary significantly between clones or blooms of the same HA species (Turner et al., 1998; Brown et al., 2010;

Waggett et al., 2012). Within a single clone, cellular toxin levels can fluctuate due to the development phase (Taroncher-Oldenburg et al., 1997), turbulence (Juhl et al., 2001), salinity (Grzebyk et al., 2003), or nutritional conditions (John & Flynn, 2002; Leong et al., 2004; Hardison et al., 2012). Different strains of the same HA species cultivated under equal culture conditions can also have different toxin levels (Loret et al., 2002; Etheridge & Roesler, 2005; Collins et al., 2009; Brown et al., 2010). In this study, the same strain of toxin-producing A. catenella was used in Chapters 3 and 4 (strain 1119/27), whereas a different strain was used in Chapter 5 (strain 1119/28) because strain 1119/28 was archived and therefore no longer available. The concentrations of toxins of A. catenella were highly variable in all experiments, despite being grown under near identical conditions (Appendix C). The total saxitoxin equivalents were 2732.5 fg STX eq cell⁻¹, 501.1 - 3575.5 fg STX eq cell⁻¹ and 2498 – 3918.8 fg STX eq cell⁻¹ in Chapters 3, 4 and 5, respectively (Appendix C). In Chapters 3 and 4, between 9 and 12 of the 19 toxins examined were identified in A. catenella (EFSA, 2009), whereas in Chapter 5, 8 out of the 12 analysed toxins were detected. The non-toxic species of A. tamarense used in Chapters 3 and 4 (strain 1119/19) and in Chapter 5 (strain 1119/33) were also examined for toxins using LC MS/MS and no toxins were detected. It is important to note that the analysis for Chapter 4 took place at different laboratory and the methodological approach followed the PCOX method (Van de Riet et al., 2011) to extract toxins. All of the employed toxin extraction methodologies have been approved (Van de Riet et al., 2011; Turner et al., 2014, 2015, 2019) and the determination of toxin concentrations in each of the presented experiments enables the resulting data to be more meaningfully compared (Appendix C).

6.1.8 Toxicity vs. nutritional insufficiency

It is important to differentiate between toxic and nutritional effects during HAcopepod experiments because both have been suggested to cause reduced egg production (Dutz, 1998; Collumb & Buskey, 2004; Prince et al., 2006; Costa et al., 2008). Also, copepod growth and development have been found to be influenced by food quality. N-depleted algae result in slower copepod growth rates, lower C growth efficiency, and lower egg production rates relative to those measured on animals fed N-replete algae (Jones et al., 2002; Jones & Flynn, 2005). These responses to nutritionally insufficient food could be be mistaken for toxic effects on copepods. For example, adult female *A. tonsa* fed on a monospecific diatom diet produced fewer, smaller eggs and exhibited greater death rates relative to aminals offered dinoflagellate prey or a mixed diet (Jones & Flynn, 2005). This was linked to nutritional insufficiency of a single species diet, and not to toxicity.

In Chapter 3, the total ingestion rate of A. tonsa fed on toxic A. catenella was higher than the control species Rhodomonas sp. Copepods are thought to increase their intake to compensate for the extra energy required for detoxification (Dutz, 1998; Costa et al., 2008). Therefore, if the nutritional value of A. catenella is lower than that of the control algae, Rhodomonas sp., compensatory feeding may have resulted in their increased food intake to compensate for a nutritional deficient diet. This was observed when A. tonsa was fed a nutritionally deficient species of toxic algae, K. brevis, which lacked various fatty acids and other nutritional components and affected reproduction in a manner similar to starvation (Collumb & Buskey, 2004; Prince et al., 2006). Unfortunately, the data presented in Chapter 3 did not allow for a reliable distinction between these two mutually exclusive mechanisms. Nutritionally deficient food and the presence of toxins have both been suggested to cause reduced egg production in Acartia sp. (Dutz, 1998; Collumb & Buskey, 2004; Prince et al., 2006; Costa et al., 2008). Therefore, in Chapter 4, adult female A. tonsa were exposed to mono-specific diets of toxic A. catenella and non-toxic A. tamarense, and the high-quality algae Rhodomonas sp. as a control diet to examine whether the impact of toxic A. catenella (strain 1119/27) was different from non-toxic A. tamarense (1119/19). The egg production and hatching success rates were distinguishable between toxic and non-toxic Alexandrium spp., and as discussed in Chapter 4, suggesting a toxic impact on A. tonsa. Choosing a highquality control is necessary to determine if any observed effects are related to the toxin- or nutritional content of the prey.

6.2 **Prognosis for the future**

6.2.1 Climate change, copepod, and harmful algae

HA have direct and indirect effects on copepods (Appendix A & C), and copepods have to cope with the increasing stress of HA whilst also dealing with other environmental stressors including ocean warming, ocean acidification, and changing spatial and temporal patterns of food. Climate change is the main driver of environmental stressors (Beaugrand et al., 2002, 2009; Beaugrand, 2012; Chivers et al., 2017; Murphy et al., 2020), and evidence of how climate change affects planktonic species is growing, particularly in terms of increased ocean temperature and ocean acidification (George & Harris, 1985; Costello et al., 2006; Edwards et al., 2006; Mayor et al., 2007, 2012; Cripps et al., 2014). Direct effects of warming and acidification to copepods include changes in physiology and behavior that can alter growth (McFeeters & Frost, 2011; Doan et al., 2019), body size (Escribano & McIaren, 1992; Garzke et al., 2015; Sommer et al., 2016), reproductive output (Cook et al., 2007; Mayor et al., 2012), naupliar development (Cook et al., 2007), and
survival (Sommer et al., 2007; Kroeker et al., 2010; Cripps et al., 2015). Understanding the impact of climate change on the planktonic phenology and copepod physiology is important to understand the future ocean system.

6.2.1.1 Impact of ocean warming on HA

One of the most significant stressors influencing future changes in marine ecosystems is global warming (Boyce et al., 2010; Mackas et al., 2012). Climate temperatures have been increasing and, based on climate projections, will continue to increase in the future (IPCC, 2021). This increase has been associated with increased impact of HA blooms (Hallegraeff, 1993; Hallegraeff et al., 2010; Anderson et al., 2012; Fu et al., 2012; Berdalet et al., 2016; Gobler et al., 2017; Dees et al., 2017; Nohe et al., 2020; Hallegraeff et al., 2021; Marampouti et al., 2021). For example, two algae that produce strong biotoxins, A. fundyense and *Dinophysis acuminata*, were studied using high-resolution sea-surface temperature records (1982 to 2016) and temperature-dependent growth rates (Gobler et al., 2017). The study concluded that increasing ocean warming is playing a key role in the intensification of toxic HA blooms in the North Atlantic and North Pacific Ocean. Moreover, in recent years, HA blooms were not only detected in the warm-temperate region, but also have been spreading to the Arctic (Bresnan et al., 2021), which could be due to global warming (Hallegraeff et al., 2021), or genetically changed HA that are adapted to cold regions (Wang et al., 2021). According to satellite-based remote sensing data, annual pelagic net primary production in shelf regions of the Arctic Ocean increased by 20 % between 1998 to 2009, as a result of a longer pelagic growth season associated with the increased duration of the ice-free period (Arrigo et al., 2011). Several studies have shown that enhanced under-ice irradiance due to melting sea ice, refrozen leads, and/or melt pond formation (i.e. increased transmittance) generated diatom- and *Phaeocystis*-dominated under-ice blooms, which were fuelled by an excess of nutrients in the under-ice waters (Arrigo et al., 2012; Assmy et al., 2016). In addition, a study from North East Greenland found that the bloom concentration of haptophytes (~ 2,000,000 cells L^{-1}) was similar to bloom concentrations recorded during harmful Chrysochromulina blooms in the Skagerrak, Southern Norway (Søgaard et al., 2021). As evidenced by records of Chrysochromulina spp. in the low salinity waters (5-6 PSU) of the Baltic Sea and the Kattegat, Norway, brackish environments may increase the abundance of haptophytes (Nielsen et al., 1990; Hansen et al., 1995). Thus, future Arctic Ocean blooms dominated by potentially toxic mixotrophic algae (Prymnesium and Chrysochromulina) will grow more prevalent and widespread (Søgaard et al., 2021). In summary, even though blooms of mixotrophic organisms during the Arctic spring show that

Chapter 6

they may be essential in driving ecosystem- and carbon cycling dynamics in this region (Arrigo et al., 2012; Assmy et al., 2016; Søgaard et al., 2021), toxic blooms in the Arctic require further investigation to understand their impact in marine ecosystems.

Quantifying how interactions between climate change and nutrients regimes in coastal areas, caused by growing human population and nutrients from agriculture, affect the frequency and magnitude of HA blooms is important for understanding what the future holds in the context of HA. The lack of fundamental understanding of the mechanisms that encourage the growth of toxic algal blooms make anticipating their future prevalence difficult. Understanding the patterns of toxic HA bloom in the next few decades will be critically dependent on taking HA blooms into account within the competitive context of plankton communities and connecting these insights to ecosystem, oceanographic, and climate models (Wells et al., 2015, 2020).

6.2.1.2 Impact of ocean warming on copepods

Increasing temperatures have a direct effect on marine copepods. Animals are adapted to live within upper and lower limits of thermal tolerance and changes in temperature may lead to reduced performance and eventually mortality unless certain adaptations are present, migration occurs, or the change rate is slow enough to allow adaptation (Pörtner & Farrell, 2008). Negative impacts of increasing temperature on copepods have been well documented (Escribano & Mclaren, 1992; Ban, 1994; Holste & Peck, 2006; Cook et al., 2007; Bonnet et al., 2009; Mayor et al., 2012; Edwards et al., 2013; Mayor et al., 2015) with experiments showing that increasing temperature negatively impact *Calanus* spp. survival, egg production, egg hatching times and naupliar development (Cook et al., 2007; Bonnet et al., 2009; Mayor et al., 2012). In addition, the 70 % decrease in the overall Calanus spp. biomass in the North Sea and North East Atlantic since the 1960's (Edwards et al., 2013) has been attributed to the North Atlantic Oscillation and high sea surface temperature (Beaugrand et al., 2014). On the other hand, the warm waters (>3 $^{\circ}$ C) observed in the Bering Strait during 2015 showed a high abundance of Pacific copepod species (Eucalanus bungii, Metridia pacifica, and Neocalanus spp.), relative to cooler periods in 2014 and 2016 (Kim et al., 2020). The Bering Strait is the only point of entry from the Pacific Ocean to the Chukchi Sea, and high-temperatures of the Bering Summer Water inflow may therefore have a key influence on the abundance of Pacific copepod species in the southern Chukchi Sea. Finally, the effects of changing temperature on copepods appear to be species- and/or populationspecific (Richardson, 2008).

6.2.1.3 Impact of ocean acidification on copepods

The atmospheric concentration of carbon dioxide (CO_2) has continued to increase, reaching annual averages of 410 ppm for CO₂ (IPCC, 2021). Rising CO₂ concentrations in the atmosphere are causing global warming and ocean acidification (Caldeira & Wickett, 2003, 2005; Feely et al., 2004; Orr et al., 2005; Fabry et al., 2008). The HA blooms have been linked to ocean acidification where the stimulating effects of ocean acidification on growth and toxicity may result in the expansion and intensification of toxic HA blooms (Glibert et al., 2014; Riebesell et al., 2018). In addition, the direct effects on copepods of increased pressure of CO₂ have been reported to vary between species (Zhang et al., 2011), populations (Thor & Oliva, 2015), and developmental stages within a species (Lewis et al., 2013; Cripps et al., 2014; Pedersen et al., 2014). Based on future scenario predictions (2000– 10,000 ppm CO₂), studies reported the impact of CO₂ induced acidification resulted in a negative impact on survival, egg production, and hatching success on different copepods including Acartia pacifica, Acartia spinicauda, C. finmarchicus, C. glacialis, Calanus sinicus, and Centropages tenuiremis (Mayor et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2011; Weydmann et al., 2012; Pedersen et al., 2013). Therefore, the impact of CO_2 concentrations on copepods found in laboratory experiments is an order of magnitude higher than encountered in situ with no/or minimum impact at concentrations found in the real environment. However, Cripps et al., (2015) showed a 35 % decline in A. tonsa nauplii recruitment at CO₂ concentrations of 1000 μ atm, and an LC₅₀ at 1084 μ atm pressure CO₂. The study argues that research that attempts to report consequences to future ocean acidification situations merely based on exposure of single life history stages might result in significant misrepresentation (Cripps et al., 2015).

6.2.1.4 Combined environmental stressors

The majority of research has focused on the single effects of ocean warming (Richardson, 2008), ocean acidification (Fabry et al., 2008), or toxic algae (Appendix A), while some have looked at interactions between a variety of biotic and abiotic climate-related variables in combination (Byrne et al., 2009; Gao & Zheng, 2010; Vehmaa et al., 2012; Kroeker et al., 2013; Reymond et al., 2013; Garzke et al., 2016). *C. finmarchicus* have been studied with combined stressors of future global warming and ocean acidification scenarios (Mayor et al., 2012) showing negative impact on *C. finmarchicus* reproduction due to high temperature but not ocean acidification. Another study examined the combined effects of toxic cyanobacteria, ocean warming, and ocean acidification levels predicted for the year 2100 on *Acartia bifolsa* (Vehmaa et al., 2013). Antioxidant capacity of *A. bifolsa* was

Chapter 6

lowered as a result of acidification and increased temperature. Egg viability, nauplii development, and oxidative status all declined as the temperature increased. Exposure to toxic cyanobacteria reduced egg production but increased oxidative status and egg viability, resulting in no net effects on the production of viable eggs. Furthermore, the presence of cyanobacteria enhanced nauplii development, substantially alleviating the generally unfavorable impacts of increasing temperature and lower pH on copepod recruitment (Vehmaa et al., 2013). In summary, there is a need for cautious interpretation of data from multiple stressors because observed effects could be related to any of the combined effect on copepods.

6.2.1.5 Plankton phenology

Environmental conditions and climate change are essential drivers of marine plankton distribution (Beaugrand et al., 2002; Parmesan & Yohe, 2003; Hays et al., 2005; McMahon & Hays, 2006; Parmesan, 2006; Thomas et al., 2012; Chivers et al., 2017). The study of biological seasonal cycles and how they are affected by climate and weather is known as phenology (Thackeray, 2012; Thackeray et al., 2016), and it is highly sensitive to increasing ocean temperature (Richardson, 2008). Many studies have reported changes in phenological rates and patterns, which also vary greatly among co-existing and interacting planktonic taxa from the same aquatic ecosystem (Edwards & Richardson, 2004; Winder & Schindler, 2004; Adrian et al., 2006; Costello et al., 2006; Thackeray et al., 2008; Beaugrand et al., 2009; Feuchtmayr et al., 2012; Chivers et al., 2017). Edwards and Richardson (2004) studied whether climate warming signals develop across all trophic levels and functional groups within an ecological community using long-term data from 66 plankton taxa between 1958 to 2002. The study evaluated changes in marine pelagic phenology in the North Sea across three trophic levels: diatoms and dinoflagellates (main producers), copepods (secondary producers), non-copepod holozooplankton (secondary and tertiary producers), and meroplankton, which includes fish larvae, (secondary and tertiary producers). The study found that many pelagic organisms are responding to climate change, and the intensity of the response varies greatly between pelagic assemblages (Edwards & Richardson, 2004). On the other hand, a 25-year time-series of weekly samples at the Plymouth L4 site was applied to examine mismatch theory, comparing 57 plankton taxa across 4 trophic levels (Atkinson et al., 2015). According to the study, extreme cold or warm years had no effect on the phenology in terms of annual mean abundance or egg production rates. In fact, other factors, allow extended production periods including, inter-annual variability in food quantity, high food baseline levels, turnover rates, and prolonged seasonal availability. Therefore, ocean warming alone might not always results in "mismatch" in timing between trophic levels, and the theory does not always apply to systems with multiple compensating factors. In conclusion, climate change pressure will influence marine plankton distribution, including the impact of toxic HA blooms, which may change the patterns of food availability to copepods.

6.2.1.6 Future physiological experiments

It is currently unclear how well copepods can adapt to multiple environmental stressors, and hence we need to learn more about the physiological responses of copepods to the simultaneous effects of, for example, ocean warming and acidification, changing patterns of food availability and increased prevalence of HA blooms. Furthermore, different copepods respond to environmental stressors differently (e.g. coastal and oceanic/shelf copepods), and therefore comparable experiments across a range of species are required. The rates of copepod development are dependent on food resources, and therefore the seasonal availability of those resources are likely to influence the outcome of experiments. Therefore, in order to understand the physiological responses in copepods, food resource windows should be defined and seasonal variations considered over a long term (Ban, 1994; Campbell et al., 2001). It is important to note that the lifecycle of some copepods such as *Calanus* spp. can be interrupted by long periods of diapause which may result in lags between resource availability and copepod development, and make physiological responses complex to examine. Therefore, future experiments should identify the HA trends and their impact on copepod dynamics by understanding the copepod physiology data derived from laboratory experiments.

6.2.2 Cyclopoid copepods

Almost all studies of copepod interactions with HA have focused on calanoid copepods. However, cyclopoid copepods, especially those of the genus *Oithona*, are far more common than calanoids (Gallienne and Robins, 2001), especially in the near-surface waters where most HA blooms occur (Fig. 15). *Oithona similis*, a widespread cyclopoid, is known to eat microzooplanktonic protists such ciliates and heterotrophic dinoflagellates (Nakamura & Turner, 1997; Lonsdale et al., 2000; Grane li & Turner, 2002). Thus, grazing on toxic dinoflagellates and other HA taxa by copepods of the genus *Oithona* could account for a significant portion of copepod grazing influence on HA blooms, but there are only a very limited number of studies on such interactions (Sevensen & Kiørboe, 2000; Wolhrab et al., 2010). Further work is required to assess if/how cyclopoids are affected by HA toxins.



Figure 15. Distribution map of *Oithona similis* (OBIS, 2021). (Ocean biodiversity information system. Intergovernmental oceanographic commission of UNESCO, 2021); open access agreement.

6.3 Conclusions

The research presented in my thesis furthers our understanding of the survival, feeding, egg production, hatching success, toxin accumulation, algal toxin profile, as well as trophic interactions between copepods and HA, an aspect that has been repeatedly highlighted as a key knowledge gap (Cook et al., 2010; Turner, 2014). My observations have shown:

- *A. tonsa* and *C. helgolandicus* survival was unaffected by the exposure to toxic *A. catanella* at reported bloom concentrations during short-term (1 day) and prolonged experiments (4–10 days). Survival of *A. tonsa* only decreased at exposure levels two orders of magnitude higher than encountered in the environment. The observed lethal median concentration (LC₅₀) for *A. tonsa* exposed to *A. catenella* was 12.45 ng saxitoxin equivalents L⁻¹.
- *A. tonsa* ingestion rates increased with prey availability for both toxic- (*A. catenella*) and non-toxic (*Rhodomonas* sp.) prey. Ingestion rates were higher when offered *A. catenella* only, potentially suggesting compensatory feeding, and *A. tonsa* actively selected non-toxic prey over *A. catenella* when offered a mixed diet. *C. helgolandicus* ingestion rates declined significantly as the percentage of toxin-producing *A. catenella* within their diet increased suggesting physical incapacitation due to toxicity.

- Egg production rates and hatching success in *A. tonsa* exposed to toxic *A. catenella* at 1000 µg C L⁻¹ were not significantly different from starved animals, but were significantly lower than animals fed non-toxic *A. tamarense*, *Rhodomonas* sp., or a 50:50 mix of toxic *A. catenella* and *Rhodomonas* sp. Egg production rates and hatching success of eggs produced by females that were fed either *Rhodomonas* sp., toxic *A. catenella* or a 50:50 mix of toxic *A. catenella* and *Rhodomonas* sp. at 100 µg C L⁻¹ were not significantly different. *C. helgolandicus* egg production and egg viability were unaffected by the relative abundances of toxic *A. catenella* and non-toxic *A. tamarense* in the diet during a 4-day experiment.
- The concentrations of toxins of *A. catenella* were highly variable in all experiments with the total saxitoxin equivalent 501.1 3918.8 fg STX eq cell⁻¹. The body toxin concentrations of *C. helgolandicus* indicate that this species may bioaccumulate HA toxins; however, the retention efficiency is only 0.02 % when fed 100 % toxic *A. catenella*.

Rapid climate change may be increasing the prevalence of toxic blooms in marine ecosystems and their effects on copepods. The emergence and increasing impact of toxic blooms indicates that HA taxa can, at times, outgrow or otherwise hinder the ability of zooplankton grazers to manage their blooms due to a variety of interacting variables. Future research into copepods should focus on the physiological impact of HA toxins as well as other environmental stressors caused by climate change because different copepod species from different waters are all believed to respond differently to multiple environmental stressors. Understanding how copepods respond to combined environmental stressors can help to predict how copepods will fare in the future. Even though it is complex, it is needed to produce a realistic community level predictions of copepod responses to environmental stressors.

Table: review of	published	effects of co	pepods feeding	y upon toxic	dinoflagellates
	pasinta		pepous recume	, apon come	amonagenaces

Species	Cultures/ Collected Copepod	Harmful Algae	Non toxic Algae/ control used in experiment	Toxins	Methodology	Toxicity test/ Toxin Profile	Toxic Accumu lation	Duration of feeding experim ent	Impact	Region	Citation
Acartia bifilosa	Collected species	Alexandrium ostenfeldii	N/A	PST	Feeding, Behavioural experiment	HPLC/ FD	Yes	24 h	Behavioural disturbance and Incapacitation	Northern Baltic Sea	Sopanen et al., 2011
Acartia clausi	Cultured species	Alexandrium lusitanicum	Rhodomonas baltica	PST	Survival Feeding, Egg production	HPLC N/A -24 h -No apparent impact on -9 days survival and feeding -Reduced egg		Laboratory exp.	Dutz (1998)		
Acartia clausi	Collected species	Alexandrium tamarense	N/A	PST	Feeding experiment, Behavioural response, Gene expression and copepod-cues	HPLC/ FD	N/A	48 h	-No impact on feeding -50% affected in behavioral response -Response to gene expression and increase PST due to Copepod-cues	Northwest coast of Denmark	Wolhrab et al., 2010
Acartia hudsonica	Collected species	Alexandrium fundyense	Tetraselmis spp.	PST	Feeding Experiment -Acclimation Experiment	HPLC	N/A	24 h & 14 days	No Apparent impact	Passamaquoddy bay, NB, Canada, Casco bay, ME, Great Pond, MA, Mumford Cove, CT	Colin and Dam 2002
Acartia hudsonica	Collected species	Alexandrium fundyense	<i>Tetraselmis</i> spp.	PST	Feeding Experiment -Acclimation Experiment	HPLC	N/A	24 h & 14 days	Reduced ingestion rates	Great Bay,New Jersey, USA	Colin and Dam 2002

Acartia tonsa	Collected species	Cochlodinium polykrikoides	Rhodomonas lens	N/A	Survival Experiment eggs production Grazing Experiment	N/A	N/A	24 h	Increase mortality & Reduced eggs	Long island sound, NY, USA	Jiang et al 2009
Acartia tonsa	Collected species	Alexandrium spp.	Lingulodinium polyedrum.	PST	Grazing experiment	HPLC/ FD	YES	12 h	No Apparent impact	Damariscotta river estuary, Maine, USA	Teegarden and Cembella 1996
Acartia tonsa	Collected species	Karenia brevis	natural prey	N/A	Grazing and clearance experiment	N/A	N/A	17.5 to 21.75 h	No Apparent impact	Beaufort, North Carolina	Turner and Tester 1989
Acartia tonsa	Collected species	Prorocentrum minimum (toxic)	Prorocentrum minimum (non toxic strain)	N/A	feeding experiment, Oyster exposure experiment	N/A	N/A	48 h	No apparent impact (low grazing on toxic and non toxic strains)	York river, USA	Saba et al., 2011
Acartia tonsa	Collected species	Karlodinium veneficum (toxic)	Karlodinium veneficum (non- toxic strain)	N/A	feeding experiment, Oyster exposure experiment	N/A	N/A	48 h	No apparent impact (low grazing on toxic and non toxic strains)	York river, USA	Saba et al., 2011
Acartia tonsa	Collected species	Alexandrium fundyense	Lingulodinium polyedrum, Gonyaulax cf, Prorocentrum micans	PST	Grazing experiment	HPLC/ FD	N/A	24 h	Decrease ingestion (grazer-deterrent effects observed)	Damariscotta river estuary, Maine, USA	Teegarden 1999
Acartia tonsa	Cultured species	Alexandrium minutum	Prorocentrum micans	PST	Selectivity experiment, Density dependence experiment	HPLC/ FD	N/A	3 days	waterborne cues from A. <i>tonsa</i> induce PST	Kristineberg Marine Research Station (Sweden	Selander et al., 2006

Appendix A

Appendix A

Acartia tonsa	Collected species	Karenia brevis	Rhodomonas salina	N/A	feeding and egg production experiments	LC-MS	N/A	17 h	Decrease ingestion, decrease egg production, increase mortality	Beaufort, North Carolina	Waggett et al., 2012
Paracalanus quasimodo	Collected species	Karenia brevis	natural prey	N/A	Grazing and clearance	N/A	N/A	17.5- 21.75 h	No Apparent impact	Beaufort, North Carolina	Turner and Tester 1989
Calanus finmarchicus	Collected species	Alexandrium fundyense	<i>Rhodomonas</i> spp	PST	feeding and egg production experiments	HPLC	N/A	7 days	Reduced eggs	Gulf of Maine USA	Roncalli et al., 2016
Calanus helgolandicus	Collected species	Alexandrium tamarense	N/A	PST	Feeding experiment, Behavioural response, Gene expression and copepod-cues	nt, HPLC/FD N/A 48 h -No impanse, -29% affe nd behaviora -Respons expressio PST due		-No impact on feeding -29% affected in behavioral response -Response of Gene expression and increase PST due to Copepod-cues	Coast of Scotland	Wolhrab et al., 2010	
Centropages typicus	Collected species	Karenia brevis	natural prey	N/A	Grazing and clearance experiment	N/A	N/A	17.5 to 21.75 h	Reduced ingestion	Beaufort, North Carolina	Turner and Tester 1989
Community Zooplankton	Collected species	Alexandrium fundyense	natural prey	PST	Grazing Impact	N/A	N/A	13-23.5 h		Gulf of Maine USA	Turner 2010
Eurytemora affinis	Collected species (Lab)	Alexandrium ostenfeldii	N/A	PST	Grazing and behavioural experiment	HPLC/ FD	Yes	24 h	Behavioral disturbance and Incapacitation	Collected species (Lab)	Sopanen et al., 2011
Eurytemora herdmani	Collected species	Alexandrium synthesize	Lingulodinium polyedrum.	PST	Grazing experiment	HPLC/ FD	YES	12 h	No Apparent impact	Damariscotta river estuary, Maine, USA	Teegarden and Cembella 1996

Labidocera aestiva	Collected species	Karenia brevis	natural prey	N/A	Grazing and clearance experiment	N/A	N/A	17.5 to 21.75 h	No Apparent impact	Beaufort, North Carolina	Turner and Tester 1989
Oithona similis	Collected species	Alexandrium tamarense	N/A	PST	Feeding experiment, Behavioural response, Gene expression and copepod-cues	HPLC/ FD	N/A	48 h	-No impact on feeding -86 % affected in behavioral response -Response of Gene expression and increase PST due to Compared guess	Coast of Scotland	Wolhrab et al., 2010
Oncaea venusta	Collected species	Karenia brevis	natural prey	N/A	Grazing and clearance experiment	N/A	N/A	17.5 to 21.75 h	No Apparent impact	Beaufort, North Carolina	Turner and Tester 1989
Temora longicornis	Collected species	Alexandrium fundyense	Rhodomonas lens	PST	Grazing exp. Eggs production experiment & Swimming Behaviour	ELISA/ HPLC	N/A	24 h	Change swimming behavior	Damariscotta river estuary, Maine, USA	Lasley-Rasher et al 2016

Appendix A



Egg production of Acartia tonsa on day 1 and day 2 (Chapter 4)

Egg production of *Acartia tonsa* on day 1 (acclimation period) and day 2. The bars show the mean (N=3) \pm standard error (SE). The a and b letters above bars show the post-hoc comparisons between the treatments with shared letters denoting no significant difference. A: Egg production of *Acartia tonsa* fed on RHO (*Rhodomonas* sp.; blue circles), TAC (toxic *Alexandrium catenella* 1119/27; green triangles), and NAC (non-toxic *A. catenella* 1119/19; red squares) at a concentration of 1,000 µg C L⁻¹ or when starved (purple diamond). B. Egg production of *Acartia tonsa* fed on RHO (*Rhodomonas* sp.; brown inverted triangles, and blue circles, for 100 & 1,000 µg C L⁻¹, respectively), TAC (toxic *Alexandrium catenella* 1119/27; black circles, and green triangles for 100 & 1,000 µg C L⁻¹, respectively), and MIX (50:50 mixture of both cell types; orange circles and red squares for 100 & 1,000 µg C L⁻¹, respectively) at two concentrations: 100 & 1,000 µg C L⁻¹ or when starved (purple diamond).

Appendix C

Copepod	Algal species	Experiment	Duration (days)	Algae concentration ug C L ⁻¹	Toxic species	Toxicity measured STX eq cell ⁻¹ (fg STX eq cell-	Effects	Chapter
						1)		
A. tonsa	A. catenella 1119/27	Survival	1	1000	Toxic	2732.5	No apparent impact (Effects found two order of magnitude higher than encountered in environment	3
A. tonsa	A. catenella 1119/27	Mono-specific feeding	1	1000	toxic	2732.5	Increased ingestion	3
A. tonsa	A. catenella 1119/27 & Rhodomonas sp.	Mixed-diet feeding	1	1000 (25, 50, 75, and 100% toxic algae)	toxic and non-toxic	2732.5	No apparent impact (feeding selectivity to non-toxic cells)	3
A. tonsa	A. catenella 1119/27	Survival	10	1000	toxic	501.1	80% survival in 10 days	4
A. tonsa	A. tamarense 1119/19	Survival	10	1000	non-toxic	-	60% survival in 10 days	4
A. tonsa	Rhodomonas sp.	Survival	10	1000	non-toxic	-	73% survival in 10 days	4
A. tonsa	Control (No food)	Survival	10	-	-	-	0% survival in 9 days	4
A. tonsa	A. catenella 1119/27	Reproduction (exp.2)	2	1000	Toxic	3575.5	Reduced fecundity	4

Table: results of experiments in this thesis examining the effects of copepods feeding upon toxic dinoflagellates

Appendix C

A. tonsa	A. tamarense 1119/19	Reproduction (exp.2)	2	1000	Non- toxic	-	No apparent impact	4
A. tonsa	Rhodomonas sp.	Reproduction (exp.2)	2	1000	Non- toxic	-	No apparent impact	4
A. tonsa	Control (No food)	Reproduction (exp.2)	2	-	-	-	Reduced fecundity	4
A. tonsa	A. catenella 1119/27	Reproduction (exp.3)	2	1000	toxic	501.1	Reduced fecundity	4
A. tonsa	A. catenella 1119/27 & A. catenella 1119/19	Reproduction (exp.3)	2	1000 (50 % toxic)	toxic and non-toxic	501.1	No apparent impact	4
A. tonsa	Rhodomonas sp.	Reproduction (exp.3)	2	1000	non-toxic	-	No apparent impact	4
A. tonsa	No food	Reproduction (exp.3)	2	-	-	-	Reduced fecundity	4
A. tonsa	A. catenella 1119/27	Reproduction (exp.3)	2	100	toxic	501.1	No apparent impact	4
A. tonsa	A. catenella 1119/27 & A. tamarense 1119/19	Reproduction (exp.3)	2	100 (50% toxic)	toxic and non-toxic	501.1	No apparent impact	4
A. tonsa	Rhodomonas sp.	Reproduction (exp.3)	2	100	non-toxic	-	No apparent impact	4

Appendix C

C. helgolandicus	A. catenella 1119/28	Feeding	3	400	toxic	3130	Reduced ingestion	5
C. helgolandicus	A. catenella 1119/28 &	Feeding	3	400 (25, 50, 75%	toxic and	3130	reduced ingestion	5
	A. catenella 1119/33			toxic algae)	non-toxic			
C. helgolandicus	A. catenella 1119/33	Feeding	3	400	non-toxic	3130	No apparent impact	5
C. helgolandicus	A. catenella 1119/28	Reproduction	4	400	toxic	3130	No apparent impact	5
C. helgolandicus	A. catenella 1119/28 &	Reproduction	4	400 (25, 50, 75%	toxic and	3130	No apparent impact	5
	A. catenella 1119/33			toxic algae)	non-toxic			
C. helgolandicus	A. catenella 1119/33	Reproduction	4	400	non-toxic	3130	No apparent impact	5





- Abdulhussain, A.H., Cook K.B., Turner, A.D., Lewis, A.M., Elsafi, M.A., Mayor, D.J.
 (2020). The influence of the toxic producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27) on the feeding and survival of the marine copepod *Acartia tonsa*. *Harmful Algae* 98, 101890.
- Abdulhussain A.H., Cook K.B., Turner A.D., Lewis A.M., Bibby T.S., Mayor D.J. (2021).
 The influence of the toxin-producing dinoflagellate, *Alexandrium catenella* (1119/27), on the survival and reproduction of the marine mopepod, *Acartia tonsa*, during prolonged exposure. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 8, 652225.
- Adrian, R., Wilhelm, S., Gerten, D. (2006) Life-history traits of lake plankton species may govern their phenological response to climate warming. *Global Change Biol.*, 12, 652–661.
- Anderson, D.M., Cembella, A.D., Hallegraeff, G.M. (2012). Progress in understanding harmful algal blooms: paradigm shifts and new technologies for research, monitoring, and management. *Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci.* 4, 143–176.
- Anderson, D.M. (2021, June 22). Origin and fate of harmful algal blooms in the Chukchi Sea. Arctic Research Seminar Series. <u>https://www.arcus.org/events/arctic-</u> <u>calendar/32076</u>
- Anderson, T.R., Hessen, D.O., Boersma, M., Urabe, J., Mayor, D.J. (2017). Will invertebrates require increasingly carbon-rich food in a warming world? *Am. Nat.* 190 (6). 725-742.
- Atkinson, A., Harmer, R.A., Widdicombe, C.E., McEvoy, A.J., Smyth, T.J., Cummings, D.G., Somerfield, P.J., Maud, J.L., McConville, K. (2015). Questioning the role of phenology shifts and trophic mismatching in a planktonic food web. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 137, 498–512.
- Arar, E. J., and Collins, G.B. (1997). Method 445.0: In vitro determination of chlorophyll a and pheophytin a in marine and freshwater algae by fluorescence. Cincinnati:

United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, National Exposure Research Laboratory.

- Asselman, J., De Coninck, D.I.M., Glaholt, S., Colbourne, J.K., Janssen, C.R., Shaw, J.R., and De Schamphelaere, K.A.C., (2012). Identification of pathways, gene networks, and paralogous gene families in *Daphnia pulex* responding to exposure to the toxic cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa*. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 46, 8448-8457.
- Avery, D.E., and Dam, H.G. (2007). Newly discovered reproductive phenotypes of a marine copepod reveal the costs and advantages of resistance to a toxic dinoflagellate. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 52, 2099-2108.
- Arrigo, K.R. and Dijken, G.L. (2011). Secular trends in Arctic Ocean net primary production. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans. 116, C09011.
- Arrigo, K.R., Perovich, D.K., Pickart, R.S., Brown, Z.W., van Dijken, G.L., Lowry, K.E., Mills, M.M., Palmer, M.A., Balch, W.M., Bahr, F., Bates, N.R., Benitez-Nelson, C., Bowler, B., Brownlee, E., Ehn, J.K., Frey, K.E., Garley, R., Laney, S.R., Lubelczyk, L., Mathis, J., Matsuoka, A., Mitchell, B.G., Moore, G.W.K., Ortega-Retuerta, E., Pal, S., Polashenski, C.M., Reynolds, R.A., Schieber, B., Sosik, H.M., Stephens, M., Swift, J.H. (2012). Massive phytoplankton blooms under Arctic Sea ice. *Sci* (80). 336, 1408.
- Assmy, P., Fernández-Méndez, M., Duarte, P., Meyer, A., Randelhoff, A., Mundy, C.J.,
 Olsen, L.M., Kauko, H.M., Bailey, A., Chierici, M., Cohen, L., Doulgeris, A.P., Ehn,
 J.K., Fransson, A., Gerland, S., Hop, H., Hudson, S.R., Hughes, N., Itkin, P., Johnsen,
 G., King, J.A., Koch, B.P., Koenig, Z., Kwasniewski, S., Laney, S.R., Nicolaus, M.,
 Pavlov, A.K., Polashenski, C.M., Provost, C., Rösel, A., Sandbu, M., Spreen, G.,
 Smedsrud, L.H., Sundfjord, A., Taskjelle, T., Tatarek, A., Wiktor, J., Wagner, P.M.,
 Wold, A., Steen, H., Granskog, M.A. (2017). Leads in Arctic pack ice enable early
 phytoplankton blooms below snow-covered sea ice. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 40850.
- Båmstedt, U., Nejstgaard, J.C., Solberg, P.T., Høisæter, T. (1999). Utilisation of smallsized food algae by *Calanus finmarchicus* (Copepoda, Calanoida) and the significance of feeding history. *Sarsia* 84, 19–38.

- Båmstedt, U., Gifford, D.J., Irigoien, X., Atkinson, A., Roman, M.R. (2000). Feeding. In: Harris, R.P., Weibe, P., Lenz, J., Skjoldal, H.R., Huntley, M. (eds) ICES
 Zooplankton Methodology Manual. Academic Press, London, p 297-400.
- Baden, D.G., Trainer, B.L., (1993). Mode of action of toxins of seafood poisoning. In:Falconer, I.R. (Ed.), Algal Toxins in Seafood and Drinking Water. Acad. Press 49–74.
- Ban, S. (1994). Effect of temperature and food concentration on post- embryonic development, egg production and adult body size of calanoid copepod *Eurytemora affinis. J. Plankton Res.* 16, 721–735.
- Barnard, R., Batten, S. D., Beaugrand, G., Buckland, C., Conway, D. V. P., Edwards, M.,
 Finlayson, M.J., Gregory L.W., Halliday, N., John, A., Johns, D., Johnson, A.,
 Jonas, P., Lindley, J., Nyman, J., Pritchard, P., Reid, P., Richardson, A., Saxby, R.,
 Wright, J. (2004). Continuous Plankton Records: Plankton Atlas of the North
 Atlantic Ocean (1958–1999). II Biogeographical charts. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*(Supplement), 11–75.
- Barreiro, A., Guisande, C., Frangópulos, M., Gonzalez-Fernandez, A., Munoz, S., Perez, S., Magadan, S., Maneiro, I., Riveiro, I., Iglesias, P. (2006). Feeding strategies of the copepod *Acartia clausi* on single and mixed diets of toxic and non-toxic strains of the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium minutum*. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 316, 115-125.
- Barreiro, A., Guisande, C., Maneiro, I., Vergara, A.R., Riveiro, I., Iglesias, P. (2007).
 Zooplankton interactions with toxic phytoplankton: Some implications for food web studies and algal defence strategies of feeding selectivity behaviour, toxin dilution and phytoplankton population diversity. *Acta Oecologica* 32, 279–290.
- Bates, S.S., Bird, C.J., Freitas, A.S.W. de, Foxall, R., Gilgan, M., Hanic, L.A., Johnson, G.R., McCulloch, A.W., Odense, P., Pocklington, R., Quilliam, M.A., Sim, P.G., Smith, J.C., Rao, D.V.S., Todd, E.C.D., Walter, J.A., Wright, J.L.C. (1989). Pennate Diatom *Nitzschia pungens* as the primary source of domoic acid, a toxin in shellfish from eastern Prince Edward Island, Canada. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 46, 1203–1215.

- Berggreen, U., Hansen, B., Kiørboe, T. (1988). Food size spectra, ingestion and growth of the copepod Acartia tonsa during development: Implications for determination of copepod production. *Mar. Biol.* 99, 341–352.
- Beaugrand, G., Reid, P.C., Ibañez, F., Lindley, J.A., Edwards, M. (2002). Reorganization of North Atlantic marine copepod biodiversity and climate. *Sci.* 296, 1692–1694.
- Beaugrand, G. (2003). Long-term changes in copepod abundance and diversity in the north-east Atlantic in relation to fluctuations in the hydroclimatic environment. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 12, 270–283.
- Beaugrand, G., Brander, K. M., Lindley, J. A., Souissi, S., & Reid, P. C. (2003). Plankton effect on cod recruitment in the North Sea. *Nature*. 426, 661–664.
- Beaugrand, G. (2004). The North Sea regime shift: Evidence, causes, mechanisms and consequences. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 60, 245–262.
- Beaugrand, G. (2005). Monitoring pelagic ecosystems using plankton indicators. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 62, 333–338.
- Beaugrand, G., Luczak C., Edwards, M. (2009). Rapid biogeographical plankton shifts in the North Atlantic Ocean. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 15, 1790-1803.
- Beaugrand, G., (2012). Unanticipated biological changes and global warming. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 445, 293–301.
- Beaugrand, G., Harlay, X. & Edwards, M. (2014). Detecting plankton shifts in the North Sea: a new abrupt ecosystem shift between 1996 and 2003. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 502, 85–104.
- Berdalet, E., Fleming, L.E., Gowen, R., Davidson, K., Hess, P., Backer, L.C., Moore, S.K.,
 Porter Hoagland, and Henrik Enevoldsen. (2015). Marine harmful algal blooms,
 human health and wellbeing: challenges and opportunities in the 21st century. *J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K.*(1), 61–91.

- Bergkvist, J., Selander, E., Pavia, H. (2008). Induction of toxin production in dinoflagellates: the grazer makes a difference. *Oecologia* 156 (1), 147–54.
- Boehler, J.A. and Krieger, K.A. (2012). Taxonomic atlas of the copepods (Class Crustacea: Subclass Copepoda: Orders Calanoida, Cyclopoida and Harpacticoida recorded at the Old Woman Creek National Estuarine Reserve and State Nature Preserve, Ohio. Final report to Ohio Department of Natural Resources, Division of Wildlife, Columbus 1-24.
- Bonnet, D., Richardson, A., Harris, R., Hirst, A., Beaugrand, G., Edwards, M., Ceballos,
 S., Diekman, R., López-Urrutia, A., Valdes, L., Carlotti, F., Molinero, J.C., Weikert,
 H., Greve, W., Lucic, D., Albaina, A., Yahia, N.D., Umani, S.F., Miranda, A., dos
 Santos, A., Cook, K., Robinson, S., Fernandez de Puelles, M.L., (2005). An overview
 of *Calanus helgolandicus* ecology in European waters. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 65, 1–53.
- Bonnet, D., Harris, R.P., Yebra, L., Guilhaumon, F., Conway, D.V.P., Hirst, A.G. (2009). Temperature effects on *Calanus helgolandicus* (Copepoda: Calanoida) development time and egg production. *J. Plankton Res.* 31, 31–44.
- Boyce, D.G., Lewis, M.R., Worm B. (2010). Global phytoplankton decline over the past century. *Nature* 466, 591–596.
- Brand, L. E., and Compton, A. (2007). Long-term increase in *Karenia brevis* abundance along the Southwest Florida Coast. *Harmful algae*, 6 (2), 232–252.
- Breier, C.F., and Buskey, E.J. (2007). Effects of the red tide dinoflagellate, *Karenia brevis*, on grazing and fecundity in the copepod *Acartia tonsa*. J. Plankton Res. 29, 115– 126.
- Bresnan, E. (2003). Monitoring programme for toxic phytoplankton in Scottish coastal waters. 1 April 2002–31 March 2003, Fisheries Research Services Contract Report 14/03, 53 pp. Available at http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Uploads/Documents/1403.pdf.
- Bresnan, E., Fryer, R., Hart, M., Percy, P. (2005). Correlation between algal presence in water and toxin presence in shellfish. Fisheries Research Services Contract Report 04/05.

- Bresnan, E., Turrell, E.A., Fraser, S. (2008). Monitoring PSP and *Alexandrium* hotspots in Scottish waters. Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on Harmful Algae.
- Bresnan, E., Arévalo, F., Belin, C., Branco, M.A.C., Cembella, A.D., Clarke, D., Correa, J., Davidson, K., Dhanji-Rapkova, M., Lozano, R.F., Fernández-Tejedor, M., Guðfinnsson, H., Carbonell, D.J., Laza-Martinez, A., Lemoine, M., Lewis, A.M., Menéndez, L.M., Maskrey, B.H., McKinney, A., Pazos, Y., Revilla, M., Siano, R., Silva, A., Swan, S., Turner, A.D., Schweibold, L., Provoost, P., Enevoldsen, H. (2021). Diversity and regional distribution of harmful algal events along the Atlantic margin of Europe. *Harmful Algae* 102, 101976.
- Brown, L., Bresnan, E., Graham, J., Lacaze, J.P., Turrell, E., Collins, C. (2010).
 Distribution, diversity and toxin composition of the genus *Alexandrium* (dinophyceae) in Scottish waters. *Eur. J. Phycol.* 45, 375–393.
- Bucklin, A., Frost, B.W., Kocher, T.D. (1995). Molecular systematics of six Calanus and three Metridia species (Calanoida: Copepoda). *Mar. Biol.* 121, 655–664.
- Buttino, I., do Espirito Santo, M., Ianora, A., Miralto, A. (2004). Rapid assessment of copepod (*Calanus helgolandicus*) embryo viability using fluorescent probes. *Mar. Biol.* 145, 393–399.
- Byrne, M., Ho, M., Selvakumaraswamy, P., Nguyen, H.D., Dworjanyn, S.A., Davis, A.R., (2009). Temperature, but not pH, compromises sea urchin fertilization and early development under near-future climate change scenarios. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 276, 1883–1888.

Caldeira, K. and Wickett, M.E. (2003). Anthropogenic carbon and ocean pH. Sci. 425, 365.

Caldeira, K. and Wickett, M.E. (2005). Ocean model predictions of chemistry changes from carbon dioxide emissions to the atmosphere and ocean. *J. Geoph. Res.* 110, C09S04.

- Caldwell, G.S., Watson, S.B., Bentley, M.G. (2004). How to assess toxin ingestion and post-ingestion partitioning in zooplankton? *J. Plan. Res.* 26, 1369-1377.
- Campbell, R.G., Wagner, M.M., Teegarden, G.J., Boudreau, C.A., Durbin, E., (2001) Growth and development rates of the copepod *Calanus finmarchicus* reared in the laboratory. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 221, 161–183.
- Campbell, R.G., Durbin, E.G., Teegarden, G.J., Cembella, A.D. (2004). Accumulation of PSP toxins in the copepod *Calanus finmarchicus* feeding on the toxigenic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium* species in laboratory and field studies. In: Steidinger, K.A., Landsberg, J.H., Tomas, C.R., and Vargo, G.A. eds. Harmful Algae 2002. St. Petersburg, Florida, USA, Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission and Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission of UNESCO, 97-99.
- Carotenuto, Y., Dattolo, E., Lauritano, C., Pisano, F., Sanges, R., Miralto, A., Procaccini,
 G., Ianora, A. (2014). Insights into the transcriptome of the marine copepod *Calanus helgolandicus* feeding on the oxylipin-producing diatom *Skeletonema marinoi*. *Harmful Algae*. 31, 153-162.
- Castell, J.D. (1982). Fatty acid metabolism in crustaceans. In: Pruder GD, Langdon C, Conklin., D. (eds) Proceedings of the second international conference on aquaculture nutrition: biochemical and physiological approaches to shellfish nutrition. Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, 124-145.
- Castellani, C., Irigoien, X., Mayor, D.J., Harris, R.P., Wilson, D. (2008). Feeding of *Calanus finmarchicus* and *Oithona similis* on the microplankton assemblage in the Irminger Sea, North Atlantic. J. Plankton Res. 30, 1095–1116.
- Cembella, A.D. (2003). Chemical ecology of eukaryotic microalgae in marine ecosystems. *Phycologia* 42 (4), 420–47.
- Cervetto, G., Gaudy, R., Pagano, M. (1999). Influence of salinity on the distribution of Acartia tonsa (Copepoda, Calanoida). *J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol.* 239, 33–45.
- Chen, L., Zhang, H., Finiguerra, M., Bobkov, Y., Bouchard, C., Avery, D.E., Anderson,P.A.V., Lin, S., Dam, H.G. (2015). A novel mutation from gene splicing of a voltage-

gated sodium channel in a marine copepod and its potential effect on channel function. *J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol.* 469, 131-142.

- Chivers, W.J., Walne, A.W., Hays, G.C., (2017). Mismatch between marine plankton range movements and the velocity of climate change. *Nat. Commun.* 8, 14434.
- Choquet, M., Hatlebakk, M., Dhanasiri, A.K.S., Kosobokova, K., Smolina, I., Søreide, J.E., Svensen, C., Melle, W., Kwaśniewski, S., Eiane, K. (2017). Genetics redraws pelagic biogeography of *Calanus*. *Biol. Lett.* 13, 20170588.
- Cleary, A.C., Søreide, J.E., Freese, D., Niehoff, B., Gabrielsen, T.M., (2017). Feeding by *Calanus glacialis* in a high arctic fjord: potential seasonal importance of alternative prey. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 74, 1937–1946.
- Cohen, J.H., Tester, P.A., Forward, R.B. Jr. (2007). Sublethal effects of the toxic dinoflagellate *Karenia brevis* on marine copepod behavior. *J. Plankton Res.* 29, 301-315.
- Colin, S.P. and Dam, H.G. (2002). Latitudinal differentiation in the effects of the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium* spp. on the feeding and reproduction of populations of the copepod *Acartia hudsonica*. *Harmful Algae* 1, 113–125.
- Colin, S.P. and Dam, H.G. (2003). Effects of the toxic dinoflagellate Alexandrium fundyense on the copepod Acartia hudsonica: A test of the mechanisms that reduce ingestion rates. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 248, 55-65.
- Colin, S.P. and Dam, H.G. (2005). Testing for resistance of pelagic marine copepods to a toxic dinoflagellate. *Evol. Ecol.* 18, 355–77.
- Colin, S.P., and Dam, H.G. (2007). Comparison of the functional and numerical responses of resistant versus non-resistant populations of the copepod *Acartia hudsonica* fed the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium tamarense*. *Harmful Algae* 6, 875–882.
- Collumb, C.J., and Buskey, E.J., (2004). Effects of the toxic red tide dinoflagellate (*Karenia brevis*) on survival, fecal pellet production and fecundity of the copepod *Acartia tonsa*. *Harmful Algae*. 44–46.

- Conover, R. (1988). Comparative life histories in the genera *Calanus* and *Neocalanus* in high latitudes of the northern hemisphere. *Hydrobiologia* 167, 127–142.
- Conway, D.V.P. (2012). Identification of the copepodite developmental stages of twentysix North Atlantic copepods. Occasional Publications. J. Mar. Biolog. Assoc. U.K. 21, 35.
- Cook, K.B., Bunker, A., Hay, S., Hirst, A.G., Speirs, D.C. (2007). Naupliar development times and survival of the copepods *Calanus helgolandicus* and *Calanus finmarchicus* in relation to food and temperature. J. Plankton Res. 29, 757–767.
- Cook, K.B., Bresnan, E., Turrell, E.A. (2010). The influence of naturally occurring algal biotoxins on the biology of pelagic copepods: A review of the literature and data currently available for Scottish waters. *Scottish Mar. Freshw. Sci.* Vol 1 No 15.
- Costa, R.M. and Fernández, F. (2002). Feeding and survival rates of the copepods *Euterpina acutifrons* Dana and *Acartia grani* Sars on the dinoflagellates *Alexandrium minutum* Balech and *Gyrodinium corsicum* Paulmier and the Chryptophyta *Rhodomonas baltica* Karsten. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 273, 131–142.
- Costa, R.M., Franco, J., Cacho, E., Fernández, F. (2005). Toxin content and toxic effects of the dinoflagellate *Gyrodinium corsicum* (Paulmier) on the ingestion and survival rates of the copepods *Acartia grani* and *Euterpina acutifrons. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol.* 322, 177–183.
- Costa, R.M., Pereira, L.C.C., Fernández, F. (2008). Effects of toxic *Alexandrium minutum* strains on the feeding and survival rates of pelagic marine copepods *Acartia grani* and *Euterpina acutifrons*. *Hydrobiologia* 614, 55–63.
- Costa, R.M., Pereira, L.C.C., Ferrnández, F. (2012). Deterrent effect of *Gymnodinium catenatum* Graham PSP-toxins on grazing performance of marine copepods. *Harmful Algae* 17, 75–82.

- Costello, J.H., Sullivan, B.K., Gifford, D.J. (2006). A physical-biological interaction underlying variable phenological responses to climate change by coastal zooplankton. J. Plankton Res. 28, 1099–1105.
- Cripps, G., Lindeque, P., Flynn, K.J. (2014). Have we been underestimating the effects of ocean acidification in zooplankton? *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 20, 3377–3385.
- Cripps, G., Lindeque, P., Flynn, K.J. (2015). Have we been underestimating the effects of ocean acidification in zooplankton? *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 20, 3377–3385.
- Dagg, M. (1977). Some effects of patchy food environments on copepods. *Limnol.* Oceanogr. 22, 99–107.
- Dahms, H.U. (1995). Dormancy in the Copepoda an overview. *Hydrobiologia* 306, 199–211.
- Dam, H.G., Roman, M.R., Youngbluth, M.J. (1995). Downward export of respiratory carbon and dissolved inorganic nitrogen by diel-migrant mesozooplankton at the JGOFS Bermuda time-series station. *Deep Sea Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap.* 42, 1187–1197.
- Dam, H.G. (2013). Evolutionary adaptation of marine zooplankton to global change. Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci. 5, 349–370.
- Deeds, J.R., Petitpas, C.M., Shue, V., White, K.D., Keafer, B.A., McGillicuddy, D.J., Milligan, P.J., Anderson, D.M., Turner, J.T. (2014). PSP toxin levels and plankton community composition and abundance in size-fractionated vertical profiles during spring/summer blooms of the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium fundyense* in the Gulf of Maine and on Georges Bank, 2007, 2008, and 2010: 1. *Toxin. Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 103, 329–349.
- Deeds, J.R., Stutts, W.L., Celiz, M.D., MacLeod, J., Hamilton, A.E., Lewis, B.J., Miller, D.W., Kanwit, K., Smith, J.L., Kulis, D.M., McCarron, P., Rauschenberg, C.D., Burnell, C.A., Archer, S.D., Borchert, J., Lankford, S.K. (2020).
 Dihydrodinophysistoxin-1 Produced by *Dinophysis norvegica* in the Gulf of Maine, USA and Its Accumulation in Shellfish. *Toxins* (Basel) 12.

- Dees, P., Bresnan, E., Dale, A.C., Edwards, M., Johns, J., Mouat, B., Whyte, C., Davidson, K. (2017). Harmful algal blooms in the eastern north atlantic ocean. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114 (46), E9763–64.
- Djeghri, N., Atkinson, A., Fileman, E.S., Harmer, R.A., Widdicombe, C.E., McEvoy, A.J., Cornwell, L., Mayor, D.J., (2018). High prey-predator size ratios and unselective feeding in copepods: A seasonal comparison of five species with contrasting feeding modes. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 165, 63–74.
- Doan, N.X., Vu, M.T.T., Pham, H.Q., Wisz, M.S., Nielsen, T.G., Dinh, K.V. (2019). Extreme temperature impairs growth and productivity in a common tropical marine copepod. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 4550.
- Doucette, G.J., Cembella, A.D., Martin, J.L., Michaud, J., Cole, T.V.N., Rolland, R.M.
 (2006). Paralytic shellfish poisoning (PSP) toxins in North Atlantic right whales *Eubalaena glacialis* and their zooplankton prey in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 306, 303–313.
- Drillet, G., Hansen, B., Kiørboe, T. (2011). Resting egg production induced by food limitation in the calanoid copepod *Acartia tonsa*. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 56, 2064– 2070.
- Drillet, G., Rais, M., Novac, A., Jepsen, P.M., Mahjoub, M.S., Hansen, B.W., (2015).
 Total egg harvest by the calanoid copepod *Acartia tonsa* (Dana) in intensive culture
 effects of high stocking densities on daily egg harvest and egg quality. *Aquac. Res.* 46, 3028-3039.
- Durant, J.M., Hjermann, D.Ø., Ottersen, G., Stenseth, N.C. (2007). Climate and the match or mismatch between predator requirements and resource availability. *Clim. Res.* 33, 271–283.
- Dutz, J. (1998). Repression of fecundity in the neritic copepod Acartia clausi exposed to the toxic dinoflagellate Alexandrium lusitanicum: Relationship between feeding and egg production. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 175, 97–107.

- Durbin, E., Teegarden, G., Campbell, R., Cembella, A., Baumgartner, M.F., Mate, B.R. (2002). North Atlantic right whales, *Eubalaena glacialis*, exposed to paralytic shellfish poisoning (PSP) toxins via a zooplankton vector, *Calanus finmarchicus*. *Harmful Algae* 1, 243–251.
- Edwards, M. and Richardson, A.J. (2004). Impact of climate change on marine pelagic phenology and trophic mismatch. *Nature* 430, 881-884.
- Edwards, M., Johns, D., Leterme, S., Svendsen, E., Richardson, A. (2006). Regional climate change and harmful algal blooms in the northeast Atlantic. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 51, 820–829.
- Edwards, M., Bresnan, E., Cook, K., Heath, M., Helaouet, P., Lynam, C., Raine, R.,
 Widdicombe, C. (2013). Impacts of climate change on plankton. *MCCIP Sci. Rev.*4.
- EFSA, (2009). Scientific opinion. Marine biotoxins in shellfish Saxitoxin group.
 Scientific opinion of the panel on contaminants in the food chain. *EFSA J.* 1019, 1–76.
- Escribano, R. and McLaren, I.A. (1992). Influence of food and temperature on lengths and weights of 2 marine copepods. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 159, 77–88.
- Estrada, M.M., Sala, M.M., van Lenning, K., Alcaraz, M., Felipe, J., and Veldhuis, M.J.W. (2008). Biological interactions in enclosed plankton communities including *Alexandrium catenella* and copepods: Role of phosphorus. *J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol.* 355, 1-11.
- Etheridge, S.M. and Roesler, C.S. (2005). Effects of temperature, irradiance, and salinity on photosynthesis, growth rates, total toxicity, and toxin composition for *Alexandrium fundyense* isolates from the Gulf of Maine and Bay of Fundy. *Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 52, 2491–2500.
- Fabry, V.J., Seibel, B.A., Feely, R.A., Orr, J.C. (2008). Impacts of ocean acidification on marine fauna and ecosystem processes. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 65, 414–432.

- Fauchot, J., Levasseur, M., Roy, S., Gagnon, R., Weise, A.M. (2005). Environmental factors controlling *Alexandrium tamarense* (dinophyceae) growth rate during a red tide event in the St. Lawrence Estuary (Canada). J. Phycol. 41, 263–272.
- Feely, R.A., Sabine, C.L., Lee, K., Berelson, W., Kleypas, J., Fabry, V. J., Millero, F.J. (2004). Impact of anthropogenic CO₂ on the CaCO₃ system in the oceans. *Sci.* 305, 362–366.
- Fehling, J., Davidson, K., Bolch, C.J.S, Brand, T.D., Narayanaswamy, B.E. (2012) The Relationship between phytoplankton distribution and water column characteristics in North West European Shelf Sea Waters. *PloS ONE* 7(3), e34098.
- Feuchtmayr, H., Thackeray, S.J., Jones, I.D., Ville, M., Fletcher, J., James, B.E.N., Kelly, J. (2012). Spring phytoplankton phenology—are patterns and drivers of change consistent among lakes in the same climatological region? *Freshwater Biol.*, 57, 331–344.
- Finiguerra, M., Avery, D.E., Dam, H.G. (2014). No evidence for induction or selection of mutant sodium channel expression in the copepod *Acartia husdsonica* challenged with the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium fundyense*. *Ecol. Evol.* 4, 3470-3481.
- Fire, S.E., Miller, G.A., Sabater, E.R., Wells, R.S. (2021). Utility of Red Tide (*Karenia brevis*) Monitoring Data as a Predictive Tool to Estimate Brevetoxin Accumulation in Live, Free-Ranging Marine Mammals. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 611310.
- Flewelling, L.J., Naar, J.P., Abbott, J.P., Baden, D.G., Barros, N.B., Bossart, G.D., Bottein, M.-Y.D., Hammond, D.G., Haubold, E.M., Heil, C.A., Henry, M.S., Jacocks, H.M., Leighfield, T.A., Pierce, R.H., Pitchford, T.D., Rommel, S.A., Scott, P.S., Steidinger, K.A., Truby, E.W., Van Dolah, F.M., Landsberg, J.H. (2005). Red tides and marine mammal mortalities. *Nature* 435, 755–756.
- Fraga, S., Sampedro, N., Larsen, J., Moestrup, Ø., Calado, A.J., (2015). Arguments against the proposal 2302 by John & al. to reject the name *Gonyaulax catenella* (*Alexandrium catenella*). *Taxon.* 64, 634–5.

- Frost, B.W. (1972). Effects of size and concentration of food particles on the feeding behavior of the marine planktonic copepod *Calanus pacificus*. *Limnol. Oceanogr*. 17, 805–815.
- Frost, B.W. (2005). Diatom blooms and copepod responses: Paradigm or paradox? Prog. Oceanogr. 67, 283-285.
- Fryxell, G.A., Villac, M.C., Shapiro, L.P., (1997). The occurrence of the toxic diatom genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* (*Bacillariophyceae*) on the West Coast of the USA, 1920– 1996: a review. *Phycologia* 36, 419–437.
- Fu, F.X., Tatters, A.O., Hutchins, D.A., (2012). Global change and the future of harmful algal blooms in the ocean. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 470, 207–233.
- Gaard, E., and Reinert, J. (2002). Pelagic cod and haddock juveniles on the Faeroe plateau: distribution, diets and feeding habitats 1994–1996. *Sarsia*, 87(3), 193–206.
- Gallacher, S., Howard, G., Hess, P., MacDonald, E., Kelly, M.C., Bates, L.A., Brown, N., MacKenzie, M., Gillibrand, P., Turrell, W.R., (2001). The occurrence of amnesic shellfish poisons in shellfish from Scottish waters. *Harmful Algal Bloom*. 30–33.
- Gallienne, C.P., Robins, D.B., (2001). Is *Oithona* the most important copepod in the world's oceans? *J. Plankton Res.* 23, 1421–1432.
- Gao, K. and Zheng, Y. (2010). Combined effects of ocean acidification and solar UV radiation on photosynthesis, growth, pigmentation and calcification of the coralline alga Corallina sessilis (Rhodophyta). *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 16, 2388–2398.
- Garcés, E., Masó, M., Vila, M., Camp, J., (2000). HABs events in the Mediterranean Sea: are they increasing. A case study last Decad. NW Mediterranean genus *Alexandrium*. *Harmful Algal News* 20, 1–11.
- García-Mendoza, E., Rivas, D., Olivos-Ortiz, A., Almazan-Becerril, A., Castaneda-Vega,
 C., Pena-Manjarrez, J.L., (2009). A *toxic Pseudo-nitzschia* bloom in Todos Santos
 Bay, Northwestern Baja California, Mexico. *Harmful Algae* 8, 493–503.

- Garzke, J., Ismar, S.M.H., Sommer, U. (2015). Climate change affects low trophic level marine consumers: Warming decreases copepod size and abundance. *Oecologia*, 177, 849–860.
- Garzke, J., Hansen, T., Ismar, S.M.H., Sommer, U. (2016). Combined effects of ocean warming and acidification on copepod abundance, body size and fatty acid content. *PLoS ONE* 11(5), e0155952.
- Gatten, R.R., Corner, E.D.S., Kilvington, C.C., Sargent, J.R. (1979). A seasonal survey of the lipids in *Calanus helgolandicus* Claus from the English Channel. In E. Naylor and R.G. Hartnoll (Eds.), Cyclic phenomena in plants and animals (pp. 275–284). *Oxford: Pergamon Press.*
- Gatten, R.R., Sargent, J.R., Forsberg, T.E.V., O'Hara, S., Corner, E.D.S. (1980) On the nutrition and metabolism of zooplankton. XIV Utilisation of wax esters by *Calanus h*elgolandicus during maturation and reproduction. *J. Mar. Biol. Assoc.* UK. 60, 391-399.
- Gayoso, A.M. (2002). Observations on *Alexandrium tamarense* (Lebour) Balech and other dinoflagellate populations in Golfo Nuevo, Patagonia (Argentina). *J. Plan. Res.* 23, 463-468.
- George, D. G. and Harris, G. P. (1985). The effect of climate on long-term changes in the crustacean zooplankton biomass of Lake Windermere, UK. *Nature*, 316, 536–539.
- George, D.G. (2012) The effect of nutrient enrichment and changes in the weather on the abundance of Daphnia in Esthwaite Water, Cumbria. *Freshwater Biol.*, 57, 360– 372.
- Geraci, J.R., Anderson, D.M., Timperi, R.J., St Aubin, D.J., Early, G.A., Prescott, J.H., Mayo, C.A. (1989). Humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangilae*) fatally poisoned by dinoflagellate toxin. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 46, 1895–1898.

- Giering, S.L.C., Sanders, R., Lampitt, R.S., Anderson, T.R., Tamburini, C., Boutrif, M., Zubkov, M. V, Marsay, C.M., Henson, S.A., Saw, K. (2014). Reconciliation of the carbon budget in the ocean's twilight zone. *Nature*. 507, 480–483.
- Gislason, A., and Astthorsson, O.S. (2002). The food of Norwegian spring-spawning herring in the western Norwegian Sea in relation to the annual cycle of zooplankton. *Sarsia*, 87(3), 236–247.
- Gill, C., and Harris, R. (1987). Behavioural responses of the copepods *Calanus helgolandicus* and *Temora longicornis* to dinoflagellate diets. J. Mar. Biol. 67(4), 785-801.
- Glibert, P.M., Icarus Allen, J., Artioli, Y., Beusen, A., Bouwman, L., Harle, J., Holmes, R., Holt, J. (2014). Vulnerability of coastal ecosystems to changes in harmful algal bloom distribution in response to climate change: projections based on model analysis. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 20, 3845–3858.
- Gobler, C.J., Doherty, O.M., Hattenrath-Lehmann, T.K., Griffith, A.W., Kang, Y., Litaker, R.W. (2017). Ocean warming since 1982 has expanded the niche of toxic algal blooms in the North Atlantic and North Pacific oceans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 114, 4975 LP – 4980.
- Grieve, B.D., Hare, J.A., Saba, V.S. (2017). Projecting the effects of climate change on Calanus finmarchicus distribution within the U.S. Northeast Continental Shelf. Sci. Rep. 7, 6264.
- Grane´ li, E., and Turner, J.T. (2002). Top-down regulation in ctenophore-copepodciliatediatom phytoflagellate communities in coastal waters: a mesocosm study. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 239, 57–68.
- Grieve, B.D., Hare, J.A., Saba, V.S. (2017). Projecting the effects of climate change on *Calanus finmarchicus* distribution within the U.S. Northeast Continental Shelf. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 6264.

- Griffin, J.E., Park, G., Dam, H.G., (2019). Relative importance of nitrogen sources, algal alarm cues and grazer exposure to toxin production of the marine dinoflagellate *Alexandrium catenella*. *Harmful algae*. 84, 181-187.
- Grzebyk, D., Béchemin, C., Ward, C.J., Vérité, C., Codd, G.A., Maestrini, S.Y. (2003). Effects of salinity and two coastal waters on the growth and toxin content of the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium minutum*. J. Plankton Res. 25, 1185–1199.
- Guillard, R.R.L. and Ryther J.H. (1962) Studies of marine planktonic diatoms. I. Cyclotella nana Hustedt and Detonula confervaceae (Cleve) Gran. Can. J. Microbiol. 8, 229-239.
- Guillard, R.R.L. and Hargraves, P.E. (1993). *Stichochrysis immobilis* is a diatom, not a chrysophyte. *Phycologia* 32: 234-236.
- Guisande, C., Frango´ pulos, M., Carotenuto, Y., Maneiro, I., Riveiro, I., Vergara, A.R., (2002). Fate of paralytic shellfish poisoning toxins ingested by the copepod Acartia clausi. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 240, 105–115.
- Hallegraeff, G. M. (1993). A review of harmful algal blooms and their apparent global increase. *Phycologia*. 32, 79–99.
- Hallegraeff, G.M., Anderson, D.M., Belin, C., Bottein, M.-Y.D., Bresnan, E., Chinain, M., Enevoldsen, H., Iwataki, M., Karlson, B., McKenzie, C.H., Sunesen, I., Pitcher, G.C., Provoost, P., Richardson, A., Schweibold, L., Tester, P.A., Trainer, V.L., Yñiguez, A.T., Zingone, A. (2021). Perceived global increase in algal blooms is attributable to intensified monitoring and emerging bloom impacts. *Commun. Earth Environ.* 2, 117.
- Hamasaki, K., Horie, M., Tokimitsu, S., Toda, T., Taguchi, S. (2001). Variability in toxicity of the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium Tamarense* isolated from Hiroshima Bay, Western Japan, as a reflection of changing environmental conditions. *J. Plankton Res.* 23, 271–278.
- Hamasaki, K., Takahashi, T., Uye, S.-i. (2003). Accumulation of paralytic shellfish poisoning toxins in planktonic copepods during a bloom of the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium tamarense* in Hiroshima Bay, western Japan. *Mar. Biol.* 143, 981–988.

- Hammann, S., Tillmann, U., Schroder, M., Vetter, W. (2013). Profiling the fatty acids from a strain of the microalgae *Alexandrium tamarense* by means of high-speed counter-current chromatography and gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry. *J. Chromatogr.* 1312, 93–103.
- Hansen, P.J., Nielsen, T.G., Kaas, H. (1995). Distribution and growth of protists and mesozooplankton during a bloom of *Chrysochromulina* spp. (Prymnesiophyceae, Prymnesiales). *Phycologia* 34, 409–416.
- Harðardóttir, S., Pančić, M., Tammilehto, A., Krock, B., Møller, E.F., Nielsen, T.G., Lundholm, N. (2015). Dangerous Relations in the Arctic Marine Food Web: Interactions between Toxin Producing *Pseudo-nitzschia* Diatoms and Calanus Copepodites. *Mar. Drugs* 13, 3809–3835.
- Harris, R.P., Irigoien, X., Head, R.N., Rey, C., Hygum, B.H., Hansen, B.W., Niehoff, B., Meyer-Harms, B., Carlotti, F. (2000). Feeding, growth, and reproduction in the genus *Calanus. ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 57, 1708–1726.
- Hassett, R.P. (2003). Effect of toxins of the 'red-tide' dinoflagellate *Alexandrium* spp. on the oxygen consumption of marine copepods. *J. Plankton Res.* 25, 185–192.
- Hardison, D.R., Sunda, W.G., Litaker, R.W., Shea, D., Tester, P.A. (2012). Nitrogen limitation increases brevetoxins in *Karenia brevis* (Dinophyceae): implications for bloom toxicity. *J. Phycol.* 48, 844–858.
- Hezroni, H., Ben-Tov Perry, R., Meir, Z., Housman, G., Lubelsky, Y., Ulitsky, I. (2017). A subset of conserved mammalian long non-coding RNAs are fossils of ancestral protein-coding genes. *Genome Biol.* 18, 162.
- Hirche, H. J. (1983). Overwintering of *Calanus finmarchicus* and *Calanus helgolandicus*. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 11, 281–290.
- Hirche, H. J. (1984). Seasonal distribution of *Calanus finmarchicus* (Gunnerus) and *C. helgolandicus* (Claus) in a Swedish fjord. *Crustaceana*, 7(Supplement), 233–241.

- Hirche, H.-J. and Kwasniewski, S. (1997). Distribution, reproduction and development of *Calanus* species in the Northeast water in relation to environmental conditions. J. *Mar. Syst.* 10, 299–317.
- Hays, G. C., Richardson, A. J., Robinson, C. (2005). Climate change and marine plankton. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 20, 337–344.
- Holste, L. and Peck, M., (2006). The effects of temperature and salinity on egg production and hatching success of Baltic *Acartia tonsa* (Copepoda: Calanoida): a laboratory investigation. *Mar. Biol.* 148, 1061–1070.

Humes, A. (1994). How many copepods? Hydrobiologia 292-293 (1), 1-7.

- Ianora, A., Poulet, S.A., Miralto, A. (1995). A comparative study of the inhibitory effect of diatoms on the reproductive biology of the copepod *Temora stylifera*. *Mar. Biol.* 121, 533–539.
- Ianora, A., Turner, J.T., Esposito, F., Carotenuto, Y., d'Ippolito, G., Romano, G., Fontana, A., Guisande, C., Miralto, A., (2004). Copepod egg production and hatching success is reduced by maternal diets of a non-neurotoxic strain of the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium tamarense. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 280, 199-210.
- Ianora, A., Boersma, M., Casotti, R., Fontana, A., Harder, J., Hoffmann, F., Pavia, H., Potin, P., Poulet, S.A., Toth, G. (2006). New trends in marine chemical ecology. *Estuaries Coasts* 29 (4), 531–51.
- Ianora, A., and Miralto A., (2010). Toxigenic effects of diatoms on grazers, phytoplankton and other microbes: A Review. *Ecotoxicology* 19, 493-511.
- IPCC, (2019). Technical Summary [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, E. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, M. Tignor, A. Alegría, M. Nicolai, A. Okem, J. Petzold, B. Rama, N.M. Weyer (eds.)]. In: *IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate* [H.- O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, M. Tignor, E. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Nicolai, A. Okem, J. Petzold, B. Rama, N.M. Weyer (eds.)].
 https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/3/2019/11/04_SROCC_TS_FINAL.pdf
- IPCC, (2021). Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGI_SPM.pdf
- Irigoien, X., Harris, R.P., Verheye, H.M., Joly, P., Runge, J., Starr, M., Pond, D.,
 Campbell, R., Shreeve, R., Ward, P., Smith, A.N., Dam, H.G., Peterson, W., Tirelli,
 V., Koski, M., Smith, T., Harbour, D., Davidson, R. (2002). Copepod hatching
 success in marine ecosystems with high diatom concentrations. *Nature*, 419, 387-389.
- Irigoien, X., Flynn, K.J., Harris, R.P. (2005). Phytoplankton blooms: a 'loophole' in microzooplankton grazing impact? J. Plankton Res. 27, 313–321.
- Imai, I., M. Yamaguchi, and Y. Hori. (2006). Eutrophication and occurrences of harmful algal blooms in the Seto Inland Sea, Japan. *Plank. Benth. Res.* 1 (2), 71–84.
- Jansen, S., Riser, C.W., Wassmann, P., Bathmann, U. (2006). Copepod feeding behaviour and egg production during a dinoflagellate bloom in the North Sea. *Harmful Algae* 5, 102-112.
- Jensen, S. K., Lacaze, J. P., Hermann, G., Kershaw, J., Brownlow, A., Turner, A., Hall, A. (2015). Detection and effects of harmful algal toxins in Scottish harbour seals and potential links to population decline. *Toxicon*: official *J Int. Soc. Tox.* 97, 1–14.
- Jiang, X., Lonsdale D.J., Gobler C.J. (2011). Rapid gain and loss of evolutionary resistance to the harmful dinoflagellate *Cochlodinium polykrikoides* in the copepod *Acartia tonsa*. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 56, 947–54.
- Jiang, X., Tang, Y., Lonsdale, D.J., Gobler, C.J. (2009). Deleterious consequences of a red tide dinoflagellate *Cochlodinium polykrikoides* for the calanoid copepod *Acartia tonsa. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 390, 105–116.

- John, E.H., and Flynn, K.J., (2002). Modelling changes in paralytic shellfish toxin content of dinoflagellates in response to nitrogen and phosphorus supply. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 225, 147–160.
- John, U., Litaker, R.W., Montresor, M., Murray, S., Brosnahan, M.L., Anderson, D.M., (2014). Formal revision of the *Alexandrium tamarense* species complex (Dinophyceae) taxonomy: the introduction of five species with emphasis on molecular-based (rDNA) classification. *Protist* 165, 779–804.
- Jones, R.H. and Flynn, K.J. (2005). Nutritional status and diet composition affect the value of diatoms as copepod prey. *Sci.* 307, 1457-1459.
- Jones, R.H., Flynn, K.J., Anderson, T.R. (2002). Effect of food quality on carbon and nitrogen growth efficiency in the copepod Acartia tonsa. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 235, 147-156.
- Jónasdóttir, S.H. and Kiørboe, T. (1996). Copepod recruitment and food composition: Do diatoms affect hatching success? *Mar. Biol.* 125, 743-750.
- Jónasdóttir, S.H., Kiørboe, T., Tang, K.W., St. John, M., Visser, A.W., Saiz, E., and Dam, H.G. (1998). Role of diatoms in copepod production: good, harmless or toxic? *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 172, 305-308.
- Jónasdóttir, S., Gudfinnsson, H., Gislason, A., Astthorsson, O. (2002). Diet composition and quality for *Calanus finmarchicus* egg production and hatching success off southwest Iceland. *Mar. Biol.* 140, 1195–1206.
- Jónasdóttir, S.H., Trung, N.H., Hansen, F., Gärtner, S. (2005). Egg production and hatching success in the calanoid copepods *Calanus helgolandicus* and *Calanus finmarchicus* in the North Sea from March to September 2001. J. Plankton Res. 27, 1239–1259.
- Jónasdóttir, S.H., Visser, A.W., Richardson, K., Heath, M.R. (2015). Seasonal copepod lipid pump promotes carbon sequestration in the deep North Atlantic. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 112, 12122–12126.

- Juhl, A.R., Trainer, V.L., Latz, M.I. (2001). Effect of fluid shear and irradiance on population growth and cellular toxin content of the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium fundyense*. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 46, 758–764.
- Joyce, L.B. (2004). Dinoflagellate cysts in recent marine sediments from scapa flow, Orkney, Scotland. *Bot. Mar.* 47, 173–183.
- Kanazawa, A., Teshima, S., Ono, K. (1979). Relationship between essential fatty acid requirements of aquatic animals and the capacity for bioconversion of linolenic acid to highly unsaturated fatty acids. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* 63B, 295-298.
- Karlson, B., Andersen, P., Arneborg, L., Cembella, A., Eikrem, W., John, U., West, J.J., Klemm, K., Kobos, J., Lehtinen, S., Lundholm, N. (2021). Harmful algal blooms and their effects in coastal seas of Northern Europe. *Harmful Algae* 101989.
- Kershaw, J.L., Jensen, S.-K., McConnell, B., Fraser, S., Cummings, C., Lacaze, J.-P., Hermann, G., Bresnan, E., Dean, K.J., Turner, A.D., Davidson, K., Hall, A.J. (2021). Toxins from harmful algae in fish from Scottish coastal waters. *Harmful Algae* 105, 102068.
- Kim, J.-H., Cho, K.-H., La, H.S., Choy, E.J., Matsuno, K., Kang, S.-H., Kim, W., Yang, E.J., (2020). Mass occurrence of Pacific copepods in the Southern Chukchi Sea during summer: implications of the high-temperature bering summer water. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 7, 612.
- Kirkpatrick, B., Fleming, L.E., Squicciarini, D., Backer, L.C., Clark, R., Abraham, W., Benson, J., Cheng, Y.S., Johnson, D., Pierce, R., Zaias, J., Bossart, G.D., Baden, D.G. (2004). Literature review of Florida red tide: implications for human health effects. *Harmful Algae*. 3, 99–115.
- Kozlowsky-Suzuki, B., Karjalainen, M., Lehtiniemi, M., Engstro⁻m-O⁻st, J., Koski, M., Carlsson, P. (2003). Feeding, reproduction and toxin accumulation by the copepods *Acartia bifilosa* and *Eurytemora* affinis in the presence of the toxic cyanobacterium *Nodularia spumigena. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 249, 237–249.

- Kozlowsky-Suzuki B., Koski M., Hallberg E., Wallén R., Carlsson P. (2009). Glutathione transferase activity and oocyte development in copepods exposed to toxic phytoplankton. *Harmful Algae* 8, 395–406.
- Kroeker, K. J., Kordas, R. L., Crim, R. N., Singh, G. G. (2010). Meta-analysis reveals negative yet variable effects of ocean acidification on marine organisms. *Ecol. Lett.* 13, 1419–1434.
- Kroeker, K.J., Kordas, R.L., Crim, R., Hendriks, I.E., Ramajo, L., Singh, G.S., Duarte, C.M., Gattuso, J. (2013). Impacts of ocean acidification on marine organisms: quantifying sensitivities and interaction with warming. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 19, 1884–1896.
- Lacoste, A., Poulet, S. A., Cueff, A., Kattner, G., Ianora, A., Laabir, M. (2001). New evidence of the copepod maternal food effects on reproduction. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.*, 259, 85–107.
- Lauritano, C., Carotenuto, Y., Miralto, A., Procaccini, G., Ianora, A. (2012). Copepod population-specific response to a toxic diatom diet. *PLoS ONE* 7 (10) e47262.
- Lauritano, C., Carotenuto, Y., Procaccini, G., Turner, J.T., Ianora, A. (2013). Changes in expression of stress genes in copepods feeding upon a non-brevetoxin-producing strain of the dinoflagellate *Karenia brevis*. *Harmful Algae* 28, 23–30.
- Lee, H.-W., Ban, S., Ando, Y., Ota, T., Ikeda, T. (1999). Deleterious effect of diatom diets on egg production and hatching success in the marine copepod *Pseudocalanus newmani. Plan. Biol. Ecol.* 46, 104-112.
- Lehtiniemi, M., Engstro¨m-O¨st, J., Karjalainen, M., Kozlowsky-Suzuki, B., Viitasalo, M. (2002). Fate of cyanobacterial toxins in the pelagic food web: transfer to copepods or to faecal pellets? *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 241, 13–21.
- Leising, A.W., Pierson, J.J., Halsband-Lenk, C., Horner, R., Postel, J. (2005). Copepod grazing during spring blooms: Does *Calanus pacificus* avoid harmful diatoms? *Prog. Oceanogr.*, 67, 384-405.

- Leong, S.C.Y., Murata, A., Nagashima, Y., Taguchi, S. (2004). Variability in toxicity of the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium tamarense* in response to different nitrogen sources and concentrations. *Toxicon* 43, 407–415.
- Leu, E., Daase, M., Schulz, K.G., Stuhr, A., Riebesell, U. (2013). Effect of ocean acidification on the fatty acid composition of a natural plankton community. *Biogeosciences* 10, 1143–1153.
- Lewis, C.N., Brown, K.A., Edwards, L.A., Cooper, G., Findlay, H.S. (2013). Sensitivity to ocean acidification parallels natural pCO₂ gradients experienced by Arctic copepods under winter sea ice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 110, E4960–E4967.
- Li, J., Li, C.L., Zhang, Z., Tao, Z.C. (2006). Effects of single and mixed diatom diets on the reproduction of copepod *Calanus sinicus*. *Acta Hydrochimica et Hydrobiologica*, 34, 117-125.
- Li, J., Sun, S., Li, C.L., Zhang, Z., Pu, X.M. (2008). Effects of different diets on the reproduction and naupliar development of the copepod *Acartia bifilosa*. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 355, 95-102.
- Lilly, E.L., Halanych, K.M., Anderson, D.M. (2007), Species boundaries and global biogeography of the *Alexandrium tamarense* complex (Dinophyceae). *J. Phycol.* 43, 1329-1338.
- Liu, S. and Wang, W.-X. (2002). Feeding and reproductive responses of marine copepods in South China Sea to toxic and nontoxic phytoplankton. *Mar. Biol.* 140, 595-603.
- Longhurst A.R. (1991). Role of the marine biosphere in the global carbon cycle. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 36, 1507–26.
- Longhurst A.R., Bedo A.W., Harrison W.G., Head E.J.H., and Sameoto D.D., (1990). Vertical flux of respiratory carbon by oceanic diel migrant biota. *Deep Sea Res. I.* 37, 685–94.
- Loret, P., Tengs, T., Villareal, T.A., Singler, H., Richardson, B., McGuire, P., Morton, S., Busman, M., Campbell, L., (2002). No difference found in ribosomal DNA

sequences from physiologically diverse clones of *Karenia brevis* (Dinophyceae) from the Gulf of Mexico. *J. Plankton Res.* 24, 735–739.

- Landsberg, J.H. (2002). The effects of harmful algal blooms on aquatic organisms. *Rev. Fish. Sci. Aquac.* 10 (2), 113–390.
- Legrand, C., Rengefors, K., Fistarol, G.O., Granéli, E. (2003). Allelopathy in phytoplankton biochemical, ecological and evolutionary aspects. *Phycologia* 42 (4), 406–19.
- Lonsdale, D.J., Caron, D.A., Dennett, M.R., Schaffner, R., (2000). Predation by *Oithona* spp. on protozooplankton in the Ross Sea, Antarctica. *Deep-Sea Res. II* 47, 3273–3283.
- Luckas, B., Erler, K., Krock, B. (2015). Analysis of Marine Biotoxins Using LC-MS/MS. *Methods Mol. Biol.* pp. 277–297.
- Mackas, D.L., Goldblatt, R., Lewis, A.G. (1998). Interdecadal variation in developmental timing of Neocalanus plumchrus populations at Ocean Station P in the subarctic north Pacific. *Can. J. Fish Aquat. Sci.*, 55, 1878–1893.
- Mackas, D.L., Greve, W., Edwards, M., Chiba, S., Tadokoro, K., Eloire, D., Mazzocchi, M.G., Batten, S., Richardson, A., Johnson, C., Head, E., Converssi, A., Peluso, T., (2012). Changing zooplankton seasonality in a changing ocean: Comparing time series of zooplankton phenology. *Prog.Oceanogr.* 97–100C, 31–62.
- Madsen S.J., Nielsen T.G., Tervo O.M., Söderkvist J. (2008). Importance of feeding for egg production in *Calanus finmarchicus* and *C. glacialis* during the Arctic spring. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 353, 177–190.
- Maneiro, I., Iglesias, P., Guisande, C., Riveiro, I., Barreiro, A., Zervoudaki, S., Granéli, E., (2005). Fate of domoic acid ingested by the copepod *Acartia clausi. Mar. Biol.* 148, 123–130.
- Marampouti, C., Buma, A.J., de Boer, M.K. (2021). Mediterranean alien harmful algal blooms: origins and impacts. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int.* 28(4), 3837-3851.

- Martin, J.L., Haya, K., Burridge, L.E., Wildish, D.J. (1990). *Nitzschia* pseudodelicatissima—a source of domoic acid in the Bay of Fundy, eastern Canada. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 67, 177-182.
- Mauchline, J. (1998) The Biology of Calanoid Copepods, Vol. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Marshall, S.M. and Orr, A.P. (1955). The biology of a marine copepod *Calanus finmarchicus* Gunnerus. Oliver & Boyd, London.
- Maneiro, I., Iglesias, P., Guisande, C., Riveiro, I., Barreiro, A., Zervoudaki, S., Granéli, E., (2005). Fate of domoic acid ingested by the copepod *Acartia clausi*. *Mar. Biol*. 148, 123–130.
- Mann, K.H. (1993). Physical oceanography, food chains, and fish stocks: a review. ICES J. *Mar. Sci.*, 50, 105-119.
- Mayor, D.J., Anderson, T.R., Irigoien, X., Harris, R., (2006). Feeding and reproduction of *Calanus finmarchicus* during non-bloom conditions in the Irminger Sea. J. *Plankton Res.* 28, 1167–1179.
- Mayor, D.J., Matthews, C., Cook, K., Zuur, A.F., Hay, S. (2007) CO2-induced acidification affects hatching success in *Calanus finmarchicus*. *Mar. Ecol.Prog. Ser.*, 350, 91–97.
- Mayor, D.J., Anderson, T.R., Pond, D.W., Irigoien, X. (2009). Egg production and associated losses of carbon, nitrogen and fatty acids from maternal biomass in *Calanus finmarchicus* before the spring bloom. *J. Mar. Systems*, 78 (4), 505-510.
- Mayor, D.J., Everett, N.R., Cook, K.B., (2012). End of century ocean warming and acidification effects on reproductive success in a temperate marine copepod. J. *Plankton Res.* 34, 258–262.

- Mayor, D.J., Sommer U., Cook K.B., Davidson R.L., Viant, M. (2015). The metabolomic response of marine copepods to environmental warming, ocean acidification and food deprivation. *Nat. Sci. Rep.* 5, 13690.
- McFeeters, B.J., and Frost, P.C. (2011). Temperature and the effects of elemental food quality on Daphnia. *Freshwater Biol.* 56, 1447–1455.
- McMahon, C.R. and Hays, G.C. (2006). Thermal niche, large-scale movements and implications of climate change for a critically endangered marine vertebrate. *Glob. Change Biol.* 12, 1330–1338.
- Menden-Deuer, S., and Lessard, E.J. (2000). Carbon to volume relationships for dinoflagellates, diatoms, and other protist plankton. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 45, 569–579.
- Miralto, A., Barone, G., Romano, G., Poulet, S.A., Ianora, A., Russo, G.L., Buttino, I., Mazzarella, G., Laabir, M., Cabrini, M., (1999). The insidious effect of diatoms on copepod reproduction. *Nature* 402, 173–176.
- Miralto, A., Guglielmo, L., Zagami, G., Buttino, I., Granata, A. (2003). Inhibition of population growth in the copepods *Acartia clausi* and *Calanus helgolandicus* during diatom blooms. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 254, 253–268.
- Mitra, A. and Flynn, K.J. (2006). Promotion of harmful algal blooms by zooplankton predatory activity. *Biol. Lett.* 2, 194-197.
- Murphy, G.E.P., Romanuk, T.N., Worm, B. (2020). Cascading effects of climate change on plankton community structure. *Ecol. Evol.* 10, 2170–2181.
- Natsuike, M., Nagai, S., Matsuno, K., Saito, R., Tsukazaki, C., Yamaguchi, A., Imai, I., (2013). Abundance and distribution of toxic *Alexandrium tamarense* resting cysts in the sediments of the Chukchi Sea and the eastern Bering Sea. *Harmful Algae* 27, 52–59.
- Niehoff, B., Hirche, H.-J., Båmstedt, U., (2000). The reproduction of *Calanus finmarchicus* in the Norwegian Sea in spring. *Sarsia* 85, 15–22.

- Niehoff, B., Klenke, U., Hirche, H.-J., Irigoien X., Head, R., Harris, R. (1999). A high frequency time series at Weathership M, Norwegian Sea, during the 1997 spring bloom: the reproductive biology of *Calanus finmarchicus. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 176, 81-92.
- Nielsen, T. G., Kiørboe, T., Bjørnsen, P. K. (1990). Effects of a *Chrysochromulina* polylepis subsurface bloom on the planktonic community. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 62, 21–35.
- Nohe, A., Goffin, A., Tyberghein, L., Lagring, R., De Cauwer, K., Vyverman, W., Sabbe,
 K. (2020). Marked changes in diatom and dinoflagellate biomass, composition
 and seasonality in the Belgian Part of the North Sea between the 1970s and 2000s.
 Sci. Total Environ. 716, 136316.
- OBIS (2021) Ocean Biodiversity Information System. Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission of UNESCO. www.obis.org.
- Okaichi, T. (2002). Environmental management of the semi enclosed sea and red tide problems in the Seto Inland Sea. *Fish. Sci.* 68, 483–88.
- Okolodkov, Y.B. (2005). The global distributional patterns of toxic, bloom dinoflagellates recorded from the Eurasian Arctic. *Harmful Algae* 4, 351–369.
- Orr, J.C., Fabry, V.J., Aumont, O., Bopp, L., Doney, S.C., Feely, R.A., Gnanadesikan, A., Gruber, N., Ishida, A., Joos, F., Key, R.M., Lindsay, K., Maier-Reimer, E., Matear, R., Monfray, P., Mouchet, A., Najjar, R.G., Plattner, G.-K., Rodgers, K.B., Sabine, C.L., Sarmiento, J.L., Schlitzer, R., Slater, R.D., Totterdell, I.J., Weirig, M.-F., Yamanaka, Y., Yool, A. (2005). Anthropogenic ocean acidification over the twenty-first century and its impact on calcifying organisms. *Nature*. 437, 681–686.
- Paffenhöfer, G.A., Ianora, A., Miralto, A., Turner, J.T., Kleppel, G.S., d'Alcalà, M.R.,
 Casotti, R., Caldwell, G.S., Pohnert, G., Fontana, A., Müller-Navarra, D.,
 Jónasdóttir, S., Armbrust, V., Båmstedt, U., Ban, S., Bentley, M.G., Boersma, M.,
 Bundy, M., Buttino, I., Calbet, A., Carlotti, F., Carotenuto, Y., d'Ippolito, G., Frost,
 B., Guisande, C., Lampert, W., Lee, R.F., Mazza, S. , Mazzocchi, M.G., Nejstgaard,
 J.C., Poulet, S.A., Romano, G., Smetacek, V., Uye, S., Wakeham, S., Watson, S.,

Wichard, T. (2005). Colloquium on diatom-copepod interactions. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 286, 293-305.

- Parmesan, C. and Yohe, G. (2003). A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. *Nature* 421, 37–42.
- Parmesan, C. (2006). Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst.* 37, 637–669.
- Pedersen, S. A., Hansen, B. H., Altin, D., Olsen, A. J. (2013). Medium-term exposure of the North Atlantic copepod *Calanus finmarchicus* (Gunnerus, 1770) to CO2acidified seawater: effects on survival and development. *Biogeosci.* 10, 7481–7491.
- Pedersen, S.A., Våge, V.T., Olsen, A.J., Hammer, K.M., Altin, D. (2014). Effects of elevated carbon dioxide (CO₂) concentrations on early developmental stages of the marine copepod *Calanus finmarchicus* Gunnerus (Copepoda: Calanoidae). J. *Toxicol. Environ. Heal.* Part A 77, 535–549.
- Petitpas, C.M., Turner, J.T., Deeds, J.R., Keafer, B.A., McGillicuddy Jr., D.J., Milligan, P.J., Shue, V., White, K.D., Anderson, D.M. (2014). PSP toxin levels and plankton community composition and abundance in size-fractionated vertical profiles during spring/summer blooms of the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium fundyense* in the Gulf of Maine and on Georges Bank, 2007, 2008 and 2010: 2. Plankton community composition and abundance. *Deep-Sea Res. II Top Stud Oceanogr*. 103, 350-367.
- Philippart, C.J.M., Anadón, R., Danovaro, R., Dippner, J.W., Drinkwater, K.F., Hawkins, S.J., Oguz, T., O'Sullivan, G., Reid, P.C. (2011). Impacts of climate change on European marine ecosystems: Observations, expectations and indicators. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 400, 52-69.
- Pierson, J.J., Halsband-Lenk, C., Leising, A.W. (2005). Reproductive success of *Calanus pacificus* during diatom blooms in Dabob Bay, Washington. *Prog. Oceanogr.*, 67, 314-331.
- Planque, B., Hays, G.C., Ibanez, F., Gamble, J.C. (1997). Large scale spatial variations in the seasonal abundance of *Calanus finmarchicus*. *Deep-Sea Res. I* 44, 315–326.

- Pohnert, G., Steinke, M., Tollrian, R., (2007). Chemical Cues, defence metabolites and the shaping of pelagic interspecific interactions. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 22(4), 198-204.
- Pörtner, H. O. and Farrell, A. P. (2008). Physiology and climate change. Sci. 322, 690– 692.
- Poulet, S.A., Wichard, T., Ledoux, J.B., Lebreton, B., Marchetti, J., Dancie, C., Bonnet, D. Cueff, A., Morin, P., Pohnert, G. (2006). Influence of diatoms on copepod reproduction. I. Field and laboratory observations related to *Calanus helgolandicus* egg production. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 308, 129-142.
- Prevett, A., Lindström, J., Xu, J., Karlson, B., Selander, E. (2019). Grazer-induced bioluminescence gives dinoflagellates a competitive edge. *Current Biol*. 29(12), R564-R565.
- Pond, D., Harris, R., Head, R., Harbour, D. (1996). Environmental and nutritional factors determining seasonal variability in the fecundity and egg viability of *Calanus helgolandicus* in coastal waters off Plymouth, UK. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 143, 45–63.
- Poulet, S.A., Ianora, A., Miralto, A., Meijer, L., (1994). Do diatoms arrest embryonic development in copepods? *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 79–86.
- Prince, E.K., Lettieri, L., McCurdy, K.J., and Kubanek, J., (2006). Fitness consequences for copepods feeding on a red tide dinoflagellate: Deciphering the effects of nutritional value, toxicity, and feeding behavior. *Oecologia*. 147, 479–488.
- Prud'homme van Reine, W.F., (2017). Report of the nomenclature committee for algae: 15. *Taxon*, 66, 191-192.
- Reymond, C.E., Lloyd, A., Kline, D.I., Dove, S.G., Pandolfi, J.M., (2013). Decline in growth of foraminifer M arginopora rossi under eutrophication and ocean acidification scenarios. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 19, 291–302.
- Richardson, A.J., and Schoeman, D.S. (2004). Climate impact on plankton ecosystems in the Northeast Atlantic. *Sci.* 305(5690). 1609–1612.

- Richardson, A.J., (2008). In hot water: zooplankton and climate change. ICES *J. Mar. Sci.* 65, 279–295.
- Riebesell, U., Aberle-Malzahn, N., Achterberg, E.P., Algueró-Muñiz, M., Alvarez-Fernandez, S., Arístegui, J., Bach, L.T., Boersma, M., Boxhammer, T., Guan, W., Haunost, M., Horn, H.G., Löscher, C.R., Ludwig, A., Spisla, C., Sswat, M., Stange, P., Taucher, J. (2018). Toxic algal bloom induced by ocean acidification disrupts the pelagic food web. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 8, 1082–1086.
- Ringuette, M., Castonguay, M., Runge, J. A., Gregoire, F. (2002). Atlantic mackerel (*Scomber scombrus*) recruitment fluctuations in relation to copepod production and juvenile growth. *Canadian J. Fisheries and Aqua. Sci.*, 59(4), 646–656.
- Roemmich, D., and McGowan, J. (1995). Climatic warming and the decline of zooplankton in the California Current. *Sci.* 267, 1324–1326.
- Robineau, B., Gagné, J.A., Fortier, L., Cembella, A.D. (1991). Potential impact of a toxic dinoflagellate (*Alexandrium excavatum*) bloom on survival of fish and crustacean larvae. *Mar. Biol.* 108 (2), 293–301.
- Roncalli, V., Turner, J.T., Kulis, D., Anderson, D.M., Lenz, P.H. (2016). The effect of the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium fundyense* on the fitness of the calanoid copepod *Calanus finmarchicus*. *Harmful Algae* 51, 56-66.
- Runge, J.A. (1988). Should we expect a relationship between primary production and fisheries? The role of copepod dynamics as a filter of trophic variability. *Hydrobiologia*, 167-168, 61-71.
- Sainmont, J., Andersen, K. H., Varpe, O., Visser, A. W. (2014). Capital versus income breeding in a seasonal environment. *Am. nat.*, *184*(4), 466–476.
- Scholin, C.A., Herzog, M., Sogin, M., Anderson, D.M. (1994). Identification of group and strain-specific genetic markers for globally distributed *Alexandrium* (*Dinophyceae*). II. Sequence analysis of a fragment of the LSU rRNA gene. J. *Phycol.* 30, 999-1011.

- Seebens, H., Einsle, U., Straile, D. (2009) Copepod life cycle adap- tations and success in response to phytoplankton spring bloom phenology. *Global Change Biol.*, 15, 1394–1404.
- Selander, E., Thor, P., Toth, G., Pavia, H. (2006). Copepods induce paralytic shellfish toxin production in marine dinoflagellates. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 273, 1673–1680.
- Selander, E., Cervin, G., Pavia, H. (2008). Effects of nitrate and phosphate on grazerinduced Toxin Production in *Alexandrium minutum*. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 53 (2),5 23– 30.
- Selander, E., Kubanek, J., Hamberg, M., Andersson, M. X., Cervin, G., and Pavia, H. (2015). Predator lipids induce paralytic shellfish toxins in bloom-forming algae. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(20), 6395-6400.
- Selander, E., Berglund, E.C., Engström, P., Berggren, F., Eklund, J., Harðardóttir, S., Lundholm, N., Grebner, W., Andersson, M.X., (2019). Copepods drive large-scale trait-mediated effects in marine plankton. *Sci. Adv.* 5.
- Svensen, C. and Kiørboe, T. (2000). Remote prey detection in Oithona similis: hydromechanical versus chemical cues. *J. Plankton Res.* 22, 1155–1166.
- Smayda, T.J. (1997). Harmful algal blooms: their ecophysiology and general relevance to phytoplankton blooms in the sea. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 42, 1137–1153.
- Smayda, T.J. (2006). Scottish Executive Environment Group Harmful Algal Bloom Communities in Scottish Coastal Waters: Relationship to Fish Farming and Regional Comparisons – A Review February 2006, no. February:224.
- Sopanen, S., Setälä, O., Piiparinen, J., Erler, K., Kremp, A. (2011). The toxic dinoflagellate Alexandrium ostenfeldii promotes incapacitation of the calanoid copepods Eurytemora affinis and Acartia bifilosa from the northern Baltic Sea. J. Plankton Res. 33, 1564–1573.

- Sommer, U., Aberle, N., Engel, A., Hansen, T., Lengfellner, K., Sandow, M., Wohlers, J., Zöllner, E., Riebesell, U. (2007). An indoor mesocosm system to study the effect of climate change on the late winter and spring succession of Baltic Sea phyto- and zooplankton. *Oecologia*.150(4), 655-67.
- Sommer, U. (2009). Copepod growth and diatoms: insensitivity of *Acartia tonsa* to the composition of semi-natural plankton mixtures manipulated by silicon:nitrogen ratios in mesocosms. *Oecologia*, 159, 207-215.
- Sommer, U., Peter, K. H., Genitsaris, S., Moustaka-Gouni, M. (2016). Do marine phytoplankton follow Bergmann's rule sensu lato? *Biol. Rev Cambridge Philosophical Soc.* 92(2), 1011–1026.
- Søgaard, D.H., Sorrell, B.K., Sejr, M.K. Andersen, P., Rysgaard, S., Hansen, P.J., Skyttä, A., Lemcke, S., Lund-Hansen, L.C. (2021). An under-ice bloom of mixotrophic haptophytes in low nutrient and freshwater-influenced Arctic waters. *Sci Rep* 11, 2915.
- Spyrakos, E., Frango´ pulos, M., Barreiro, A., Guisande, C. (2013). Modelling paralytic shellfish toxins (PSTs) transfer and accumulation in populations of two planktonic grazers. *Harmful Algae* 26, 60–70.
- Steen, H., Vogedes, D., Broms, F., Falk-Petersen, S., Berge, J., (2007). Little auks (Alle alle) breeding in a High Arctic fjord system: bimodal foraging strategies as a response to poor food quality? *Polar Res.* 26, 118–125.
- Steinberg, D.K., Goldthwait, S.A., Hansell, D.A., (2002). Zooplankton vertical migration and the active transport of dissolved organic and inorganic nitrogen in the Sargasso Sea. *Deep Sea Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res.* Pap. 49, 1445–1461.
- Steinberg, D.K., and Landry, M.R. (2017). Zooplankton and the ocean carbon cycle. *Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci.* 9 (1), 413–44.
- Stonik, I. V, Orlova, T.Y., Lundholm, N. (2011). Diversity of *Pseudo-nitzschia* H. Peragallo from the western North Pacific. *Diatom Res.* 26, 121–134.

- StÖhr, S., Schulz, K., John, H.C. (1996). Population structure and reproduction of *Calanus helgolandicus* (Copepoda Calanoida) along the Iberian and Moroccan slope. *Helgolander Meeresunters*, 50, 457–475.
- Støttrup, J.G., Richardson, K., Kirkegaard, E., Pihl N.J. (1986). The cultivation of *Acartia tonsa* Dana for use as live food source for marine fish larvae. *Aquaculture* 52, 87–96.
- Swan, S.C, and K. Davidson. (2012). Monitoring programme for the presence of toxin production plankton in shellfish production areas in Scotland. Scotland, UK.
- Tammilehto, A., Nielsen, T.G., Krock, B., Møller, E.F., Lundholm, N., (2012). Calanus spp.-Vectors for the biotoxin, domoic acid, in the Arctic marine ecosystem? Harmful Algae 20, 165–174.
- Taroncher-Oldenburg, G., Kulis, D.M., Anderson, D.M. (1997). Toxin variability during the cell cycle of the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium fundyense*. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 42, 1178–1188.
- Teegarden, G.J., and Cembella, A.D. (1996). Grazing of toxic dinoflagellates, *Alexandrium* spp., by adult copepods of coastal Maine: Implications for the fate of paralytic shellfish toxins in marine food webs. *J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol.* 196, 145–176.
- Teegarden, G.J. (1999). Copepod grazing selection and particle discrimination on the basis of PSP toxin content. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 181, 163–176.
- Teegarden, G.J., Campbell, R.G., Durbin, E.G. (2001). Zooplankton feeding behavior and particle selection in natural plankton assemblages containing toxic *Alexandrium* spp. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 218, 213–226.
- Teegarden, G.J., Cembella, A.D., Capuano, C.L., Barron, S.H., Durbin, E.G., (2003). Phycotoxin accumulation in zooplankton feeding on *Alexandrium fundyense– vector* or sink? *J. Plankton Res.* 25, 429–443.

- Teegarden, G.J., Campbell, R.G., Anson, D.T., Ouellett, A., Westman, B.A., Durbin, E.G. (2008). Copepod feeding response to varying *Alexandrium* spp. cellular toxicity and cell concentration among natural plankton samples. *Harmful Algae* 7, 33–44.
- Tester, P.A., Steidinger, K.A., (1997). *Gymnodinium breve* red tide blooms: Initiation, transport, and consequences of surface circulation. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 42, 1039– 1051.
- Tester, P.A., Turner, J.T., Shea, D., (2000). Vectorial transport of toxins from the dinoflagellate *Gymnodinium breve* through copepods to fish. J. Plankton Res. 22, 47–61.
- Thackeray, S. J., Jones, I. D., Maberly, S. C. (2008) Long-term change in the phenology of spring phytoplankton: species-specific responses to nutrient enrichment and climatic change. *J. Ecol.* 96, 523–535.
- Thackeray, S. J. (2012). Mismatch revisited: What is trophic mismatching from the perspective of the plankton? *J. Plankton Res.* 34(12), 1001–1010.
- Thackeray, S.J., Henrys, P.A., Hemming, D., Bell, J.R., Botham, M.S., Burthe, S.,
 Helaouet, P., Johns, D.G., Jones, I.D., Leech, D.I., Mackay, E.B., Massimino, D.,
 Atkinson, S., Bacon, P.J., Brereton, T.M., Carvalho, L., Clutton-Brock, T.H., Duck,
 C., Edwards, M., Elliott, J.M., Hall, S.J.G., Harrington, R., Pearce-Higgins, J.W.,
 Høye, T.T., Kruuk, L.E.B., Pemberton, J.M., Sparks, T.H., Thompson, P.M.,
 White, I., Winfield, I.J., Wanless, S. (2016). Phenological sensitivity to climate
 across taxa and trophic levels. *Nature*. 535, 241–245.
- Thomas, M. K., Kremer, C. T., Klausmeier, C. A. & Litchman, E. (2012). A global pattern of thermal adaptation in marine phytoplankton. *Sci.* 338, 1085–1088.
- Thor, P., and Oliva, E.O. (2015). Ocean acidification elicits different energetic responses in an Arctic and a boreal population of the copepod *Pseudocalanus acuspes*. *Mar. Biol.* 162, 799–807.

- Tillmann, U., and John, U. (2002). Toxic effects of *Alexandrium* spp. on heterotrophic dinoflagellates: an allelochemical defence mechanism independent of PSP toxin content. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 230, 47–58.
- Tillmann, U., Alpermann, T., John, U., Cembella, A. (2008). Allelochemical interactions and short-term effects of the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium* on selected photoautotrophic and heterotrophic protists. *Harmful Algae*. 7, 52–64.
- Trainer, V.L., Bates, S.S., Lundholm, N., Thessen, A.E., Cochlan, W.P., Adams, N.G., Trick, C.G. (2012). *Pseudo-nitzschia* physiological ecology, phylogeny, toxicity, monitoring and impacts on ecosystem health. *Harmful Algae*. 14, 271–300.
- Turner, A.D., Stubbs, B., Coates, L., Dhanji-Rapkova, M., Hatfield, R.G., Lewis, A.G., Rowland-Pilgrim, S., O'Neill, A., Stubbs, P., Ross, S., Baker, C., and Algoet, M. (2014). Variability of paralytic shellfish toxin occurrence and profiles in bivalve molluscs from Great Britain from official control monitoring as determined by precolumn oxidation liquid chromatography and implications for applying immunochemical tests. *Harmful Algae*. 31, 87-99.
- Turner, A.D., McNabb, P.S., Harwood, D.T., Selwood, A.I., Boundy, M.J. (2015). Singlelaboratory validation of a multitoxin ultra-performance LC-hydrophilic interaction LC-MS/MS method for quantitation of paralytic shellfish toxins in bivalve shellfish. J. AOAC International. 98, 609-621.
- Turner, A.D., Dhanji-Rapkova, M., Fong, S.Y.T., Hungerford, J., McNabb, P.S., Boundy, M.J., and Harwood, D.T. (2019). Ultra-high performance hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry method for the determination of paralytic shellfish toxins and tetrodotoxin in mussels, oysters, cockles and scallops: collaborative study. J. AOAC International. 103, 1-35.
- Turner, J.T., and Anderson, D.M. (1983). Zooplankton grazing during dinoflagellate blooms in a Cape Cod embayment, with observations of predation upon tintinnids by copepods. *Mar. Ecol.* 4, 359–374.
- Turner, J.T., and Tester, P.A. (1989). Zooplankton feeding ecology: copepod grazing during an expatriate red tide. *Coast. Estuar. Stud.* 359–374.

- Turner J.T., and Tester P.A., (1997). Toxic marine phytoplankton, zooplankton grazers, and pelagic food webs. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 42, 1203–1214.
- Turner, J.T., Hopcroft, R.R., Lincoln, J.A., Huestis, C.S., Tester, P.A., Roff, J.C. (1998). Zooplankton feeding ecology: Grazing by marine copepods and cladocerans upon phytoplankton and cyanobacteria from Kingston Harbour, Jamaica. *Mar. Ecol. Della Stn. Zool. Di Napoli* I 19, 195–208.
- Turner, J.T., Doucette, G.J., Powell, C.L., Kulis, D.M., Keafer, B.A., Anderson, D.M. (2000). Accumulation of red tide toxins in larger size fractions of zooplankton assemblages from Massachusetts Bay, USA. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 203, 95–107.
- Turner, J.T., Ianora, A., Miralto, A., Laabir, M., Esposito, F. (2001). Decoupling of copepod grazing rates, fecundity and egg hatching success on mixed and alternating diatom and dinoflagellate diets. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 220, 187–199.
- Turner, J.T., Doucette, G.J., Keafer, B.A., and Anderson, D.M., (2005). ECOHAB-Gulf of Maine. Trophic accumulation of PSP toxins in zooplankton during *Alexandrium fundyense* blooms in Casco Bay, Gulf of Maine, April-June 1998. II. Zooplankton abundance and size-fractionated community composition. *Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 52, 2784–2800.
- Turner, J.T., and Borkman, D.G., (2005). Impact of zooplankton grazing on Alexandrium blooms in the offshore Gulf of Maine. Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 52, 2801–2816.
- Turner, J.T. (2010). Zooplankton community grazing impact on a bloom of *Alexandrium fundyense* in the Gulf of Maine. *Harmful Algae* 9, 578–589.
- Turner, J.T., Roncalli, V., Ciminiello P., Aversano C., Fattorusso E., Tartaglione L., Carotenuto Y. (2012). Biogeographic effects of the Gulf of Mexico ted tide dinoflagellate *Karenia brevis* on mediterranean copepods. *Harmful Algae* 16, 63– 73.

- Turner, J.T., (2014). Planktonic marine copepods and harmful algae. *Harmful Algae* 32, 81–93.
- Turner, J.T. (2015). Zooplankton fecal pellets, marine snow, phytodetritus and the ocean's biological pump. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 130, 205–248.
- Turriff, N., Runge, J.A., and Cembella, A.D. (1995). Toxin accumulation and feeding behaviour of the planktonic copepod *Calanus finmarchicus* exposed to the red-tide dinoflagellate *Alexandrium excavatum*. *Mar. Biol.* 123, 55-64.
- Uye, S. (1996). Induction of reproductive failure in the planktonic copepod *Calanus pacificus* by diatoms. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 133, 89–97.
- Van de Riet, J., Gibbs, R.S., Muggah, P.M., Rourke, W.A., MacNeil, J.D., Quilliam, M.A. (2011). Liquid chromatography post-column oxidation (PCOX) method for the determination of paralytic shellfish toxins in mussels, clams, oysters, and scallops: collaborative study. J AOAC Int. 94(4), 1154-76.
- Vehmaa, A., Brutemark, A., Engström-Öst, J. (2012). Maternal effects may act as an adaptation mechanism for copepods facing pH and temperature changes. *PLoS One* 7, e48538.
- Waggett, R.J., Hardison, D.R., Tester, P.A. (2012). Toxicity and nutritional inadequacy of *Karenia brevis*: Synergistic mechanisms disrupt top-down grazer control. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 444, 15–30.
- Wang, D.-Z. (2008). Neurotoxins from marine dinoflagellates: a brief review. Mar. Drugs 6, 349–371.
- Wang, H., Kim, H., Ki, J.S. (2021). Preliminary result of de novo transcriptome sequencing of the marine toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium catenella* incubated under several different stresses. *Mar Biol.* 168, 104.
- Weizmann Institute of Science. (2017) Genomic recycling: Ancestral genes take on new roles: How some genes lost the ability to make proteins -- and gained regulatory

powers. ScienceDaily. ScienceDaily, 18 September 2017. www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2017/09/170918111827.htm.

- Wells, M.L., Trainer, V.L., Smayda, T.J., Karlson, B.S.O., Trick, C.G., Kudela, R.M., Ishikawa, A., Bernard, S., Wulff, A., Anderson, D.M., Cochlan, W.P. (2015).
 Harmful algal blooms and climate change: Learning from the past and present to forecast the future. *Harmful Algae*. 49, 68–93.
- Wells, M.L., Karlson, B., Wulff, A., Kudela, R., Trick, C., Asnaghi, V., Berdalet, E., Cochlan, W., Davidson, K., De Rijcke, M., Dutkiewicz, S., Hallegraeff, G., Flynn, K.J., Legrand, C., Paerl, H., Silke, J., Suikkanen, S., Thompson, P., Trainer, V.L., (2020). Future HAB science: Directions and challenges in a changing climate. *Harmful Algae*. 91, 101632.
- Wexels Riser, C., Jansen, S., Bathmann, U., Wassmann P. (2003). Grazing of *Calanus helgolandicus* on *Dinophysis norvegica* during bloom conditions in the North Sea: evidence from investigations of faecal pellets. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 256, 301–304.
- Weydmann, A., Søreide, J., Kwasniewski, S., Widdicombe, S. (2012). Influence of CO₂ induced acidification on the reproduction of a key Arctic copepod *Calanus glacialis*. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 428, 39–42.
- Williams, R., and Conway, D.V.P. (1988). Vertical distribution and seasonal numerical abundance of the calanidae in oceanic waters to the south-west of the British Isles. *Hydrobiologia*, 167/168, 259–266.
- Wiltshire, K.H., Malzahn, A.M., Wirtz, K., Greve, W., Janisch, S., Mangelsdorf, P., Manly, B.F.J., Boersma, M., 2008. Resilience of North Sea phytoplankton spring bloom dynamics: An analysis of long-term data at Helgoland Roads. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 53, 1294–1302.
- Winder, M. and Schindler, D. E. (2004) Climate change uncouples trophic interactions in an aquatic ecosystem. *Ecol.*, 85, 2100–2106.

- Wohlrab, S., Iversen, M.H., John, U. (2010). A molecular and co-evolutionary context for grazer induced toxin production in *Alexandrium tamarense*. *PLoS One* 5(11), e15039.
- Wold, A., Jæger, I., Hop, H., Gabrielsen, G.W., Falk-Petersen, S. (2011). Arctic seabird food chains explored by fatty acid composition and stable isotopes in Kongsfjorden, Svalbard. *Polar Biol.* 34, 1147–1155.
- Xu, J., and Kiørboe, T. (2018). Toxic dinoflagellates produce true grazer deterrents. *Ecol.* 99(10), 2240-2249.
- Xu, J., Nielsen, L. T., Kiørboe, T. (2018). Foraging response and acclimation of ambush feeding and feeding-current feeding copepods to toxic dinoflagellates. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 63, 1449-1461.
- Yasumoto, T. and Murata., M. (1993). Marine toxins. *Chemical Reviews* 93 (5), 1897–1909.
- Zhang, D., Li, S., Wang, G., Guo, D. (2011). Impacts of CO₂-driven seawater acidification on survival, egg production rate and hatching success of four marine copepods. *Acta Oceanol. Sin.* 30, 86–94.
- Zheng, Y., Dam, H.G., and Avery, D.E. (2011). Differential responses of populations of the copepod Acartia hudsonica to toxic and nutritionally insufficient food algae. *Harmful Algae* 10, 723–731.
- Zingone, A., Escalera, L., Aligizaki, K., Fernández-Tejedor, M., Ismael, A., Montresor, M., Mozetič, P., Taş, S., Totti, C. (2021). Toxic marine microalgae and noxious blooms in the Mediterranean Sea: A contribution to the Global HAB Status Report. *Harmful Algae*. 102, 101843.